
 

Date of meeting 
 

Tuesday, 24th February, 2015  

Time 
 

7.00 pm  

Venue 
 

Council Chamber, Civic Offices, Merrial Street, 
Newcastle-under-Lyme, Staffordshire, ST5 2AG 

 

Contact Geoff Durham 

 

   
  

 
 

Public Protection Committee 

 

AGENDA 

 

PART 1 – OPEN AGENDA 

 

1 Guidance Notes (for information)   (Pages 3 - 18) 

2 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST    

 To receive declarations of interest from Members on items included in this agenda. 
 

3 MINUTES OF A PREVIOUS MEETING   (Pages 19 - 22) 

 To consider the minutes of the meeting of this Committee held on 26 January, 2014. 
 

4 DISCLOSURE OF EXEMPT INFORMATION    

 To resolve that the public be excluded from the meeting during consideration of the 
attached report, because it is likely that there will be disclosure of exempt information as 
defined in paragraphs 1, 2 and 7 in Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 
1972. 
 

5 LOCAL GOVERNMENT (MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS) ACT - 
1976   

(Pages 23 - 54) 

 Private Hire Driver – Mr AA 
 

6 Open Reports from officers    

7 Taxi Policy following consultation   (Pages 55 - 184) 

8 Allotment Provision in the Parish of Silverdale   (Pages 185 - 200) 

9 WORK PLAN   (Pages 201 - 202) 

 To consider items to be included in the Work Plan 
 

10 URGENT BUSINESS    

 To consider any business which is urgent within the meaning of Section 100(B)4 of the 
Local Government Act. 
 

 
Members: Councillors Bailey, Mrs Braithwaite, Eastwood, Hailstones, Mrs Hailstones, 

Public Document Pack



Matthews, Naylon, Miss Olszewski, Proctor (Vice-Chair), Robinson (Chair), 
Miss Walklate, Williams and Mrs Williams 
 

PLEASE NOTE: The Council Chamber and Committee Room 1 are fitted with a loop system.  In addition, 
there is a volume button on the base of the microphones.  A portable loop system is available for all 
other rooms.  Should you require this service, please contact Member Services during the afternoon 
prior to the meeting. 
 
Members of the Council: If you identify any personal training/development requirements from any of  the 
items included in this agenda or through issues raised during the meeting, please bring them to the 
attention of the Democratic Services Officer at the close of the meeting. 

 
Meeting Quorums :- 16+= 5 Members; 10-15=4 Members; 5-9=3 Members; 5 or less = 2 Members. 

 
Officers will be in attendance prior to the meeting for informal discussions on agenda items. 



GUIDANCE NOTES 

 
 
NATURAL JUSTICE AND FAIRNESS 

 
These are the principles used in the determination of just or fair processes and stem form 
the common law legal system. 
 
According to Roman law, certain basic legal principles were so obvious that they should be 
applied universally without the need to be enacted into the law. 
 
The rules of natural justice are now regularly applied by courts in both common law and civil 
law jurisdictions. 
 
Natural justice operates on the principles that man is basically good, that a person of good 
intent should not be harmed and one should treat others as they would like to be treated. 
 
Natural justice includes the notion of procedural fairness and may incorporate the following 
guidelines:- 
 

• A person accused of a crime, or at risk of some form of loss, should be given 
adequate notice about the proceedings (including any charges); 

 

• A person making a decision should declare any personal interest they may have in 
the proceedings; 

 

• A person who makes a decision should be unbiased and act in good faith.  He 
therefore cannot be one of the parties in the case, or have an interest in the outcome.  
This is expressed in the Latin maxim, nemo iudex in causa sua: “no man in permitted 
to be judge in his own cause”; 

 

• Proceedings should be conducted so they are fair to all the parties – expressed in the 
Latin maxim, audi alteram : “let the other side be heard”; 

 

• Each party to a proceeding is entitled to ask questions and contradict the evidence of 
the opposing party; 

 

• A decision-maker should take into account relevant considerations and extenuating 
circumstances, and ignore irrelevant considerations; 

 

• Justice should be seen to be done.  If the community is satisfied that justice has been 
done they will continue to place their faith in the courts. 

 
Where a person’s legal rights are concerned, the principles of natural justice are bolstered 
by Article 6 of the European Convention on Human Rights which is now incorporated into 
domestic law. 
 
THE RULE AGAINST BIAS 

 
It is elementary to the rules of natural justice that the deciding body is to be free from bias. 
 
The rule is that the body must be and be seen to be impartial, independent and 
disinterested. 
 

Page 3

Agenda Item 1



There are two broad categories of bias: 
 
(a) Actual Bias: when the decision-maker has an economic interest in the outcome of 

the case (also known as a material or pecuniary interest) subject to the De Minimum 
doctrine; 

 
(b) Reasonable Apprehension: unbiased appearance is an essential part of procedural 

fairness.  The test is whether, having regard to the circumstances, a well informed 
person (“reasonably informed bystander”) would consider that the interest might have 
an influence on the exercise of the decision-maker’s duties. 

 
 
 

 

Page 4



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\3\2\5\AI00008523\$12cqurkg.doc 

GUIDANCE NOTES 

 
HUMAN RIGHTS ACT 1998 
 
In addition to the Rules of Natural Justice, you must also have regard to the provisions of the 
Human Rights Act 1998. 
 
Rights and Freedoms to be considered when determining matters 
 
ARTICLE 6: RIGHT TO A FAIR TRIAL 
 
1. In the determination of his civil rights and obligations or of any criminal charge against 

him, everyone is entitled to a fair and public hearing within a reasonable time by an 
independent and impartial tribunal established by law.  Judgement shall be pronounced 
publicly, but the press and public may be excluded from all or part of the trial in the 
interest of morals, public order or national security in a democratic society, where the 
interests of juveniles or the protection of the private life of the parties so require, or to the 
extent strictly necessary in the opinion of the court in special circumstances where 
publicity would prejudice the interests of justice. 

2. Everyone charged with a criminal offence shall be presumed innocent until proved guilty 
according to law. 

3. Everyone charged with a criminal offence has the following minimum rights: 

(a) to be informed promptly, in a language which he understands and in detail, of the 
nature and cause of the accusation against him; 

(b) to have adequate time and facilities for the preparation of his defence; 

(c) to defend himself in person or through legal assistance of his own choosing or, if he 
has not sufficient means, to pay for legal assistance, to be given it free when the 
interests of justice so require; 

(d) to examine or have examined witnesses against him and to obtain the attendance 
and examination of witnesses on his behalf under the same conditions as witnesses 
against him; 

(e) to have the free assistance of an interpreter if he cannot understand or speak the 
language used in court. 

 
ARTICLE 8: RIGHT TO RESPECT FOR PRIVATE AND FAMILY LIFE 
 
1. Everyone has the right to respect for his private and family life, his home and his 

correspondence. 

2. There shall be no interference by a public authority with the exercise of this right except 
such as is in accordance with the law and is necessary in a democratic society in the 
interests of national security, public safety or the economic well being of the country, for 
the prevention of disorder or crime, for the protection of health or morals, or for the 
protection of the rights and freedoms of others. 

 
ARTICLE 10: FREEDOM OF EXPRESSION 
 
1. Everyone has the right to freedom of expression.  This rights shall include freedom to hold 

opinions and to receive and impart information and ideas without interference by public 
authority and regardless of frontiers.  This Article shall not prevent States from requiring 
the licensing of broadcasting, television or cinema enterprises. 

Page 5



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\3\2\5\AI00008523\$12cqurkg.doc 

2. The exercise of these freedoms, since it carries with it duties and responsibilities, may be 
subject to such formalities, conditions, restrictions or penalties as are prescribed by law 
and are necessary in a democratic society, in the interests of national security, territorial 
integrity or public safety, for the prevention of disorder or crime, for the protection of 
health or morals, for the protection of the reputation or rights of others, for preventing the 
disclosure of information received in confidence, or for maintaining the authority and 
impartiality of the judiciary. 

 
ARTICLE 14: PROHIBITION OF DISCRIMINATION 
 
The enjoyment of the rights and freedoms set fourth in this Convention shall be secured without 
discrimination on any ground such as sex, race, colour, language, religion, political or other 
opinion, national or social origin, association with a national minority, property, birth or other 
status. 
 
NB This is not a substantive right, but comes into play if other rights are likely to have been 

infringed.  The prohibition is wide, but not exhaustive 
 
ARTICLE 1: OF THE FIRST PROTOCOL PROTECTION OF PROPERTY 
 
Every natural or legal person is entitled to the peaceful enjoyment of his possessions.  No one 
shall be deprived of his possessions except in the public interest and subject to the conditions 
provided for by law and by the general principles of international law. 
 
The preceding provisions shall not, however, in any way impair the right of a State to enforce 
such laws as it deems necessary to control the use of property in accordance with the general 
interest or to secure the payment of taxes or other contributions or penalties. 
 
NOTE Possessions, in this context, includes the right to apply for a licence, the right to 

hold and retain a licence, the goodwill of a business and liquor licences. 
 

Page 6



leged/ph&hackney/convictionguidelines 1 

 
 
 

GUIDELINES RELATING TO THE RELEVANCE OF CONVICTIONS FOR APPLICANTS 
FOR THE GRANT AND RENEWAL OF LICENCES TO DRIVE HACKNEY CARRIAGES 

AND PRIVATE HIRE VEHICLES 
 
 
GENERAL POLICY 
 
1. Each case will be decided on its own merits 
 
2. The Council will, as far as is possible, ensure that all persons holding a licence to 

drive Hackney Carriages or private hire vehicles are fit and proper persons.  In doing 
so, the Council will take into account previous convictions including, where relevant, 
‘spent’ convictions. 

 
3. The Council will always put the protection of the public first when considering the 

relevance of convictions recorded against an applicant for a licence. 
 
4. A person with a conviction for serious crime need not be permanently barred from 

obtaining a licence but will be expected to remain free of conviction for an 
appropriate period, before an application is considered.  However, remaining free of 
conviction for a specified period may not be sufficient to show that a person is fit and 
proper and additional evidence may be required. 

 
5. There may be occasions where it is appropriate to depart from the guidelines when 

making a decision on an application.  For example, where the offence is a one-off 
and there are mitigating circumstances or alternately, where there are many or 
continuous offences which may show a pattern of offending and unfitness. 

 
6. The following examples give a general guide as to the action that might be taken 

where convictions are recorded against an applicant. 
 

(a) Dishonesty 
 
Members of the public using Hackney Carriages and private hire vehicles 
expect the driver to be honest and trustworthy.  It would be easy for a 
dishonest driver to take advantage of the public. 
 
For these reasons, a serious view will be taken of any conviction involving 
dishonesty.  In general, if an application is made within the first 3 to 5 years 
from the date of a conviction or from the date of release from jail where a 
custodial sentence has been imposed, it is likely that it will be refused. 
 
Where an application is made within the first three years since the conviction 
or the date of release from jail, where a custodial sentence has been 

Page 7



leged/ph&hackney/convictionguidelines 2 

imposed, for any of the following offences, the application will normally be 
refused:- 
 

• Theft 

• Burglary 

• Fraud 

• Benefit fraud (including offences under ss11A and 112 of the Social 
Security Administration Act 1992 

• Blackmail 

• Handling or receiving stolen goods 

• Forgery 

• Conspiracy to defraud 

• Obtaining money or property by deception 

• Other deception 

• Or similar offences to those above which may replace any of the 
above offences 

 
When a period of three years from conviction or the date of release from jail, 
where a custodial sentence has been imposed has passed, consideration will 
be given to the circumstances of the offence and any evidence to show that 
an applicant is a fit and proper person to hold a licence. 
 

(b) Violence 
 
As Hackney Carriage and private hire vehicle drivers maintain close contact 
with the public, a firm line will be taken with applicants who have convictions 
for violence.  Where the commission of an offence involves loss of life, a 
licence will normally be refused.  In other cases, a period of three to ten years 
free of conviction from the date of conviction or the date of release from jail, 
where a custodial sentence has been imposed will generally be required 
before an application is likely to be considered favourably.  The nature and 
seriousness of the offence(s) will be taken into consideration. 
 
In particular:- 
 
(i) An application will normally be refused where the applicant has a 

conviction for an offence of:- 
 

• Murder 

• Manslaughter 

• Manslaughter or culpable homicide while driving 

• Or similar offence or offences which replace the above 
offences 

 
(ii) An application will normally be refused for a period of five years from 

the date of the conviction or the date of release from jail, where a 
custodial sentence has been imposed if the applicant has a conviction 
for:- 
 

• Arson 

• Malicious wounding or grievous bodily harm which is racially 
aggravated 

• Assault occasioning actual bodily harm which is racially 
aggravated 

Page 8



leged/ph&hackney/convictionguidelines 3 

• Assault with intent to cause grievous bodily harm 

• Assaulting a police office in the execution of his duties 

• Malicious wounding 

• Robbery 

• Racially aggravated criminal damage 

• Racially aggravated fear or provocation of violence 

• Racially aggravated intentional harassment, alarm or distress 

• Racially aggravated harassment 

• Racially aggravated putting people in fear of violence 

• Riot 

• Possession of an offensive weapon 

• Possession of a firearm 

• Violent disorder 

• Or any arrestable offence involving violence (an arrestable 
offence is defined as an offence committed by a person of age 
21 years or over and on conviction for the first offence may be 
sentenced to a term of imprisonment of five years or where the 
penalty is fixed by law) 

 
(iii) An application will normally be refused for a period of three years from 

the date of conviction or the date of release from jail, where a 
custodial sentence has been imposed, where the applicant has a 
conviction for:- 
 

• Common assault 

• Racially aggravated common assault 

• Assault occasioning actual bodily harm 

• Affray 

• Racially aggravated harassment, alarm or distress 

• Resisting arrest 

• Obstructing a police officer in the execution of his duty 

• Criminal damage 

• Any similar offence or offences which replace the above 
offences 

 
(c) Drugs 

 
An application will normally be refused if an applicant has a conviction for an 
offence that relates to the supply or importation of drugs and the date of the 
conviction or the date of release from jail, where a custodial sentence has 
been imposed, is less than five to ten years before the date of the application.  
However, after five years from the date of such a conviction or the date of 
release from jail, where a custodial sentence has been imposed, the 
circumstances of the offence and any evidence which shows that a person is 
now a fit and proper person to hold a licence will be taken into consideration. 
 
An application will normally be refused where the application is made within 
three to five years from the date of a conviction or the date of release from 
jail, where a custodial sentence has been imposed for an offence relating to 
the possession of drugs.  However, after a period of three years from the date 
of such a conviction or the date of release from jail, where a custodial 
sentence has been imposed, consideration will be given to the circumstances 

Page 9



leged/ph&hackney/convictionguidelines 4 

of the offence and any evidence to show that an applicant is a fit and proper 
person to hold a licence. 
 
An application will normally be refused where an applicant has more that one 
conviction for offences related to the possession of drugs and the last 
conviction or the date of release from jail, where a custodial sentence has 
been imposed, is less than five years before the date of the application. 
 
Where evidence is available that an applicant who has convictions for drug 
related offences has been addicted to drugs, they will have to produce 
evidence that shows that they have been free of drug taking for at least five 
years after successfully completing a drug treatment programme. 
 

(d) Sexual and Indecency Offences  
 
As the driver of Hackney Carriages and private hire vehicles often carry 
passengers who are alone, or may be vulnerable, applicants who have 
convictions for rape. indecent assault, any sexual offence involving children 
and any conviction for an offence under the Sexual Offences Act 2003 will 
normally be refused a licence. 
 
Where an applicant has a conviction for a sexual offence such as indecent 
exposure, they will normally be refused a licence until they can show a 
substantial period usually between five and ten years free of any such 
convictions from the date of conviction or the date of release from jail where a 
custodial sentence has been imposed before an application is made. 
 
After a period of five years from the date of a conviction or the date of release 
from jail, where a custodial sentence has been imposed, consideration will be 
given to the circumstances of the offence and any evidence to show that an 
applicant is a fit and proper person to hold a licence. 
 
When considering applications, the Council may take into account any 
information of a sexual nature which does not amount to a criminal offence 
that is brought to its attention where that information may indicate that an 
applicant may not be a fit and proper person to hold a licence. 
 

(e) Motoring Convictions 
 
(i) Disqualification 

 
Where an applicant had been disqualified from driving by the Courts 
for a serious traffic offence under Category ‘A’ of Annex (i), an 
application will generally be refused unless a period of five years free 
of conviction has passed since the return of the DVLA licence. 
 
Where an applicant has been disqualified from driving by the Courts 
for a serious traffic offence under Category ‘B’ of Annex (i), an 
application will generally be refused unless a period of five years free 
of conviction has passed since the return of the DVLA licence unless 
the offence was an isolated one, in which case, a period of not less 
than 2 years shall have passed. 
 
Where a disqualification is imposed by a court in a ‘totting-up’ case, 
i.e. where an applicant has been disqualified because of several 

Page 10



leged/ph&hackney/convictionguidelines 5 

driving offences, an application will generally be refused unless a 
period of one year free of conviction has elapsed since the return of 
the DVLA driver licence. 
 
In ‘totting-up’ cases where a court does not impose a disqualification 
because of exceptional circumstances, then because the Council 
apply different criteria to the courts, an application will generally be 
refused unless an applicant can show a period of 1 year free of 
conviction from the date of the last court appearance. 
 

(ii) Serious Traffic Offences 
 
Where an applicant has a conviction for a serious traffic offence in 
Category ‘A’ Annex (i) and a period of disqualification has not been 
imposed by the courts, an application will normally be refused where 
an application is made in the last five years following the date of the 
last conviction. 
 
Where an applicant has a conviction for a serious traffic offence in 
Category ‘B’ Annex (i) and a period of disqualification has not been 
imposed by the courts, an application will normally be refused where 
an application is made in the last five years following the date of the 
last conviction unless the offence was an isolated one. 
 
Where an applicant has had more than one conviction for a serious 
traffic offence in either Category ‘A’ or ‘B’ of Annex (i) and the courts 
have not imposed a period of disqualification, an application will 
normally be refused where an application is made in five years 
following the date of the last conviction. 
 

(iii) Other Traffic Offences 
 
Normally, isolated convictions for other traffic offences should not 
prevent someone obtaining a licence.  However, the number, type and 
the frequency of these types of offence will be taken into account.  If 
there are several convictions for these types of offence, an applicant 
will normally be expected not to have been convicted of an offence in 
the six months before an application is made. 
 
A list of relevant offences is shown at Annex (ii).  However, this is not 
an exhaustive list and there may be other offences which may be 
relevant. 
 

(f) Offences Under the Town Police Clauses Acts and Part II of the Local 
Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 and any Hackney 
Carriage Byelaws (The Acts) 
 
One of the main purposes of the licensing regime set out in ‘The Acts’ is to 
ensure the protection of the public.  For this reason, a serious view will be 
taken of convictions for offences under the legislation, particularly offences of 
illegal plying for hire, when deciding if a person is a fit and proper person to 
hold a licence. 
 

Page 11



leged/ph&hackney/convictionguidelines 6 

In particular, an application will normally be refused where an applicant has 
more than one conviction for an offence under ‘The Acts’ in the two years 
preceding the date of the application. 
 

(g) Drunkenness 
 
(i) In a Motor Vehicle 

 
The manner in which drunkenness in a motor vehicle will be dealt with 
is outlined in Motoring Offences at paragraph ‘e’ of these guidelines. 
 

(ii) Not in a Motor Vehicle 
 
Where an applicant has an isolated conviction for drunkenness, this 
need not stop an applicant from getting a licence.  In some cases, a 
warning may be appropriate.  However, where an applicant has a 
number of convictions for drunkenness, it could indicate a medical 
problem, which would require further investigation including a medical 
examination and the possible refusal of a licence. 
 

(h) Spent Convictions 
 
The Council will only take ‘Spent Convictions’ into consideration if it is 
considered they are relevant to the application. 
 

(i) Formal Cautions and Fixed Penalty Notices 
 
For the purposes of these guidelines, the Council will treat Formal Cautions 
issued in accordance with Home Office guidance and fixed penalty notices as 
though they were a conviction before the courts. 
 
 
 

Page 12



leged/ph&hackney/convictionguidelines 7 

ANNEX (i) 
 

SERIOUS TRAFFIC OFFENCES 
 
 

CATEGORY ‘A’ 

Offence Code Offence 

 Careless Driving 

CD40 Causing death through careless driving when unfit through drink 

CD50 Causing death through careless driving when unfit through drugs 

CD60 Causing death through careless driving with alcohol level above the limit 

CD70 Causing death through careless driving then failing to supply a specimen 
for analysis 

  

 Reckless/Dangerous Driving 

DD40 Dangerous driving 

DD60 Manslaughter or culpable homicide while driving a vehicle 

DD80 Causing death by dangerous driving 

  

 Miscellaneous Offences 

MS50 Motor racing on a highway 

  

 Theft and Unauthorised Taking 

UT50 Aggravated taking of a vehicle 

  

 
 
PLEASE NOTE: 
 
Any offence of aiding, abetting or procuring the above offences, the offence code will have the 0 
replaced by a 2. 
 
Any offence of causing or permitting the above the offences, the offence code will have the 0 
replaced by a 4. 
 
Inciting any of the above offences, the offence code will have the 0 replaced by a 6. 
 

Page 13



leged/ph&hackney/convictionguidelines 8 

CATEGORY ‘B’ 

Offence Code Offence 

 Accident Offences 

AC10 Failing to stop after an accident 

AC20 Failing to give particulars or report an accident within 24 hours 

BA10 Driving whilst disqualified by order of the court 

BA30 Attempting to drive whilst disqualified by order of the court 

  

 Careless Driving 

CD10 Driving without due care and attention 

CD20 Driving without reasonable consideration for other road users 

CD30 Driving without due care and attention or without reasonable consideration 
for other road users 

  

 Construction and Use Offences 

CU10 Using a vehicle with defective brakes 

CU20 Causing or likely to cause danger by use of unsuitable vehicle or using a 
vehicle with parts or accessories (excluding brakes, steering or tyres) in a 
dangerous condition 

CU30 Using a vehicle with defective tyre(s) 

CU40 Using a vehicle with defective steering 

CU50 Causing or likely to cause danger by reason of load or passengers 

  

 Drink or Drugs 

DR10 Driving or attempting to drive with alcohol level above limit 

DR20 Driving or attempting to drive while unfit through drink 

DR30 Driving or attempting to drive then failing to supply a specimen for analysis 

DR40 In charge of a vehicle while alcohol above limit 

DR50 In charge of a vehicle while unfit through drink 

DR60 Failure to provide specimen for analysis in circumstances other than 
driving or attempting to drive when unfit through drugs 

DR70 Failing to provide a specimen for breath test 

DR80 Driving or attempting to drive when unfit through drugs 

DR90 In charge of a vehicle while unfit through drugs 

  

 Insurance Offences 

IN10 Using a vehicle uninsured against third party risks 

  

 Licence Offences 

LC30 Driving after making a false declaration about fitness when applying for a 
licence 

LC40 Driving a vehicle after having failed to notify a disability 

  

 Miscellaneous Offences 

MS70 Driving with uncorrected defective eyesight 

 
 
 

Page 14



leged/ph&hackney/convictionguidelines 9 

PLEASE NOTE: 
 
Any offence of aiding, abetting or procuring the above offences, the offence code will have the 0 
replaced by a 2. 
 
Any offence of causing or permitting the above the offences, the offence code will have the 0 
replaced by a 4. 
 
Inciting any of the above offences, the offence code will have the 0 replaced by a 6. 
 
If any of the offences in Category ‘B’ involve a licensed Hackney Carriage or private hire vehicle, 
they will be treated as though they are a Category ‘A’ offence. 
 
 
 

Page 15



leged/ph&hackney/convictionguidelines 10 

ANNEX (ii) 
 

OTHER TRAFFIC OFFENCES 
 
 

Offence Code Offence 

LC20 Driving otherwise than in accordance with a licence 

LC50 Driving after a licence has been revoked or refused on medical grounds 

  

MS10 Leaving a vehicle in a dangerous position 

MS20 Unlawful pillion riding 

MS30 Play street offences 

MS60 Offences not covered by other codes 

MS80 Refusing to submit to an eyesight test 

MS90 Failure to give information as to identity of driver etc 

  

MW10 Contravention of Special Road Regulations (excluding speed limits) 

  

PC10 Undefined contravention of Pedestrian Crossing Regulations 

PC20 Contravention of Pedestrian Crossing Regulations with a moving vehicle 

PC30 Contravention of Pedestrian Crossing Regulations with a stationery vehicle 

  

SP10 Exceeding goods vehicle speed limits 

SP20 Exceeding speed limit for type of vehicle (excluding goods or passenger 
vehicles) 

SP30 Exceeding statutory speed limit on a public road  

SP40 Exceeding passenger vehicle speed limit 

SP50 Exceeding speed limit on a motorway 

SP60 Undefined speed limit offence 

  

TS10 Failing to comply with traffic light signals 

TS20 Failing to comply with double white lines 

TS30 Failing to comply with ‘stop’ sign 

TS40 Failing to comply with direction of a constable/warden 

TS50 Failing to comply with traffic sign (excluding stop signs, traffic lights or double 
while lines) 

TS60 Failing to comply with a school crossing patrol sign 

TS70 Undefined failure to comply with a traffic direction sign 

 

Page 16



leged/ph&hackney/convictionguidelines 11 

 
PLEASE NOTE: 
 
Any offence of aiding, abetting or procuring the above offences, the offence code will have the 0 
replaced by a 2. 
 
Any offence of causing or permitting the above the offences, the offence code will have the 0 
replaced by a 4. 
 
Inciting any of the above offences, the offence code will have the 0 replaced by a 6. 
 
If any of the offences in Category ‘B’ involve a licensed Hackney Carriage or private hire vehicle, 
they will be treated as though they are a Category ‘B’ offence under Annex (ii). 
 

Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 18



Public Protection Committee - 26/01/15 

1 

PUBLIC PROTECTION COMMITTEE 

 
Monday, 26th January, 2015 

 
Present:-  Councillor Kyle Robinson – in the Chair 

 
Councillors Bailey, Mrs Braithwaite, Eastwood, Hailstones, Mrs Hailstones, 

Matthews, Mrs Naylon,  Miss Olszewski, Proctor, 
Miss Walklate, Williams and Mrs Williams 
 

  
 

1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
There were no apologies for absence. 
 

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 

3. MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING  

 
Resolved: That the minutes of the previous meeting be agreed as a correct 
record. 
 

4. DISCLOSURE OF EXEMPT INFORMATION  

 
Resolved: That the public be excluded. 
 

5. LOCAL GOVERNMENT (MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS) ACT - 1976  
 
A report was submitted to inform the Committee of the recent motoring convictions 
imposed on Mr AJ who held Licences issued by the Council. 
 
Mr AJ was not applying for a licence but it was relevant for the Committee to have 
regard for the Council’s Guidelines for the relevance of convictions. 
 
Having regard to the Council’s Guidelines for Convictions and the information 
provided, the Committee resolved:  
 
Resolved: That a warning be issued to the Mr AJ in relation to the condition of his 
vehicle. 
 

6. LOCAL GOVERNMENT (MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS) ACT - 1976  
 
A report was submitted to inform the Committee of an application for the grant of a 
private hire drivers licence from Mr BA. 
 
Mr BA had previously held a Private Hire Drivers Licence with this Council which was 
issued in September 2010 and would have expired in September 2013 when Mr BA 
was in prison. On his release from prison Mr BA applied to renew his (expired) 
licence. This application was refused by the Public Protection Committee on the 7th 
October 2013. 
 

Public Document Pack

Page 19

Agenda Item 3



Public Protection Committee - 26/01/15 

 

2 

Having regard to the Council’s Guidelines for convictions and the information 
provided, the Committee resolved: 
 
Resolved: That the application be refused in line with the Council’s Guidelines on 
Convictions 
 
 

7. LOCAL GOVERNMENT (MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS) ACT - 1976  
 
A report was submitted to inform the Committee of information provided by West 
Midlands Police force in respect of Mr SH who holds a Hackney Carriage drivers 
licence issued by this authority.   
 
Mr SH had failed to attend the Committee but due to the serious nature of the issues 
highlighted in the report the Committee resolved to consider the report and the 
recommendations in his absence. 
 
The Clerk to the Committee provided details regarding the steps that the Committee 
could take.  
 
Having regard to the Council’s Guidelines for Convictions and the information 
provided the Committee resolved: 
 
Resolved: That the licence be revoked with immediate effect. 
  
 

8. OPERATOR FEES 2015  
 
A report was submitted to inform the Committee of two objections that had been 
received from operators in relation to the proposed increase in the licensing fee for a 
private hire operator licence as part of the 2015/16 budget process, from £82 to £85 
per vehicle. 
 
The report set out options for the future charging of this fee, which took into account 
the objections received and also sought to ensure that the costs to the Council of 
administering the processes underpinning the setting and collection of the fee were 
covered by the amount charged, together with seeking to ensure – so far as is 
possible – that the setting of such fees was fair and equitable for all concerned 
 
Members considered the report, the objections and the options but considered that 
the existing option was most equitable and fair to all those applying for a private hire 
operator’s licence. The Committee considered that the alternative option would 
provide a monopoly for the larger companies and could result in smaller operators 
being adversely affected.  
 
Resolved: That the proposed licensing fee of £85 per vehicle (as set out in the 
budget proposals for 2015/16), up to a maximum of 50 vehicles per operator 
(resulting in a maximum of £4250 in total per any single operator, as per the Borough 
Council’s existing approach) be maintained and ratified  
 
 

9. URGENT BUSINESS  
 
There was no urgent business.  
 

Page 20



Public Protection Committee - 26/01/15 

3 

 
COUNCILLOR KYLE ROBINSON 

Chair 
 

Page 21



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 4Page 22



Page 23

Document is Restricted

Agenda Item 5
By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2, 7 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 25

Document is Restricted

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2, 7 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Classification: NULBC PROTECT Personal 

Classification: NULBC PROTECT Personal 
- 1 - 

REPORT TITLE Draft Taxi Licensing Policy for Newcastle under Lyme 
 
Submitted by:  Head of Business Improvements, Central Services and Partnerships 
 
Portfolio:  Safer Communities 
 
Ward(s) affected: All 
 
 

Purpose 
 
To request that the Committee consider the responses received in relation to the Draft 
Taxi Licensing Policy for Newcaslte under Lyme and that a final agreed Taxi Licensing 
Policy be brought into practice from 1st March 2015.  
 
Recommendation 
 
That the Committee: 
 

a) Consider the responses received to the consultation 
 

b) Consider the options detailed below in relation to the age policy of private 
hire and hackney carriage vehicles and agree which option to include in the 
final Taxi Licensing Policy. 

 
c) That the final Taxi Licensing Policy for Newcaslte under Lyme be 

implemented from 1st March 2015. 
 

d) That a report be brought to a future meeting of the Committee by the 
Council’s Partnerships Manager in relation to concerns raised in the 
consultation responses regarding child safety. 
 

e) That the Policy be reviewed and consulted on again in three years. 
 

 

 
1. Background 
 

1.1 Members will recall that at the meeting held on the 20th October 2014, the draft Taxi 
Licensing Policy for Newcastle under Lyme was agreed to be sent out for 
consultation for three months from 1st November 2014.  
 

1.2 The following responses were received and are attached as an appendix to this 
report: 

 
a) Response from Brighter Futures requesting that Drivers complete adult and 

child protection training. 
b) Response from Community Safety and the Partnerships Manager relating to 

issues around child sexual exploitation and safeguarding. 
c) Response from Chief Inspector Clare Riley relating to safeguarding. 

Page 55

Agenda Item 7



Classification: NULBC PROTECT Personal 

Classification: NULBC PROTECT Personal 
- 2 - 

d) Response from the Newcaslte Taxi Association in relation to the testing  
schedule for vehicles over 8 years of age. 

e) Response from the Council’s enforcement team regarding the identification of 
taxis and signage. 

f) Response from Mr G Johnson regarding the proposed exceptional age 
conditions procedure. 

 
1.3 The draft policy was widely publicised with copies being sent to all elected members, 

all partner organisations including disability groups (contacts provided by the 
Partnerships Manager), all neighbouring authorities, taxi associations, private hire 
operators and publicity on the Council’s own website.  

 
 

2. Options 
 

Having considered the responses to the consultation your officers would recommend that the 
Committee consider the below two options in relation to the age policy. The original proposal 
regarding exceptional circumstances has been amended slightly to take account of the 
response from the Newcastle Taxi Association: 
 
OPTION 1 – Include the below exceptional age condition in the final policy: 

  
1. The applicant would, 30 days prior to expiry of their licence, inform the 

Council of their intention to apply for their vehicles “exceptional condition” 
status.  This application would be accompanied by a Motor Vehicle inspection 
report from either the AA (comprehensive check) or RAC (essentials plus 
check) this check would give an indication whether or not the vehicle could be 
deemed to be in “exceptional condition” (i.e. no failures or advisory notices).  
These checks and the elements required can be seen at Appendix A 
 

2. On receipt of this notification check, a Council inspection would be allocated 
(subject to existing requirements such as providing relevant documentation 
and fee). 
 

3. Subject to passing the Council’s inspection at its first time, a licence would be 
granted for that vehicle for a period of six months after which a second 
council depot test would be required to enable the licence to be extended 
to its full 12 month period. 

 
In this matter officers take the view that if a vehicle is to be considered as in “exceptional 
condition” it should pass both the Council’s inspections at its first attempt.  Not to pass would 
indicate the vehicle is not in “exceptional condition” and the vehicle will have its plates 
removed. 

 
There may be other influencing factors that may assist the Council in its decision making and 
which could also be added to the draft Policy: 

 
a) The vehicle will have Uniform paintwork that is lustrous and scratch free. 
b) Be free of visible rust. 

Page 56



Classification: NULBC PROTECT Personal 

Classification: NULBC PROTECT Personal 
- 3 - 

c) Have an interior that is clean and upholstery which is supportive and free of 
stains and free of splits and wear and tear. 

d) Be free of any unrepaired damage. 
e) Repairs that have been made will have been carried out by qualified persons 

and will be to the highest standard. 
f) Be free of any major mechanical faults or defects. 
g) Will have a record of being serviced at regular intervals either by a main agent 

or other reputable garage. Ideally this servicing will be recorded in the 
vehicles original service booklet. 

 
OPTION 2 – Enforce the existing age policy in relation to private hire and hackney 
carriage vehicles. 
 
Hackney Carriage Vehicles 

 
Purpose built Hackney Carriages and those vehicles which have been converted to 
incorporate the standards laid down by the Public Carriage Office will continue to be 
relicensed despite their age subject to passing an annual test and the licences running 
concurrently. 

 
The Council will use the date of the first registration shown on the vehicle’s log book to 
determine the age of that vehicle.  

 
Vehicles that are not purpose-built - that is saloon vehicles, estate vehicles and hatchback 
vehicles - will continue to be re-licensed up to eight years of age subject to passing an 
annual test and the licences running concurrently. 
 
Private Hire Vehicles 

 
When a vehicle has been licensed as a Private Hire Vehicle it is capable of being re-
licensed annually until the vehicle is eight years old, providing that the licences run 
concurrently. 

 
The Council will use the date of first registration shown on the vehicle’s log book to 
determine the age of the vehicle. Where a licence is issued and the expiry date is after the 
eight year rule the licence will remain in place until its expiry. 

 
In respect of mini buses, these vehicles should be less than five years of age when first 
tested and can continue to be licensed for as long as the vehicle continues to pass the 
Council’s annual test, provided that the applications to renew the licence run concurrently to 
the expiring licence.  

 
2. Issues 

 
2.1 It is noticeable that a number of responses to the consultation have been in relation 
to child protection and safeguarding concerns. Work is currently being undertaken by 
officers in partnership with the Staffordshire Safeguarding Children’s Board and 
Staffordshire Police in relation to this and a detailed report will be brought to a future 
meeting to enable the Committee to consider areas such as training and education for 
licence holders prior to consulting with all relevant persons.  

Page 57



Classification: NULBC PROTECT Personal 

Classification: NULBC PROTECT Personal 
- 4 - 

 
2.2 The Council have a duty to protect the public and to ensure that before granting a 
licence for a Hackney Carriage or Private Hire Vehicle that it is “safe and fit for purpose”. 
 
2.3 While there is no legal definition in this respect for “fit for purpose” it could be rightly 
asked that would those people responsible for granting the licence be happy for their family 
to be carried in that vehicle. 
 
2.4 It is important and relevant to note that the AA will only provide a BASIC CHECK for 
vehicles up to 8 years of age any vehicles older than 8 years would only be given what is 
termed a COMPREHENSIVE INSPECTION, and that the RAC provide an ESSENTIALS 
check for vehicles that are up to 10 years of age and have done less than 120,000 miles, if 
the vehicle is older or has done more miles it would need the ESSENTIALS PLUS check. 
Both organisations have a sliding scale of charges, these charges are highlighted on 
Appendix A.  

 
 3. Options 
 
 The Committee can:-  
 

1) Adopt the method to establish “exceptional conditions” – Option 1 
 

2) Enforce the existing age policy – Option 2 
 
4. Recommendations 
 
As listed above 
 
5. Outcomes Linked to Sustainable Community Strategy and Corporate Priorities 
 
5.1 In formulating and proposing this Policy to Members, officers have adopted as their 
overriding concern the safety of the public.  
 

• In terms of the Borough Council’s corporate priorities, the draft Policy 
relates to the following:  

o Creating a clean, safe and sustainable Borough 
o Creating a Borough of opportunity 
o Creating a healthy and active community 
o Becoming a co-operative council which delivers high quality, 

community-driven services. 
 
6. Legal and Statutory Implications  
 
6.1 When considering any application for a Private Hire Vehicle Licence, the Borough 
Council, in accordance with Section 48 (1) (a) (i) (iii) (iv) and (v) of the Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976, shall not grant such a licence unless they are satisfied 
that the vehicle in question is suitable in type, size and design for use as a private hire 
vehicle; is in a suitable mechanical condition; and is safe and comfortable.  
 

Page 58



Classification: NULBC PROTECT Personal 

Classification: NULBC PROTECT Personal 
- 5 - 

6.2 As per Section 47 of the above Act, the Borough Council may attach to the grant of a 
Hackney Carriage licence such conditions as it may consider reasonably necessary. The 
range of conditions is wide and can therefore encompass safety, comfort and design.  
 
6.3 The Borough Council may adopt a policy but should be clear that this is a policy 
which should be flexible in terms of its implementation and, therefore, should be applied to 
each case on its own merits.  
 
7. Equality Impact Assessment 
 
7.1 The purpose of age limits, as applied to Hackney Carriages, it to try and ensure that 
the licensed vehicles are safe, reliable and comfortable.  
 
7.2 Any vehicle age policy, therefore, as applied in this area of Council business, is not 
arbitrary, but is a policy and it is for the Borough Council to consider any application which 
falls outside its own vehicle age policy on its own merits. 
 
8. Financial and Resource Implications 
 
8.1 An unreasonable decision may lead to awards of costs in the magistrates’ court and 
therefore use the limited resources available to the Borough Council. A clear and 
reasonable policy assists in delivering efficiency. 
 
9. Major Risks  
 
9.1. Public safety should not be compromised under any circumstances, and a robust 
Licensing Policy assists in securing public safety.  
 
9.2 If public safety is compromised, then there is a risk of reputational and financial 
damage to the Borough Council as well as possible harm to the public.  
 
9.3 In addition, any unreasonable refusals for the grant of a licence may also lead to 
reputational and financial risks to the Borough Council.  
 
10. List of Appendices 
 
Appendix A –  Draft Taxi Licensing Policy for Newcastle under Lyme 
Appendix B –  AA and RAC Check lists 
Appendix C -  Depot Testing Schedule 
Appendix D -  Responses received to the consultation 
  
 
11. Background Papers 
 

Reforming the Law of Taxi and Private Hire Services – A Consultation Paper No. 203 
 Taxi and Private Hire Services – The Law Commission Paper No 347 
   

 
  

 

Page 59



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 60



 
  

 
  

 
 

 
 
 
 

DRAFT 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Taxi Licensing 
Policy  

 
2014—2019 

Page 61



  
 

  
 

 P
a

g
e
2

 

 
 
 
 
 
CONTENTS 
 
Aims of the policy         3 
Background          3 
Policy Summary         3 
Definitions          4 
Policies and Practises        5 
Data Protection         5 
Public Register         5 
Applications for Grant/Renewal—Private Hire/Hackney Carriage drivers  6 
Process and Requirements for an Initial Application    6 
Renewal Applications        7 
Medical Standards         8 
Vehicles Standards         8 
Hackney Carriage Licences       8 
Private Hire Vehicle Licences       13 
Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Vehicle Annual Testing   15 
Failure of Test and Expiry of Licence      15 
Private Hire Operators        16 
The role of the Public Protection Committee     16 
Enforcement          17 
Delegated Powers         19 
Licence Fees          19 
Stretch Limousines and novelty vehicles      20 
Partnerships          20 
 
 
APPENDICES 
 
Appendix 1 - Private Hire and Hackney Carriage drivers licence conditions 
Appendix 2 - Guidelines for the relevance of convictions 
Appendix 3 - Conditions of fitness regulations (Hackney Carriages) 
Appendix 4 - Hackney Carriage licence conditions 
Appendix 5 - Hackney Carriage Tariff sheet (sample) 
Appendix 6 - Private Hire vehicle licence conditions 
Appendix 7 - Private Hire Operator conditions 
Appendix 8 - The Councils Enforcement protocol 

Page 62



  
 

  
 

 P
a

g
e
3

 

 
Aims of the Policy 
 
This policy has been developed to provide guidance and information to 
ensure that both the taxi trade and the public in the Borough of Newcastle 
under Lyme have a single document that fully explains Newcastle-under-
Lyme Borough Council’s licensing procedures. 
 
The principle and overriding aim of licensing the Hackney Carriage and 
Private Hire trade is to protect the public. A related aim is to also regulate the 
trade to ensure that in offering their services, the trade are doing it in a way 
where the public have access to local transport which is safe, comfortable, 
and meets all the requirements not only of the legislation which is specific to 
Hackney Carriage and Private Hire but also of all other statutory and 
regulatory bodies concerned with motorised transport. 
 
In addition, the Policy attempts to encompass the Councils key corporate 
priorities of creating a safer, greener, and sustainable Borough, and creating a 
Borough of opportunity. 
 
The Policy seeks to ensure that transport for those with a disability will be 
provided. 
 
Where the Council determines that specific conditions and requirements not 
specified in the relevant Acts of Parliament; accounted for in the Department 
for Transport Guidance or any other best practice guidance; are not 
unreasonable; and are deemed necessary to address local best practice then 
these will be implemented following a resolution from the Borough Council’s 
Public Protection Committee.  
 
The Public Protection Committee will make no decision which could adversely 
affect the livelihood of anyone with any licence without first having undergone 
a period of consultation. 
 
Background 
 
Hackney Carriage and Private Hire vehicles have an important role to play in 
any integrated public transport system. They are able to provide services in 
situations where other forms of public transport are either restricted, not 
available, or outside normal hours of operation, and assist those with mobility 
problems. 
   
Policy Summary 
 
This Policy contains information about legal requirements; government 
guidance; existing Borough Council policies, procedures and standards 
relevant to Hackney Carriage and Private Hire licensing; and should be 
considered to be a ‘living’ document (i.e. capable of change to reflect other 
wider environmental, social, legislative or political developments). When there 
are changes to guidance, legislation, or best practice then the Council will 

Page 63



  
 

  
 

 P
a

g
e
4

 

automatically review the Policy to reflect those changes. This Policy is not 
exhaustive and the Council maintains the right to refuse to grant a licence if it 
deems it necessary to do so for reasons of public safety and public interest. 
 
Definitions 
 
The following terms are used throughout this document. 
 

• ‘The Council’ or ‘the Authority’ refers to Newcastle under Lyme 
Borough Council, except where stated otherwise 
 

• ‘Vehicle’ or ‘Licensed Vehicle’ refers to both a Hackney Carriage and 
Private Hire vehicle. 
 

• ‘Saloon type cars’ refers to any vehicle not purpose built as a taxi and 
therefore includes hatchback and estate cars  
 

• ‘Hackney Carriage’ refers to a vehicle licensed under the Town Police 
Clauses Act 1847 to for hire in the area covered by the Council  
 

• ‘Private Hire Vehicle’ refers to a vehicle licensed under the Local 
Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 (“the Act”) to carry 
passengers for hire or reward by prior booking 

 

• ‘Private Hire Operator’ refers to a person who holds an operator’s 
licence under the Act and makes provision for the acceptance of 
private hire bookings for themselves or to pass to others to undertake 

 

• ‘The DfT’ refers to the Department for Transport including previous 
names under which that department has been known 

 

• ‘The DfT guidance’ refers to the Department for Transport – Hackney 
Carriage and Private Hire Vehicle Licensing Best Practice Guidance 
(published in March 2010) 

 

• ‘The Committee’ refers to the Public Protection Committee of the 
Council 

 

• The word ‘taxi’ has no meaning in law and can be used generically to 
describe both Hackney Carriages and Private Hire vehicles  

 

• ‘The OfT’ refers to the Office of Fair Trading 
 

• ‘The DPA’ refers to the Data Protection Act 1998 
 

• DBS refers to the Disclosure and Barring Service  
 

• ‘The Guidelines’ refer to the Council’s guidelines for the relevance of 
convictions when considering the grant or renewal of a licence 

Page 64



  
 

  
 

 P
a

g
e
5

 

 
The following Acts of Parliament form the basis of this Policy. 
 

• The Town Police Clauses Act 1847 and the Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 

 
Policies and Practices 
 
The Council’s licensing of taxis, drivers and operators takes account of the 
requirements, powers, duties, and responsibilities contained within the 
relevant Acts and the DfT Guidance. 
 
Data Protection 
 
The Data Protection Act 1998 (“DPA”) covers the collection, storage, 
processing and distribution of personal data. It also gives certain rights to 
individuals about whom information is recorded. 
 
The Council aims to fulfil its obligation under the Act to the fullest extent by 
only processing personal data for the purposes of legitimate interests pursued 
by the Council or legal requirements imposed on the Council.  
 
The DPA obliges local authorities to comply with eight data protection 
principles. The principles state that personal data shall be: 
 

• Obtained only for specified and lawful purposes;  
• Adequate, relevant and not excessive in relation to the purpose(s) for 

which it is being processed;  
• Accurate and, where necessary, up to date;  
• Processed fairly and lawfully;  
• Processed in accordance with the rights of the data subjects  
• Kept secure  
• Kept only as long as necessary  
• Transferred to countries outside the European Economic Area only if 

those countries have an adequate level of protection for the rights of 
data subjects 

 
Further information about the DPA can be obtained at the Information 
Commissioner’s website (www.ico.gov.uk). Enquiries regarding the Council’s 
use of personal data should be addressed to the Councils Data Protection 
Officer. 
 
Public Register 
 
The Council will hold and maintain a register for all the licences which it 
issues. The information held on the register will be restricted to the name of 
the licence holder; a unique licence number; the date of commencement; and 
the date of the expiry of the licence.  
 

Page 65



  
 

  
 

 P
a

g
e
6

 

The register will be available for inspection by prior arrangement with the 
Councils Licensing team. 
 
 
 
Applications for Grant/Renewal--Private Hire/Hackney Carriage drivers  
 
It is the responsibility of the Council to protect the public and to ensure that 
before anyone is granted a licence the Council needs to be satisfied that 
he/she is a “fit and proper” person to hold such a licence. 
 
There is no agreed definition for “fit and proper” - in the absence of such a 
definition, the Council will use the widely accepted interpretation of: 
 
“Would those responsible for granting a licence be happy for their mother, 
daughter or any lone or vulnerable person to travel unaccompanied with the 
applicant?. 
 
Process and Requirements for an Initial Application 
 
Before granting a licence the Council requires that: 
 

a) The applicant is over 21 years of age 
b) The applicant produces a valid full UK driving licence (or the European 

equivalent) that reveals no relevant convictions and the applicant must 
have held a full licence for more than one year 

c) The applicant produces a medical report undertaken by their own GP 
which has regard for the DVLA Medical Standards of Fitness to drive 
Level II and shows that the applicant meets the required medical 
standard 

d) The applicant provides a recent enhanced disclosure from the DBS 
that is less than one month old  

e) The applicant has completed the necessary application forms and 
provides two recent colour passport sized photographs 

f) The applicant has paid the appropriate fee 
g)  The applicant provides two references which indicate their suitability 
h) The applicant holds either a BTEC Level 2 certificate in the 

‘Introduction to the Role of the Professional Taxi and Private Hire 
Driver’ qualification, or, where that is not locally available, to have 
taken and passed the Driving Standards Agency (DSA) taxi test which 
incorporates the wheelchair manoeuvring element. These are minimum 
requirements. Higher levels of qualifications such as a National 
Vocational Qualification (NVQ) for licensed drivers will also be 
accepted 

i) The applicant has passed the Council’s geographical test for Private 
Hire and Hackney Carriage drivers. The test is currently provided 
locally at Burslem College.   

 
Where an applicant meets all the above criteria the licence will automatically 
be granted and issued.  

Page 66



  
 

  
 

 P
a

g
e
7

 

 
The licence will be valid for a period of three years. 
 
 
 
 
Renewal Applications 
 
The application process for the renewal of a licence requires the same 
elements as the initial application with the following exceptions: 
 

a) There will be no requirement to undertake a local knowledge test 
b) Where the previous application was accompanied by a medical 

certificate no such certificate will be necessary. The Council’s policy is, 
where applications are continuous, a medical certificate will only be 
required at every other application 

c) For drivers who have reached 65 years of age a medical certificate will 
be required for every application 

d) There will be no requirement to provide references  
e) Where an application is submitted after a licence has expired, that 

application will be treated as a new application and not a renewal 
f) Where an application for renewal is made by anyone who does not 

hold a BTEC qualification or the DSA taxi test the licence will only be 
valid until 1st October 2015. Those licences restricted to 1st October 
2015 will be extended to the full term of three years on production of a 
relevant qualification. 

 
The successful applicant for the grant or the renewal of a licence will be 
issued with a driver’s badge which will have a unique number; a photograph 
of the applicant; and the applicant’s name. The paper counterpart of the 
licence will have the same information. The licence will be valid for 3 years. 
The counterpart of the licence will include a set of the Council’s conditions 
(Appendix 1) 
 
It is the responsibility of  the applicant to acquaint him/herself fully with the 
conditions attached to the licence and of the offences that can be committed 
while holding a licence and acting as a Private Hire or Hackney Carriage 
driver. 
 
Where an application is received and the driving licence and/or the DBS 
disclosure reveal convictions that fall within the Council’s guidelines for the 
relevance of convictions (Appendix 2) the application will be referred, in the 
first instance, to the Head of Business Improvement, Central Services and 
Partnerships who will consider the matter, and, when necessary, will forward 
the matter to the Council’s Committee. 
 
The Committee will consider such applications and has the discretion to: 
 

a) Grant a licence for a specified period of time 
b) Grant a licence for the full term of three years 

Page 67



  
 

  
 

 P
a

g
e
8

 

c) Refuse the application  
 
Any applicant who is refused a licence by the Committee will be notified in 
writing of that decision and the reasons behind the refusal. If the applicant is 
aggrieved by the decision he/she has the right of appeal in the Magistrates’ 
Court.  
 
Medical Standards 
 
In circumstances when a licence has been granted and the Council 
subsequently has doubts regarding the medical fitness of the licence holder 
the Council will require confirmation from a recognised occupational health 
practitioner that the licence holder continues to meet the recommended 
standard. 
 
Vehicle Standards 

 
No vehicle - Hackney Carriage or Private Hire - will be considered for its initial 
licence unless it has been seen by and/or approved by the Council’s 
Licensing Service. Vehicles must not be altered from the manufacturer’s 
standard. 
 
Accidents 
 
The proprietor shall report to the Council's Licensing Section as soon as 
reasonably practicable, and in any case within 72 hours, of the occurrence of 
any accident involving the vehicle which causes damage materially affecting 
the safety, performance or appearance of the vehicle or the comfort or 
convenience of persons carried therein. 
 
When making any decision on the suitability of a vehicle, the following will be 
taken into account: The vehicle will: 
 

a) Have uniform paintwork 
b) Be free of visible rust 
c) Have an interior that is clean and upholstery which is free of stains and 

free of splits and tears 
d) Be free of any unrepaired damage 
e) Where repairs have been necessary these will have been completed 

by qualified technicians and will have been carried out to the highest 
standard 

f) Have, in the case of estate cars, a method of securing luggage in order 
to safeguard passengers 

g) Have a steering wheel that is on the offside of the vehicle 
h) Be fitted with tyres that are the designated size, speed and weight 

rating for that make and model of vehicle as prescribed by the vehicle 
manufacturer. 

i)  The vehicle will also be provided with either:-                 

Page 68



  
 

  
 

 P
a

g
e
9

 

o A spare tyre that is the correct size, speed, and weight rating, is 
inflated, and has the legally required depth of tread, and 
equipment to enable the changing of a wheel;  

o The manufacturer’s approved space saver spare wheel, and 
equipment to enable the changing of that wheel; 

o Alternatively, to carry a puncture repair kit that includes a 
method of inflating the tyres and free of any major mechanical 
faults or defects 

j) Be fitted with an anti-lock braking system 
k) Have an adequate system for heating and ventilation for the comfort of 

the passenger and at the discretion of the passenger 
l) Have fitted rear passenger windows that are not heavily tinted or 

blacked out and will allow a minimum of 35% transmission of light 
 
Hackney Carriage Vehicle Licences 
 
What is a Hackney Carriage Vehicle? 
 
A Hackney Carriage is a vehicle licensed under the Town Police Clauses Act 
1847 and the Act part II to ply for hire throughout the district controlled by any 
relevant local authority. 
 
At present, the Council has no limit on the number of Hackney Carriage 
vehicle licences it can approve, although the Council’s policy for any 
additional Hackney Carriage licences is that they will only be granted to 
vehicles which are wheelchair accessible.  
 
Those operators who have Hackney Carriage vehicles which are ‘saloon type 
cars’ can replace that vehicle with another saloon type either on renewal or 
prior to renewal of licences. In circumstances where an operator allows a 
licence attached to a saloon type to expire then that licence no longer exists. 
 
Vehicle Suitability  
 
The Council presently grants initial applications to those vehicles that are 
either purpose-built ‘London-type cabs’ or those vehicles that have been 
specifically converted to Hackney Carriages (typically known as an M1 
conversion). These converted vehicles should meet a European-wide type 
approval and should conform to the Conditions of Fitness Regulations laid 
down by Transport for London (formerly the Public Carriage Office). These 
regulations have been amended to be relevant for the Council. The amended 
version can be seen at Appendix 3. 
 
The Council’s policy does not permit Hackney Carriages that are wheelchair 
accessible to be replaced by any other type of vehicle, although replacing a 
saloon/estate or hatchback for a wheelchair accessible vehicle is permitted 
once the change has been made. 
 
Where a licence is granted it will normally be valid for a period of one year. 
 

Page 69



  
 

  
 

 P
a

g
e
1

0
 

Licence Renewal 
 
Licence renewals shall be annual and shall run concurrently with the expiring 
licence. 
 
Vehicle Requirements 

 
For a vehicle to meet the Council’s criteria for a Hackney Carriage licence it 
must: 
 

1) Meet the requirements outlined in the Vehicle Standards section of this 
Policy 

2) Be less than five years of age when first tested 
3) Be black with a four inch white stripe which runs the length of both 

sides of the vehicle 
4) Be fitted with a taximeter, calibrated to the Borough Council’s approved 

tariff 
5) Be fitted with an illuminated roof sign 
6) Shall not be a convertible or coupe (but a sun roof may be fitted) 
7) Shall not be modified from the original manufacturer’s specification 
8) Shall have a minimum passenger seating capacity of four (this can 

increase to a maximum of eight passenger seats) 
9) Shall not be fitted with rear passenger windows that do not allow a 35% 

transmission of light 
10) Shall have sufficient boot space to accommodate a reasonable amount 

of passenger luggage 
 

The vehicle and all its fittings and equipment shall at all times when the 
vehicle is in use or available for hire be kept in an efficient, safe, tidy and 
clean condition and all relevant statutory requirements (including in particular 
those contained in Motor Vehicles (Construction and Use) Regulations) shall 
be fully complied with. 
 
Age of Vehicles 
 

1) Purpose built Hackney Carriages and those vehicles which have been 
converted to incorporate the standards laid down by the Public 
Carriage Office will continue to be relicensed despite their age subject 
to passing an annual test and the licences running concurrently 

2) The Council will use the date of the first registration shown on the 
vehicle’s log book to determine the age of that vehicle.  

3) Vehicles that are not purpose-built - that is saloon vehicles, estate 
vehicles and hatchback vehicles - will continue to be re-licensed up to 
eight years of age subject to passing an annual test and the licences 
running concurrently. 

 
 
“Exceptional Condition” 
 

Page 70



  
 

  
 

 P
a

g
e
1

1
 

Operators can apply to re licence a saloon type vehicle that is over 8 years of 
age under the “exceptional condition” rule. This protocol enables operatotors 
who consider that their vehicle is in such exceptional condition that it should 
be considered outside the Councils age policy. Qualification for this will be 
considered when the following process has been completed. 
 
1. The applicant would, 30 days prior to expiry of their licence, inform the 
Council of their intention to apply for their vehicles “exceptional condition” 
status.  This application would be accompanied by a Motor Vehicle inspection 
report from either the AA (comprehensive check) or RAC (essentials plus 
check) this check would give an indication whether or not the vehicles could 
deemed to be in “exceptional condition” (i.e. no failures or advisory notices).  
These checks and the elements required can be seen at Appendix (i). 
 
2. On receipt of this notification check, a Council inspection would be 
allocated (subject to existing requirements such as providing relevant 
documentation and fee). 
 
3. Subject to passing the Council’s inspection at its first time, a licence 
would be granted for that vehicle for a period of six months after which a 
VOSA MOT no older than one month should be submitted to enable the 
licence to be extended to its full 12 month period. 
 
 For a vehicle is to be considered in “exceptional condition” it should pass the 
Council’s inspection at its first attempt.  Not to pass would indicate the vehicle 
is not in “exceptional condition”. 
 
These further elements will be influential in assisting the Council to determine 
a vehicles condition. 
 
a) The vehicle to have Uniform paintwork that is lustrous and scratch free. 
b) Be free of visible rust. 
c) Have an interior that is clean and upholstery which is supportive and 

free of stains and free of splits and wear and tear. 
d) Be free of any unrepaired damage. 
e) Repairs that have been made will have been carried out by qualified 

persons and will be to the highest standard. 
f) Be free of any major mechanical faults or defects. 
g) Will have a record of being serviced at regular intervals either by a 

main agent or other reputable garage. Ideally this servicing will be 
recorded in the vehicles original service booklet. 

 
Applications 
 
All applications, whether for a grant of a licence or a renewal of a licence, 
should be accompanied by the following: 
 

• The appropriate fee with a completed application form 

• A current VOSA MOT certificate where the vehicle is over three years 
of age 

Page 71



  
 

  
 

 P
a

g
e
1

2
 

• A certificate of insurance that provides for the insured to use the 
vehicle for public hire. 

 
Vehicle Testing 
 
Before a licence is issued, the vehicle will be examined and tested at the 
Council’s Operational Services department. The cost of this initial test is 
contained in the application fee. Where a vehicle fails the initial test a fee will 
be payable before any retest is undertaken. Information on fees is contained 
under the Licence Fees section of this Policy. In most circumstances where 
an advisory item has been identified on a VOSA MOT certificate, this will 
constitute a failure at the Council test. 
 
Licence Plates - Conditions 
 
On successful completion of the application, the applicant will be issued with 
two Hackney Carriage plates which will be fitted to the exterior of the vehicle 
(one at the front and one at the rear).  
 
The position the plates are affixed will be on or close to the height of the 
bumper of the vehicle and will be attached using fixings that allow the plates 
to be removed by the Council’s Enforcement Officers. 
 
In addition, a copy of the licence details will be issued, and these will be sited 
inside the vehicle in such a position that it can be seen by passengers.  
 
The applicant will be issued with a licence which will be valid for one year. A 
set of conditions will be attached to the licence and it is the responsibility of 
the applicant to familiarise him/herself with these conditions. The conditions 
can be seen at Appendix 4. 
 
Expiry of licence 
 
In circumstances where a proprietor allows the Hackney Carriage licence 
attached to a saloon-type vehicle to expire and has made no attempt to renew 
that licence then any new application shall be in accordance with the 
Council’s policy that says “all new applications for Hackney Carriage licences 
shall only be approved for those vehicles that are purpose-built or have been 
converted in accordance with taxi regulations and are wheelchair accessible”.  
 
Where extreme mitigating circumstances exist in connection with the expiry of 
a licence and this can be proven then consideration of these extreme 
circumstances will be given by those people who have delegated powers in 
the Council’s Scheme of Delegation. 
 
Hackney Carriage Tariffs 
 
Tariffs for Hackney Carriages are approved and set by the Council’s 
Committee. When a request for any increase of the tariff is received and is 
approved by the Committee, the proposed revised tariff will be published in 

Page 72



  
 

  
 

 P
a

g
e
1

3
 

the local newspaper for 14 days after which, should there be no objections, 
the revised tariff will be applied. 
 
Taximeters and Tariffs 
 
The proprietor of a Hackney Carriage shall ensure that the vehicle is fitted 
with a taximeter. This meter shall be maintained and in working condition at all 
times. 
 
The taximeter shall be calibrated to reflect the tariff approved by the Council, 
and should be positioned where it can easily be seen and read by the hirer 
and shall be capable of being suitably illuminated during any period of hiring. 
 
The taximeter should be of a design that allows a method of sealing, following 
calibration, in order to prevent alteration or tampering. 
  
The meter will be fitted where it can be clearly visible to the hirer. 
 
The positioning of the meter will not interfere with the vision of the driver. 
 
Operation of the meter will only commence when the hirer is seated in the 
vehicle and before the journey commences. 
 
At the termination of a hiring the driver shall ensure that the hirer sees the 
meter reading before any payment is made. 
 
Operation of the Taximeter  
 
Prior to any hiring the meter must be zeroed and show no reading. On 
acceptance of a fare, the driver will select the appropriate tariff: 
 
Tariff 1 
During daytime hours Tariff 1 will be selected. 
 
Tariff 2  
After midnight and at weekends Tariff 2 may be selected. This is at a rate 
50% more than Tariff 1. 
 
Tariff 3 
During Bank Holidays Tariff 3 may be selected. This is at a rate of 100% more 
than Tariff 1. 
 
There may also be a separate tariff for those Hackney Carriages licensed to 
carry five or more passengers when five or more passengers hire the vehicle  
 
A Hackney Carriage driver may demand less than the fare shown on the face 
of the taximeter but may never demand more than the fare shown on the 
taximeter. 
 

Page 73



  
 

  
 

 P
a

g
e
1

4
 

The taximeter must remain on at all times when working within the Borough of 
Newcastle under Lyme and may only be turned off when working outside the 
Borough. 
 
A sample tariff sheet can be seen at Appendix 5.  
 
Hackney Carriage Signage 
 
The Council’s policy on signage allows all-over advertising only on those 
vehicles that are wheelchair accessible provided that national advertising 
standards are met. No advertisements that promote alcohol, tobacco, or 
contains any element of a sexual nature, nudity or semi nudity, nor if any 
advertising contains political, ethnic, religious, sectarian, sexual or 
controversial text, likely to offend public taste, or that depicts or advocates 
violence, or advertising any racist or sectarian group or organisation which 
promotes or advocates violence. 
 
Approval for any all-over advertising will be required from the Council’s 
Licensing team. 
 
Signs incorporating the name and telephone number of the proprietor of the 
vehicle are permitted for those Hackney Carriages that are saloon-type 
vehicles. These signs shall be composed of either black and white lettering of 
not more than two inches in height, with appropriate spacing and may be 
displayed on the two front doors of the vehicle only. 
 
Hackney Carriage Ranks 
 
The provision and siting of Hackney Carriage ranks within the Borough of 
Newcastle under Lyme is done in partnership with the Council and 
Staffordshire County Highways Department. The Council will always attempt 
to ensure that there are adequate Hackney Carriage rank spaces to properly 
serve the needs of the travelling public. 
 
Private Hire Vehicle Licences 
 
What is a Private Hire Vehicle? 
 
The term ‘Private Hire Vehicle’ refers to a vehicle licensed under the Act to 
carry passengers for hire or reward by prior booking. 

 
Unlike Hackney Carriages there is no mechanism for limiting the numbers of 
Private Hire Vehicles  
 
Accidents 
 
The proprietor shall report to the Council's Licensing Section as soon as 
reasonably practicable, and in any case within 72 hours, of the occurrence of 
any accident involving the vehicle which causes damage materially affecting 

Page 74



  
 

  
 

 P
a

g
e
1

5
 

the safety, performance or appearance of the vehicle or the comfort or 
convenience of persons carried therein. 
 
Vehicle Requirements 
 
For a vehicle to meet the Council’s criteria for a Private Hire Vehicle licence it 
must: 
 

1) Meet the requirements in the Vehicle Standards section of this Policy 
2) Be less than five years of age when tested 
3) Be any colour other than black 
4) Have at least four doors (excluding a tailgate) 
5) Not be of such design and appearance as to lead any person to believe 

that the vehicle is a Hackney Carriage 
6) Not be a convertible or coupe (but a sunroof may be fitted) 
7) Not be modified from the original manufacturer’s specification 
8) Not be fitted with rear passenger windows that do not allow a 35% 

transmission of light 
9) Have sufficient boot space to accommodate a reasonable amount of 

passengers luggage 
10) Have a minimum passenger seating capacity of four. This can increase 

to a maximum of eight passenger seats. These can include those 
vehicles that are mini buses or MPVs. 

 
The vehicle and all its fittings and equipment shall at all times when the 
vehicle is in use or available for hire be kept in an efficient, safe, tidy and 
clean condition and all relevant statutory requirements (including in particular 
those contained in Motor Vehicles (Construction and Use) Regulations) shall 
be fully complied with. 
 
Applications 
 
All applications, whether for a grant of a licence or a renewal of a licence, will 
be accompanied by the following: 
 

• The appropriate fee with a completed application form 

• A current VOSA MOT certificate 

• A certificate of insurance that provides for the insured to use the 
vehicle for hire or reward under Private Hire booking 

 
Vehicle Testing 
 
Before a licence is issued, the vehicle will be examined and tested at the 
Council’s Operational Services department. The cost of this initial test is 
contained in the application fee. Where a vehicle fails the initial test a fee will 
be payable before any retest is undertaken. Information on fees is contained 
under the Licence Fees section of this Policy. In most circumstances where 
an advisory item has been identified on aVOSA MOT certificate, this will 
constitute a failure at the Council test. 
 

Page 75



  
 

  
 

 P
a

g
e
1

6
 

Licence Plates, Licence and attached Conditions 
 
On successful completion of the application and testing of the vehicle, the 
applicant will be issued with two Private Hire Vehicle Licence plates. These 
will be required to be fitted to the exterior of the vehicle - one at the front and 
one at the rear. The position at which they are affixed will be on, or close to, 
the height of the bumper of the vehicle and will be attached using the fixings 
provided. 
 
In addition, the applicant will be issued with adhesive signs which read 
“Private Hire Pre Booked Journeys Only”. These will be affixed to the front 
doors of the vehicle. 
  
The applicant will be issued with a licence which will be valid for one year. 
The licence will include a set of conditions. It is the responsibility of the 
applicant to familiarise him/herself with those conditions. These conditions 
can be seen at Appendix 6. 
 
Signage 
 
Advertising is not permitted on Private Hire Vehicles. 
 
Age of Vehicles 
 
When a vehicle has been licensed as a Private Hire Vehicle it is capable of 
being re-licensed annually until the vehicle is eight years old, providing that 
the licences run concurrently. 
 
The Council will use the date of first registration shown on the vehicle’s log 
book to determine the age of the vehicle. Where a licence is issued and the 
expiry date is after the eight year rule the licence will remain in place until its 
expiry. 
 
“Exceptional Condition” 
 
Operators can apply to re licence a  vehicle  that is over 8 years of age under 
the “exceptional condition” rule. This protocol enables operatotors who 
consider that their vehicle is in such exceptional condition that it should be 
considered outside the Councils age policy . 
Qualification for this will be considered when the following process has been 
completed. 
 
1. The applicant would, 30 days prior to expiry of their licence, inform the 
Council of their intention to apply for their vehicles “exceptional condition” 
status.  This application would be accompanied by a Motor Vehicle inspection 
report from either the AA (comprehensive check) or RAC (essentials plus 
check) this check would give an indication whether or not the vehicles could 
deemed to be in “exceptional condition” (i.e. no failures or advisory notices).  
These checks and the elements required can be seen at Appendix (i). 
 

Page 76



  
 

  
 

 P
a

g
e
1

7
 

2. On receipt of this notification check, a Council inspection would be 
allocated (subject to existing requirements such as providing relevant 
documentation and fee). 
 
3. Subject to passing the Council’s inspection at its first time, a licence 
would be granted for that vehicle for a period of six months after which a 
VOSA MOT no older than one month should be submitted to enable the 
licence to be extended to its full 12 month period. 
 
 For a vehicle is to be considered in “exceptional condition” it should pass the 
Council’s inspection at its first attempt.  Not to pass would indicate the vehicle 
is not in “exceptional condition”. 
 
These further elements will be influential in assisting the Council to determine 
a vehicles condition. 
 
a) The vehicle to have Uniform paintwork that is lustrous and scratch free. 
b) Be free of visible rust. 
c) Have an interior that is clean and upholstery which is supportive and 

free of stains and free of splits and wear and tear. 
d) Be free of any unrepaired damage. 
e) Repairs that have been made will have been carried out by qualified 

persons and will be to the highest standard. 
f) Be free of any major mechanical faults or defects. 
g) Will have a record of being serviced at regular intervals either by a 

main agent or other reputable garage. Ideally this servicing will be 
recorded in the vehicles original service booklet. 

 
 
In respect of mini buses, these vehicles should be less than five years of age 
when first tested and can continue to be licensed for as long as the vehicle 
continues to pass the Council’s annual test, provided that the applications to 
renew the licence run concurrently to the expiring licence.  
 
Taximeters in Private Hire Vehicles  
 
Unlike Hackney Carriages, Private Hire Vehicles are not required to have 
taximeters fitted, although, where a proprietor feels that it would be 
advantageous to fit a taximeter, the following will apply: 
 

1) The meter will be fitted where it can be clearly visible to the hirer 
2) The positioning of the meter will not interfere with the vision of the 

driver 
3) Following calibration to the operator’s tariff, the taximeter will be sealed 

in such a manner that it cannot be tampered with or altered 
4) Operation of the meter will only commence when the hirer is seated in 

the vehicle and before the journey commences 
5) At the termination of a hiring the driver shall ensure that the hirer sees 

the meter reading before any payment is made 

Page 77



  
 

  
 

 P
a

g
e
1

8
 

6) The meter shall be capable of being suitably illuminated during any 
period of hiring 

 
Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Vehicles Annual Testing 
 
After a vehicle has had its initial licence it will be eligible for re-licensing, 
providing that it falls within the Council’s age policy and continues to meet the 
necessary standards. 
 
The re-licensing will be carried out annually, following submission of an 
application form accompanied with the necessary documents including 
payment and satisfactory inspection by the Council’s Transport Manager. 
 
In circumstances where a vehicle fails the annual test, a list of defects will be 
issued and a period of 28 days will be given to address those defects before 
re-presenting the vehicle for retesting. 
 
There will be circumstances when a vehicle fails a test and to retest it would 
only require a cursory inspection, in these cases a fee will not be required. 
 
When a vehicle fails a test and a retest would require more than a cursory 
inspection a fee will be payable 
 
Failure of Test and Expiry of Licence 
 
The engineer inspecting a vehicle for its annual inspection will determine 
whether: 
 

a) The vehicle passes the inspection - a licence will issued which runs 
concurrently from the previous licence  

b) The vehicle fails the inspection and requires re inspecting, but the 
reason for failure is not sufficient to prevent the vehicle from carrying 
passengers while remedial repairs have been undertaken. This can 
continue until the licence expires 

c) The vehicle fails the annual inspection and the reasons for the failure 
require that a notice is issued stating that the vehicle should not carry  
passengers until repairs have been made and the vehicle satisfactorily 
passes a re inspection 

 
When a vehicle fails an annual inspection and the licence expires before 
repairs have been inspected, the vehicle has no licence. When the vehicle 
has been repaired and presented within the 28 day period allowed and 
passes a re-inspection, a licence will be issued that runs concurrently from the 
previous licence. 
 
In circumstances where the proprietor of a Private Hire Vehicle allows the 
licence to expire and has made no attempt to renew and the vehicle falls 
outside the Council’s age policy for Private Hire Vehicles then that vehicle will 
not be considered for a licence except under extreme mitigating 
circumstances which can be proven to the satisfaction of the Council. The 

Page 78



  
 

  
 

 P
a

g
e
1

9
 

consideration of these extreme circumstances will be given by those people 
who have delegated powers in the Council’s Scheme of Delegation. 
 
Private Hire Operators 
 
A Private Hire Operator’s Licence is required to enable a person to accept or 
invite bookings for Private Hire Vehicles. 
 
Before such a licence can be issued the Council must be satisfied that the 
applicant is a fit and proper person. 
 
Application 
 
The applicant requirements are: 
  

1) To provide a disclosure from the DBS(applications  received from 
individuals that hold a current Private Hire or Hackney Carriage drivers 
licence may already be considered a fit and proper person and may 
forego this requirement) 

2) To complete an application form 
3) To pay the appropriate fee 

 
Where applications are approved, a Private Hire Operator’s Licence will be 
issued, and a set of conditions will be attached to the licence. It is the 
responsibility of the applicant to familiarise him/herself with those conditions. 
These conditions can be seen at Appendix 7. 
 
Licences will be issued for three years (unless a lesser period has been 
specified by the Committee)  
 
Operators Licences outside the Borough Boundary 
 
Section 57 (2) (b)(ii) of the Act  part 2 allows local authorities to issue Private 
Hire Operators Licences to applicants who intend to carry on their business 
outside the boundary of the relevant local authority. 
 
The Council, in recognising that this section of the Act, have resolved that no 
licence will be granted to an applicant who intends to carry out his/her 
business at an address or addresses which are more than one mile outside 
the Borough boundary.  
An exception applies to operators who can claim grandfather rights, that is 
they currently hold a licence and their business address is more than 1 mile 
outside the Borough boundary. 
 
The Role of the Public Protection Committee 
 
The Committee consists of elected members of the Council who will consider 
all matters concerning Private Hire and Hackney Carriages that cannot 
normally be dealt with by the Council’s officers. 
 

Page 79



  
 

  
 

 P
a

g
e
2

0
 

This will include, but is not restricted, to: 
 

a) Applications for Private Hire and Hackney Carriage drivers’ licences 
where the applicant has convictions that fall within the Council’s 
Guidelines, or where the applicant has convictions that fall outside 
those guidelines but the nature and number of offences give rise to 
concern 

b) Considering the breach of any condition on a licence 
c) Considering convictions imposed on drivers while they hold a licence. 
d) Considering requests from the Private Hire and/or the Hackney 

Carriage trade 
e) Considering the instigation of any prosecution 
f) To consider any licensing matter that may arise that is not a covered by 

the Policy or any existing conditions 
 
It is Council policy that no elected member can vote at any committee unless 
they have received training particular to that committee on which they serve. 
 
When coming to any decision the Committee will always give reasons for that 
decision and will endeavour to act reasonably and in accordance with the 
Human Rights Act 1998. 
 
Anyone who is aggrieved by a decision of the Committee has the right of 
appeal to the Magistrates’ Court 
 
Enforcement 
 
It is the responsibility of the Council to ensure that taxi drivers and operators 
are licensed in accordance with the relevant laws governing Hackney 
Carriage and Private Hire Vehicles and that  the conditions attached to the 
licences are adhered to. 
 
The Council has a Corporate Enforcement Strategy which guides and informs 
the Council’s approach to any enforcement issues. This document can be 
found at Appendix 8.  
 
Offences 
 
Offences relating to Hackney Carriages and Private Hire Vehicles are derived 
from the following sources: 
 
Town Police Clauses Act 1847 (Hackney Carriages only) 
 
Section 40 Giving false information on a Hackney Carriage licence 

application 
Section 44 Failure to notify change of address of a Hackney Carriage 

licence 
Section 45 Plying for hire without a Hackney Carriage licence 
Section 47 Driving a Hackney Carriage without a Hackney Carriage driver’s 

licence 

Page 80



  
 

  
 

 P
a

g
e
2

1
 

Section 47 Lending or parting with a Hackney Carriage driver’s licence 
Section 47 Proprietor employing an unlicensed Hackney Carriage driver 
Section 48 Failure of a proprietor to hold a Hackney Carriage driver’s 

licence 
Section 48 Failure of a proprietor to produce a Hackney Carriage driver’s 

licence 
Section 52 Failure to display a Hackney Carriage plate 
Section 53 Failure to take a fare without a reasonable excuse 
Section 54 Charging more than the agreed fare 
Section 55 Obtaining more than the legal fare (including failure to refund) 
Section 56 Travelling less than the lawful distance for an agreed fare 
Section 57 Failure to wait after a deposit has been paid 
Section 58 Charging more than the legal fare 
Section 59 Carrying persons other than the hirer without the hirer’s consent 
Section 60 Driving a Hackney Carriage without the proprietor’s consent 
Section 60 Allowing a person to drive a Hackney Carriage without the 

proprietor’s consent 
Section 62 Driver leaving a Hackney Carriage unattended 
Section 64 Hackney Carriage driver obstructing other Hackney Carriages  
 
Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 
 
Section 46 Using an unlicensed Private Hire Vehicle 
Section 46 Driving a Private Hire Vehicle without a Private Hire driver’s 

licence 
Section 46 Proprietor of a Private Hire Vehicle using an unlicensed driver 
Section 46 Operating a Private Hire Vehicle without a Private Hire 

operator’s licence 
Section 46 Operating a vehicle as a Private Hire Vehicle when the vehicle is 

not licensed as a Private Hire Vehicle 
Section 46 Operating a Private Hire Vehicle when the driver is not licensed 

as a Private Hire driver 
Section 48 Failure to display a Private Hire Vehicle plate 
Section 49 Failure to notify the transfer of a vehicle 
Section 50 Failure to present a Hackney Carriage or Private Hire Vehicle for 

inspection upon request 
Section 50 Failure to inform the Borough Council where a Hackney 

Carriage or Private Hire Vehicle is stored, if requested 
Section 50 Failure to report an accident to the Council within 72 hours 
Section 50 Failure to produce the vehicle licence and insurance upon 

request 
Section 53 Failure to produce a driver’s licence upon request 
Section 54 Failure to wear a private hire driver’s badge 
Section 56 Failure of a Private Hire operator to keep proper records of all 

bookings, or failure to produce them on request of an authorised 
officer of the Borough Council or a Police Officer 

Section 56 Failure of a Private Hire operator to keep records of all Private 
Hire vehicles, or failure to produce them on request of an 
authorised officer of the Borough Council or a Police Officer 

Page 81



  
 

  
 

 P
a

g
e
2

2
 

Section 56 Failure of a Private Hire operator to produce his licence on 
request 

Section 57 Making a false statement or withholding information to obtain a 
Hackney Carriage or Private Hire driver’s licence 

Section 58 Failure to return a plate after notice has been given following 
expiry, revocation, or suspension of a Hackney Carriage or 
Private Hire Vehicle Licence 

Section 61 Failure to surrender a driver’s licence after suspension, 
revocation, or refusal to renew 

Section 64 Permitting any vehicle other than a Hackney Carriage to wait on 
a Hackney Carriage rank 

Section 66 Charging more than the meter fare for a journey outside the 
Borough without prior agreement 

Section 67 Charging more than the meter fare when the Hackney Carriage 
is used as a Private Hire Vehicle. 

Section 69 Unnecessarily prolonging a journey 
Section 71 Interfering with a taximeter with intent to mislead 
Section 73 Obstruction of an authorised officer of the Borough Council or a 

Police Officer 
Section 73 Failure to comply with a requirement an authorised Borough 

Council Officer or Police Officer 
Section 73 Failure to give information or assistance to an authorised 

Borough Council Officer or Police Officer 
 
Disability Discrimination Act 1995 
 
Section 37 Refusal to carry a guide, hearing, or other assistance dog in a 

Hackney Carriage without a valid certificate of exemption 
Section 37 Charging an additional cost for the carrying of an assistance dog 

in a Hackney Carriage 
Section 37 Refusal to carry a guide, hearing, or other assistance dog in a 

Private Hire Vehicle without a valid certificate of exemption 
Section 37 Charging an additional cost for the carrying of an assistance dog 

in a Private Hire Vehicle   
 
Delegated Powers 
 
The Council’s Committee is responsible for the management of the Hackney 
Carriage and Private Hire licensing regime in the Borough. 
 
In addition, the Council’s Chief Executive and the Head of Business 
Improvement, Central Services and Partnerships, both have delegated 
powers which are set out in the Council’s Standing Orders. 
 
When matters concerning public safety arise a decision concerning the 
immediate suspension or revocation of licences can be made by those 
officers prior to consideration of the matters by the Committee. 
 
Licence Fees 
 

Page 82



  
 

  
 

 P
a

g
e
2

3
 

The policy does not include fees as these are subject to the Council’s annual 
budget review process. Current fees can be obtained from the Licensing team 
or via the Council’s website. 
 
When setting the fees for Hackney Carriage and Private Hire licences the 
Council will endeavour to ensure that the costs of the service including the 
cost of issue and administration will, so far as is possible, be on a cost 
recovery basis. 
 
Where a licence is issued and a duplicate or copy is required the Council will 
apply an administrative charge. This charge will reflect the cost to the Council. 
 
Stretch Limousines and Novelty Vehicles 
 
At present the Council do not licence these types of vehicles but it accepts 
that there should be some form of licensing regulation that encompasses 
these vehicles and their drivers and is committed to formulate a policy for 
such vehicles when there exists definitive guidance and best practice. 
 
Partnerships 
 
The Council recognises that partnership working with other regulatory and 
statutory bodies will benefit the effective running of the taxi licensing regime. 
Conversely, a properly administered taxi regime will be beneficial to its 
partners and to the public. To this end, the Council’s Licensing team is 
continuing to develop its effective links with Staffordshire Police, the Border 
and Immigration Service, benefit fraud investigators, HMRC, VOSA, other 
departments within the Council such as Revenues and Benefits, and the 
Council’s neighbouring authorities. 

Page 83



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 84



Classification: NULBC   

Classification: NULBC   

NEWCASTLE UNDER LYME BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

STANDARD CONDITIONS ATTACHED TO A PRIVATE 
HIRE DRIVERS LICENCE 

 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT (MISCELLANEOUS 
PROVISIONS) ACT, 1976 

 
LICENCE COMMENCES: «uwdate2» 
 
LICENCE EXPIRES: «uwdate3» 
 
LICENSEE: «appname» 
 
1. Conduct of Driver 
 
The driver shall:- 
(a) Afford all reasonable assistance with passengers' luggage 
 
(b) At all times be clean and respectable in his dress and person and 
behave in a civil and orderly manner. 
 
(c) Not act to the detriment of any person on account of their gender, 
sexuality, race, religion, physical or mental disability or any other reason. 
 
(d) Take all reasonable steps to ensure the safety of passengers conveyed 
in, entering or alighting from the vehicle driven by him, and in the case of 
children and vulnerable adults travelling alone, shall ensure that they are 
delivered to the care of a responsible Adult. 
 
(e) Not without the express consent of the hirer drink or eat in the vehicle. 
 
(f) Not without the express consent of the hirer, play any radio or sound 
reproducing instrument or equipment in the vehicle other than for the purpose 
of sending or receiving messages in connection with the operation of the 
vehicle. 
 
(g) At no time cause or permit the noise emitted by any radio or other 
previously mentioned equipment in the vehicle which he is driving to be a 
source of nuisance or annoyance to any person, whether inside or outside the 
vehicle. 
 
2. Passengers 
 
The drivers shall:- 
(a) Not convey or permit to be conveyed in a private hire vehicle a greater 
number of persons then that prescribed in the licence for the vehicle. 
 

Page 85



Classification: NULBC   

Classification: NULBC   

(b) Not allow there to be conveyed in the front of a private hire vehicle: 
 (i)  any child below the age of ten years; or 
 (ii) more than one person about that age. 
 
(c) Not without the consent of the hirer of a vehicle convey or permit to be 
conveyed any other person in that vehicle. 
 
3. Written Receipts 
 
The driver shall, if requested by the hirer of a private vehicle, provide him with 
a written receipt for the fare paid. 
 
4. Lost Property 
 
(a) The driver shall immediately after the termination of any hiring of a 
private vehicle or as soon as practicable thereafter, carefully search the 
vehicle for any property which may have been accidentally left there. 
 
(b) If any property accidentally left in a private hire vehicle by any person 
who may have been conveyed therein is found by or handed to the driver, the 
driver shall carry it within 24 hours, if not sooner claimed by or on behalf of its 
owner, to the office of the Council and leave it in the custody of the officer in 
charge of the Licensing Section in the Legal and Democratic Division on his 
giving a receipt for it. 
 
5. Animals 
 
The drivers shall not convey in a private hire vehicle any animal belonging to 
or in the custody of himself or the proprietor or operator of the vehicle and any 
animal belonging to or in the custody of any passenger which in the driver's 
discretion may be conveyed in the vehicle shall only be conveyed in the rear 
of the vehicle. 
 

Guide Dogs and Assistance dogs 
 

a) The driver shall carry a guide dog, or assistance dog, belonging to a 
passenger free of charge unless the driver has a proven medical 
condition that would preclude him/her from doing so. 

b) The driver shall produce to the Council a medical certificate signed by 
his/her general medical practitioner to prove such a medical condition 
on application for a private hire driver licence, or if he/she develops 
such a medical condition after the grant of a licence as soon as he/she 
is aware of it. 

c) The driver shall also make his/her operator aware of any such medical 
condition at the time of commencement of working for that Operator, or 
as soon as he/she is aware of such a medical condition, whichever is 
the earlier. 

d) ‘’Guide dog’’ means a dog which assists a person with a sight 
impairment. 

Page 86



Classification: NULBC   

Classification: NULBC   

e) ‘’Assistance dog’’ means a dog which assists a person with a hearing 
or other impairment.  

 
6. Prompt Attendance 
 
The driver of a private hire vehicle shall, if he is aware that the vehicle has 
been hired to be in attendance at an appointed time and place or he has 
otherwise been instructed by the operator or proprietor of the vehicle to be in 
attendance at an appointed time and place, punctually attend at that 
appointed time and place, unless delayed or prevented by sufficient cause. 
 
7. Copy of Conditions 
 
The driver shall, at all times when driving a private hire vehicle, carry with him 
a copy of these conditions and shall make it available for inspection by the 
hirer or any other passenger on request. 
 
8. Deposit of Licence 
If the driver is permitted or employed to drive a private hire vehicle in which 
the proprietor is someone other than himself, he shall before commencing to 
drive that vehicle, deposit this licence with that proprietor for retention by him 
until such time as the driver ceases to be permitted or employed to drive the 
vehicle or any other vehicle of his. 
 
9. Taximeter 
 
If a private hire vehicle being driven by the driver is fitted with a taximeter, the 
driver shall not cause the fare recorded thereon to be cancelled or concealed 
until the hirer has had a reasonable opportunity of examining it and has paid 
the fare (unless credit is to be given). 
 
10. Fare to be Demanded 
 
The driver shall not demand from any hirer of a private hire vehicle a fare in 
excess of any previously agreed for that hiring between the hirer and the 
operator or, if the vehicle is fitted with a taximeter and there has been no 
previous agreement as to the fare, the fare shown on the face of the 
taximeter. 
 
11. Change of Address 
 
The driver shall notify the Council in writing of any change of his address 
during the period of the licence within seven days of such change taking 
place. 
 
12. Convictions 
 
The driver shall, within seven days, disclose to the Council in writing details of 
any convictions imposed on him during the period of the licence. 
 

Page 87



Classification: NULBC   

Classification: NULBC   

13. Return of Badge 
 
The driver, shall upon the expiry (without immediate renewal), revocation or 
suspension of this licence forthwith return to the  Council the driver's badge 
issued to him by the Council when granting this licence. 
 
NOTE: 
 
Your attention is also drawn to the Local Government (Miscellaneous 
Provisions) Act 1976 which regulates Private Hire, you should be aware 
of all offences created by the Act. 
 
 
 

Page 88



Classification: NULBC   

Classification: NULBC   

STANDARD CONDITIONS ATTACHED TO A  
HACKNEY CARRIAGE DRIVERS LICENCE 

 
LOCAL GOVERNMENT (MISCELLANEOUS 

PROVISIONS) ACT, 1976 
 

LICENCE COMMENCES: «uwdate2» 
 
LICENCE EXPIRES: «uwdate3» 
 
LICENSEE: «appname» 

 
 
Conduct of Driver 
 
The driver shall:- 
 
Afford all reasonable assistance with passengers’ luggage 

At all times be clean and respectable in his dress and person and behave in a 
civil and orderly manner. 

Take all reasonable steps to ensure the safety of passengers conveyed in, 
entering or alighting from the vehicle driven by him. 

Not without the express consent of the hirer drink or eat in the vehicle. 

Not without the express consent of the hirer play any radio or sound 
reproducing instrument or equipment in the vehicle other than for the purpose 
of sending or receiving messages in connection with the operation of the 
vehicle. 

At no time cause or permit the noise emitted by any radio or other previously 
mentioned equipment in the vehicle which he is driving to be a source of 
nuisance or annoyance to any person, whether inside or outside the vehicle. 
 
Passengers 
 
The driver shall not convey or permit to be conveyed in a hackney carriage a 
greater number of persons than that prescribed in the licence for the vehicle, 
provided however that for this purpose two children below the age of ten 
years may be counted as one person insofar as the rear seating only is 
concerned. 

The driver shall not allow there to be conveyed in the front of a hackney 
carriage:- 

(i) any child below the age of ten years; or 

(ii)      more than one person above that age. 

Page 89



Classification: NULBC   

Classification: NULBC   

The driver shall ensure that, with the exception of any statutory exemptions, 
any child under the age of 14 years in the rear of the vehicle wears a seat 
belt.  It is an offence for a person without reasonable excuse to drive a vehicle 
on a road unless the child is wearing a seat belt in conformity with the 
regulations. 

The driver shall not without the consent of the hirer of a vehicle convey or 
permit to be conveyed any other person in that vehicle. 
 
Guide Dogs and Assistance Dogs 
 
(a) The driver shall carry a guide dog, or assistance dog, belonging to a 
passenger free of charge unless the driver has a proven medical condition 
that would preclude him/her from doing so. 
 
(b) The driver shall produce to the Council a Medical Certificate signed by 
his General Medical practitioner, to prove such a medical condition, on his 
application for a private hire driver licence, or if he/she develops such a 
medical condition after the grant of a licence as soon as he/she is aware of it. 
 
(c) The driver shall also make his/her Operator aware of any such medical 
condition at the time of commencement of working for that Operator, or as 
soon as he/she is aware of such a medical condition, whichever is the earlier. 
 
(d) “Guide dog” means a dog, which assists a person with a sight 
impairment. 
 
(e) “Assistance dog” means dog which assists a person with a hearing or 
other impairment. 
 
Written Receipts 
 
Upon request the driver of a hackney carriage shall, upon being required to do 
so by a hirer, issue a receipt in respect of fares charged for hiring and a notice 
informing hirers of this facility shall be displayed in the interior of the hackney 
carriage in such position and manner that the same shall be clearly legible to 
persons being conveyed therein. 
 
Lost Property 
 
The driver shall immediately after the termination of any hiring of a hackney 
carriage or as soon as practicable thereafter carefully search the vehicle for 
any property which may have been accidentally left there. 
 
If any property accidentally left in a hackney carriage by any person who may 
have been conveyed therein is found by or handed to the driver, the driver 
shall carry it within 24 hours, if not sooner claimed by or on behalf of its 
owner, to the office of the Council and leave it in the custody of the Officer in 
Charge of the Licensing Section in the Legal and Democratic Division on his 
giving a receipt for it. 

Page 90



Classification: NULBC   

Classification: NULBC   

 
Animals 
 
The driver shall not convey in a hackney carriage any animal belonging to or 
in the custody of himself or the proprietor or operator of the vehicle and any 
animal belonging to or in the custody of any passenger which in the driver’s 
discretion may be conveyed in the vehicle shall only be conveyed in the rear 
of the vehicle. 
 
Prompt Attendance 
 
The driver of a hackney carriage shall, if he is aware that the vehicle has been 
hired to be in attendance at an appointed time and place, punctually attend at 
that appointed time and place unless delayed or prevented by sufficient 
cause. 
 
Copy of Conditions 
 
The driver shall at all times when driving a hackney carriage carry with him a 
copy of these conditions and shall make it available for inspection by the hirer 
or any other passenger on request. 
 
Deposit of Licence 
 
If the driver is permitted or employed to drive a hackney carriage of which the 
proprietor is someone other than himself, he shall before commencing to drive 
that vehicle deposit this licence with that proprietor for retention by him until 
such time as the driver ceases to be permitted or employed to drive the 
vehicle or any other vehicle of his. 
 
Taximeter 
 
(a) The driver shall not cause the fare recorded on the taximeter to be 
cancelled or concealed until the hirer has had a reasonable opportunity of 
examining it and has paid the fare (unless credit is to be given). 
 
(b) The driver shall not demand from any hirer of a hackney carriage a fare 
in excess of any previously agreed for that hiring or the fare shown on the 
face of the taximeter. 
 
Fare to be demanded 
 
A hackney carriage shall not be used in the Borough of Newcastle-under-
Lyme under a Contract or purported Contract for private hire except at a rate 
of fares or charges not greater than those prescribed in accordance with the 
provisions of Part 2 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 
1976 if any or otherwise prescribed in accordance with bye-laws made for that 
purpose under the Town Police Clauses Act 1847 and when the hackney 
carriage is so used the fare or charge shall be calculated from the point in the 
Borough of Newcastle-under-Lyme at which the hirer commences his journey. 

Page 91



Classification: NULBC   

Classification: NULBC   

 
Change of Address 
 
The driver shall notify the Council in writing of any change of his address 
during the period of the licence within seven days of such change taking 
place. 
 
Convictions 
 
The driver shall, within seven days, disclose to the Council in writing details of 
any conviction imposed on him during the period of the licence. 
 
Return of Badge 
 
The driver, shall upon the expiry (without immediate renewal), revocation or 
suspension of this licence forthwith return to the Council the driver’s badge 
issued to him by the Council when granting this licence. 
 
Use as a Hackney Carriage 
 
The driver shall use his/her best endeavours to secure that a vehicle be used 
as a hackney carriage to stand and ply for hire within the district and for no 
other purpose. 
 
The Borough Council may vary all or any of the conditions herein contained at 
any time. 
 
 

Page 92



leged/ph&hackney/convictionguidelines 1 

 
 
 

GUIDELINES RELATING TO THE RELEVANCE OF CONVICTIONS FOR APPLICANTS 
FOR THE GRANT AND RENEWAL OF LICENCES TO DRIVE HACKNEY CARRIAGES 

AND PRIVATE HIRE VEHICLES 
 
 
GENERAL POLICY 
 
1. Each case will be decided on its own merits 
 
2. The Council will, as far as is possible, ensure that all persons holding a licence to 

drive Hackney Carriages or private hire vehicles are fit and proper persons.  In doing 
so, the Council will take into account previous convictions including, where relevant, 
‘spent’ convictions. 

 
3. The Council will always put the protection of the public first when considering the 

relevance of convictions recorded against an applicant for a licence. 
 
4. A person with a conviction for serious crime need not be permanently barred from 

obtaining a licence but will be expected to remain free of conviction for an 
appropriate period, before an application is considered.  However, remaining free of 
conviction for a specified period may not be sufficient to show that a person is fit and 
proper and additional evidence may be required. 

 
5. There may be occasions where it is appropriate to depart from the guidelines when 

making a decision on an application.  For example, where the offence is a one-off 
and there are mitigating circumstances or alternately, where there are many or 
continuous offences which may show a pattern of offending and unfitness. 

 
6. The following examples give a general guide as to the action that might be taken 

where convictions are recorded against an applicant. 
 

(a) Dishonesty 
 
Members of the public using Hackney Carriages and private hire vehicles 
expect the driver to be honest and trustworthy.  It would be easy for a 
dishonest driver to take advantage of the public. 
 
For these reasons, a serious view will be taken of any conviction involving 
dishonesty.  In general, if an application is made within the first 3 to 5 years 
from the date of a conviction or from the date of release from jail where a 
custodial sentence has been imposed, it is likely that it will be refused. 
 
Where an application is made within the first three years since the conviction 
or the date of release from jail, where a custodial sentence has been 

Page 93



leged/ph&hackney/convictionguidelines 2 

imposed, for any of the following offences, the application will normally be 
refused:- 
 

• Theft 

• Burglary 

• Fraud 

• Benefit fraud (including offences under ss11A and 112 of the Social 
Security Administration Act 1992 

• Blackmail 

• Handling or receiving stolen goods 

• Forgery 

• Conspiracy to defraud 

• Obtaining money or property by deception 

• Other deception 

• Or similar offences to those above which may replace any of the 
above offences 

 
When a period of three years from conviction or the date of release from jail, 
where a custodial sentence has been imposed has passed, consideration will 
be given to the circumstances of the offence and any evidence to show that 
an applicant is a fit and proper person to hold a licence. 
 

(b) Violence 
 
As Hackney Carriage and private hire vehicle drivers maintain close contact 
with the public, a firm line will be taken with applicants who have convictions 
for violence.  Where the commission of an offence involves loss of life, a 
licence will normally be refused.  In other cases, a period of three to ten years 
free of conviction from the date of conviction or the date of release from jail, 
where a custodial sentence has been imposed will generally be required 
before an application is likely to be considered favourably.  The nature and 
seriousness of the offence(s) will be taken into consideration. 
 
In particular:- 
 
(i) An application will normally be refused where the applicant has a 

conviction for an offence of:- 
 

• Murder 

• Manslaughter 

• Manslaughter or culpable homicide while driving 

• Or similar offence or offences which replace the above 
offences 

 
(ii) An application will normally be refused for a period of five years from 

the date of the conviction or the date of release from jail, where a 
custodial sentence has been imposed if the applicant has a conviction 
for:- 
 

• Arson 

• Malicious wounding or grievous bodily harm which is racially 
aggravated 

• Assault occasioning actual bodily harm which is racially 
aggravated 

Page 94



leged/ph&hackney/convictionguidelines 3 

• Assault with intent to cause grievous bodily harm 

• Assaulting a police office in the execution of his duties 

• Malicious wounding 

• Robbery 

• Racially aggravated criminal damage 

• Racially aggravated fear or provocation of violence 

• Racially aggravated intentional harassment, alarm or distress 

• Racially aggravated harassment 

• Racially aggravated putting people in fear of violence 

• Riot 

• Possession of an offensive weapon 

• Possession of a firearm 

• Violent disorder 

• Or any arrestable offence involving violence (an arrestable 
offence is defined as an offence committed by a person of age 
21 years or over and on conviction for the first offence may be 
sentenced to a term of imprisonment of five years or where the 
penalty is fixed by law) 

 
(iii) An application will normally be refused for a period of three years from 

the date of conviction or the date of release from jail, where a 
custodial sentence has been imposed, where the applicant has a 
conviction for:- 
 

• Common assault 

• Racially aggravated common assault 

• Assault occasioning actual bodily harm 

• Affray 

• Racially aggravated harassment, alarm or distress 

• Resisting arrest 

• Obstructing a police officer in the execution of his duty 

• Criminal damage 

• Any similar offence or offences which replace the above 
offences 

 
(c) Drugs 

 
An application will normally be refused if an applicant has a conviction for an 
offence that relates to the supply or importation of drugs and the date of the 
conviction or the date of release from jail, where a custodial sentence has 
been imposed, is less than five to ten years before the date of the application.  
However, after five years from the date of such a conviction or the date of 
release from jail, where a custodial sentence has been imposed, the 
circumstances of the offence and any evidence which shows that a person is 
now a fit and proper person to hold a licence will be taken into consideration. 
 
An application will normally be refused where the application is made within 
three to five years from the date of a conviction or the date of release from 
jail, where a custodial sentence has been imposed for an offence relating to 
the possession of drugs.  However, after a period of three years from the date 
of such a conviction or the date of release from jail, where a custodial 
sentence has been imposed, consideration will be given to the circumstances 

Page 95



leged/ph&hackney/convictionguidelines 4 

of the offence and any evidence to show that an applicant is a fit and proper 
person to hold a licence. 
 
An application will normally be refused where an applicant has more that one 
conviction for offences related to the possession of drugs and the last 
conviction or the date of release from jail, where a custodial sentence has 
been imposed, is less than five years before the date of the application. 
 
Where evidence is available that an applicant who has convictions for drug 
related offences has been addicted to drugs, they will have to produce 
evidence that shows that they have been free of drug taking for at least five 
years after successfully completing a drug treatment programme. 
 

(d) Sexual and Indecency Offences  
 
As the driver of Hackney Carriages and private hire vehicles often carry 
passengers who are alone, or may be vulnerable, applicants who have 
convictions for rape. indecent assault, any sexual offence involving children 
and any conviction for an offence under the Sexual Offences Act 2003 will 
normally be refused a licence. 
 
Where an applicant has a conviction for a sexual offence such as indecent 
exposure, they will normally be refused a licence until they can show a 
substantial period usually between five and ten years free of any such 
convictions from the date of conviction or the date of release from jail where a 
custodial sentence has been imposed before an application is made. 
 
After a period of five years from the date of a conviction or the date of release 
from jail, where a custodial sentence has been imposed, consideration will be 
given to the circumstances of the offence and any evidence to show that an 
applicant is a fit and proper person to hold a licence. 
 
When considering applications, the Council may take into account any 
information of a sexual nature which does not amount to a criminal offence 
that is brought to its attention where that information may indicate that an 
applicant may not be a fit and proper person to hold a licence. 
 

(e) Motoring Convictions 
 
(i) Disqualification 

 
Where an applicant had been disqualified from driving by the Courts 
for a serious traffic offence under Category ‘A’ of Annex (i), an 
application will generally be refused unless a period of five years free 
of conviction has passed since the return of the DVLA licence. 
 
Where an applicant has been disqualified from driving by the Courts 
for a serious traffic offence under Category ‘B’ of Annex (i), an 
application will generally be refused unless a period of five years free 
of conviction has passed since the return of the DVLA licence unless 
the offence was an isolated one, in which case, a period of not less 
than 2 years shall have passed. 
 
Where a disqualification is imposed by a court in a ‘totting-up’ case, 
i.e. where an applicant has been disqualified because of several 

Page 96



leged/ph&hackney/convictionguidelines 5 

driving offences, an application will generally be refused unless a 
period of one year free of conviction has elapsed since the return of 
the DVLA driver licence. 
 
In ‘totting-up’ cases where a court does not impose a disqualification 
because of exceptional circumstances, then because the Council 
apply different criteria to the courts, an application will generally be 
refused unless an applicant can show a period of 1 year free of 
conviction from the date of the last court appearance. 
 

(ii) Serious Traffic Offences 
 
Where an applicant has a conviction for a serious traffic offence in 
Category ‘A’ Annex (i) and a period of disqualification has not been 
imposed by the courts, an application will normally be refused where 
an application is made in the last five years following the date of the 
last conviction. 
 
Where an applicant has a conviction for a serious traffic offence in 
Category ‘B’ Annex (i) and a period of disqualification has not been 
imposed by the courts, an application will normally be refused where 
an application is made in the last five years following the date of the 
last conviction unless the offence was an isolated one. 
 
Where an applicant has had more than one conviction for a serious 
traffic offence in either Category ‘A’ or ‘B’ of Annex (i) and the courts 
have not imposed a period of disqualification, an application will 
normally be refused where an application is made in five years 
following the date of the last conviction. 
 

(iii) Other Traffic Offences 
 
Normally, isolated convictions for other traffic offences should not 
prevent someone obtaining a licence.  However, the number, type and 
the frequency of these types of offence will be taken into account.  If 
there are several convictions for these types of offence, an applicant 
will normally be expected not to have been convicted of an offence in 
the six months before an application is made. 
 
A list of relevant offences is shown at Annex (ii).  However, this is not 
an exhaustive list and there may be other offences which may be 
relevant. 
 

(f) Offences Under the Town Police Clauses Acts and Part II of the Local 
Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 and any Hackney 
Carriage Byelaws (The Acts) 
 
One of the main purposes of the licensing regime set out in ‘The Acts’ is to 
ensure the protection of the public.  For this reason, a serious view will be 
taken of convictions for offences under the legislation, particularly offences of 
illegal plying for hire, when deciding if a person is a fit and proper person to 
hold a licence. 
 

Page 97



leged/ph&hackney/convictionguidelines 6 

In particular, an application will normally be refused where an applicant has 
more than one conviction for an offence under ‘The Acts’ in the two years 
preceding the date of the application. 
 

(g) Drunkenness 
 
(i) In a Motor Vehicle 

 
The manner in which drunkenness in a motor vehicle will be dealt with 
is outlined in Motoring Offences at paragraph ‘e’ of these guidelines. 
 

(ii) Not in a Motor Vehicle 
 
Where an applicant has an isolated conviction for drunkenness, this 
need not stop an applicant from getting a licence.  In some cases, a 
warning may be appropriate.  However, where an applicant has a 
number of convictions for drunkenness, it could indicate a medical 
problem, which would require further investigation including a medical 
examination and the possible refusal of a licence. 
 

(h) Spent Convictions 
 
The Council will only take ‘Spent Convictions’ into consideration if it is 
considered they are relevant to the application. 
 

(i) Formal Cautions and Fixed Penalty Notices 
 
For the purposes of these guidelines, the Council will treat Formal Cautions 
issued in accordance with Home Office guidance and fixed penalty notices as 
though they were a conviction before the courts. 
 
 
 

Page 98



leged/ph&hackney/convictionguidelines 7 

ANNEX (i) 
 

SERIOUS TRAFFIC OFFENCES 
 
 

CATEGORY ‘A’ 

Offence Code Offence 

 Careless Driving 

CD40 Causing death through careless driving when unfit through drink 

CD50 Causing death through careless driving when unfit through drugs 

CD60 Causing death through careless driving with alcohol level above the limit 

CD70 Causing death through careless driving then failing to supply a specimen 
for analysis 

  

 Reckless/Dangerous Driving 

DD40 Dangerous driving 

DD60 Manslaughter or culpable homicide while driving a vehicle 

DD80 Causing death by dangerous driving 

  

 Miscellaneous Offences 

MS50 Motor racing on a highway 

  

 Theft and Unauthorised Taking 

UT50 Aggravated taking of a vehicle 

  

 
 
PLEASE NOTE: 
 
Any offence of aiding, abetting or procuring the above offences, the offence code will have the 0 
replaced by a 2. 
 
Any offence of causing or permitting the above the offences, the offence code will have the 0 
replaced by a 4. 
 
Inciting any of the above offences, the offence code will have the 0 replaced by a 6. 
 

Page 99



leged/ph&hackney/convictionguidelines 8 

CATEGORY ‘B’ 

Offence Code Offence 

 Accident Offences 

AC10 Failing to stop after an accident 

AC20 Failing to give particulars or report an accident within 24 hours 

BA10 Driving whilst disqualified by order of the court 

BA30 Attempting to drive whilst disqualified by order of the court 

  

 Careless Driving 

CD10 Driving without due care and attention 

CD20 Driving without reasonable consideration for other road users 

CD30 Driving without due care and attention or without reasonable consideration 
for other road users 

  

 Construction and Use Offences 

CU10 Using a vehicle with defective brakes 

CU20 Causing or likely to cause danger by use of unsuitable vehicle or using a 
vehicle with parts or accessories (excluding brakes, steering or tyres) in a 
dangerous condition 

CU30 Using a vehicle with defective tyre(s) 

CU40 Using a vehicle with defective steering 

CU50 Causing or likely to cause danger by reason of load or passengers 

  

 Drink or Drugs 

DR10 Driving or attempting to drive with alcohol level above limit 

DR20 Driving or attempting to drive while unfit through drink 

DR30 Driving or attempting to drive then failing to supply a specimen for analysis 

DR40 In charge of a vehicle while alcohol above limit 

DR50 In charge of a vehicle while unfit through drink 

DR60 Failure to provide specimen for analysis in circumstances other than 
driving or attempting to drive when unfit through drugs 

DR70 Failing to provide a specimen for breath test 

DR80 Driving or attempting to drive when unfit through drugs 

DR90 In charge of a vehicle while unfit through drugs 

  

 Insurance Offences 

IN10 Using a vehicle uninsured against third party risks 

  

 Licence Offences 

LC30 Driving after making a false declaration about fitness when applying for a 
licence 

LC40 Driving a vehicle after having failed to notify a disability 

  

 Miscellaneous Offences 

MS70 Driving with uncorrected defective eyesight 

 
 
 

Page 100



leged/ph&hackney/convictionguidelines 9 

PLEASE NOTE: 
 
Any offence of aiding, abetting or procuring the above offences, the offence code will have the 0 
replaced by a 2. 
 
Any offence of causing or permitting the above the offences, the offence code will have the 0 
replaced by a 4. 
 
Inciting any of the above offences, the offence code will have the 0 replaced by a 6. 
 
If any of the offences in Category ‘B’ involve a licensed Hackney Carriage or private hire vehicle, 
they will be treated as though they are a Category ‘A’ offence. 
 
 
 

Page 101



leged/ph&hackney/convictionguidelines 10 

ANNEX (ii) 
 

OTHER TRAFFIC OFFENCES 
 
 

Offence Code Offence 

LC20 Driving otherwise than in accordance with a licence 

LC50 Driving after a licence has been revoked or refused on medical grounds 

  

MS10 Leaving a vehicle in a dangerous position 

MS20 Unlawful pillion riding 

MS30 Play street offences 

MS60 Offences not covered by other codes 

MS80 Refusing to submit to an eyesight test 

MS90 Failure to give information as to identity of driver etc 

  

MW10 Contravention of Special Road Regulations (excluding speed limits) 

  

PC10 Undefined contravention of Pedestrian Crossing Regulations 

PC20 Contravention of Pedestrian Crossing Regulations with a moving vehicle 

PC30 Contravention of Pedestrian Crossing Regulations with a stationery vehicle 

  

SP10 Exceeding goods vehicle speed limits 

SP20 Exceeding speed limit for type of vehicle (excluding goods or passenger 
vehicles) 

SP30 Exceeding statutory speed limit on a public road  

SP40 Exceeding passenger vehicle speed limit 

SP50 Exceeding speed limit on a motorway 

SP60 Undefined speed limit offence 

  

TS10 Failing to comply with traffic light signals 

TS20 Failing to comply with double white lines 

TS30 Failing to comply with ‘stop’ sign 

TS40 Failing to comply with direction of a constable/warden 

TS50 Failing to comply with traffic sign (excluding stop signs, traffic lights or double 
while lines) 

TS60 Failing to comply with a school crossing patrol sign 

TS70 Undefined failure to comply with a traffic direction sign 

 

Page 102



leged/ph&hackney/convictionguidelines 11 

 
PLEASE NOTE: 
 
Any offence of aiding, abetting or procuring the above offences, the offence code will have the 0 
replaced by a 2. 
 
Any offence of causing or permitting the above the offences, the offence code will have the 0 
replaced by a 4. 
 
Inciting any of the above offences, the offence code will have the 0 replaced by a 6. 
 
If any of the offences in Category ‘B’ involve a licensed Hackney Carriage or private hire vehicle, 
they will be treated as though they are a Category ‘B’ offence under Annex (ii). 
 

Page 103



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 104



Classification: NULBC   

Classification: NULBC   

BOROUGH OF NEWCASTLE-UNDER-LYME 
 

STANDARD CONDITIONS ATTACHED TO A HACKNEY 
CARRIAGE VEHICLE LICENCE 

 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT (MISCELLANEOUS 
PROVISIONS) ACT, 1976, TOWN POLICE CLAUSES 

ACT 1847 
 
 
LICENCE COMMENCES: «uwdate2» 
 
LICENCE EXPIRES: «uwdate3» 
 
LICENSEE: «appname» 

 
1. All vehicles licensed as Hackney Carriage shall be painted black with 

addition of a 4” horizontal white strip running the length of the 
vehicle on each side. 

2. The vehicle and all its fittings and equipment shall at all times when the 
vehicle is in use or available for hire, be kept in an efficient, safe, tidy 
and clean condition and all relevant statutory requirements (including in 
particular those contained on Motor Vehicles (Construction and Use) 
Regulations, shall be fully complied with. 

3. All Hackney Carriages shall be fitted with an illuminated roof sign 
bearing the single word “Taxi” in black letters on a white background 
and  bear no other distinguishing marks whatsoever except for; the 
licence number displayed on the inside of the vehicle; the licence plate 
attached to the outside of the vehicle and, at the discretion of the 
proprietor, signs incorporating the name and telephone number of the 
proprietor or firms composed of white lettering of not more than two 
inches in height with appropriate spacing, which may be displayed on 
the two front doors of the vehicle only. 

4. Advertising.  The advertising of local business shall be permitted.  Such 
advertisements shall only be on the rear doors and windows of 
Hackney Carriage Vehicles and shall be of a size not exceeding 20” x 
30” and shall be white with block letters.  Coloured lettering may be 
permitted but only of the name of the business.  All advertisements are 
subject to prior approval by the Democratic Services Manager. 

5. The number of the licence shall be legibly displayed on the inside of 
the vehicle in such a manner and in such place that the particulars 
thereof are clearly visible to any passenger being carried in the vehicle. 

Page 105



Classification: NULBC   

Classification: NULBC   

6. The licence plate shall be fixed and displayed outside at the rear front 
of the vehicle either immediately above or below the bumper but so 
that the vehicle registration number is not obscured and so that the 
particulars thereon are clearly visible by daylight from the road at the 
rear of the vehicle. 

7. The licence plate shall remain the property of the Council and shall be 
returned to the Council; 

a. Within 14 days of the date of transfer of the licensed vehicle; 
and 

b. Within 7 days after the service of an appropriate notice by the 
Democratic Services Manager in the event of the Hackney 
Carriage Licence ceasing to be in force in respect of the vehicle 
on the licence being suspended. 

8. The owner of a Hackney Carriage shall report to the Council’s 
Licensing Section as soon as reasonably practicable, and in any case 
within 72 hours of the occurrence of any accident to such Hackney 
Carriage causing damage affecting the safety, performance or 
appearance of the Hackney Carriage or the comfort or convenience of 
persons carried therein. 

9. Before the vehicle is used as a Hackney Carriage such insurances or 
securities as are required under Part VI of the Road Traffic Act, 1988 
shall be obtained in respect of the vehicle and the owner of the vehicle 
shall at all times during the currency of the licence keep in force in 
relation to the user of the vehicle such insurances or securities and the 
certificate in respect of the policy of insurance or security shall be 
produced to the Council’s Secretary for inspection when requested by 
him. 

10. A Hackney Carriage shall not be used in the Borough of Newcastle-
under-Lyme under a Contract or purported Contract for private hire 
except at a rate of fares or charges not greater than those prescribed in 
accordance with the provisions of Part 2 of the Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 if any or otherwise prescribed in 
accordance with bye-laws made for that purpose under the Town 
Police Clauses Act 1847 and when the Hackney Carriage is so used 
for the fare or charge shall be calculated from the point in the Borough 
of Newcastle-under-Lyme at which the hirer commences his journey. 

11. If the owner of a Hackney Carriage vehicle licence granted by the 
Borough Council transfers his interest in that Hackney Carriage to a 
person other than the owner whose name is specified in the licence, he 
shall within 14 days after that transfer give notice in writing to the 
Democratic Services Manager of the Council specifying the name and 
address of the person to whom the Hackney Carriage has been 
transferred. 

Page 106



Classification: NULBC   

Classification: NULBC   

12. The owner shall permit an authorised Officer of the Council or a Police 
Officer to inspect and test a vehicle or any taximeter affixed to such 
vehicle at all reasonable times.  If the Borough Council is not satisfied 
as to the fitness of the Hackney Carriage or as to the accuracy of the 
taximeter he shall give notice in writing to the owner to make the 
Hackney Carriage or taximeter available for further inspection and 
testing at such reasonable times and place as specified in the notice.  If 
further inspection and testing is required the Hackney Carriage Vehicle 
licence may be suspended until such time as the Officer is satisfied 
with the vehicle or with the accuracy of the taximeter.  Provided that if 
the Officer is not so satisfied within a period of 2 months the said 
licence shall be revoked.  The licence plate shall on suspension of the 
licence be handed forthwith to the Officer but will be returned upon 
reinstatement of the licence. 

13. Without prejudice to the aforementioned provisions the owner of a 
Hackney Carriage on receipt of a notice in writing from the Democratic 
Services Manager of the Council shall present the Hackney Carriage 
for inspection and testing by or on behalf of the Council within such 
period and at such place within the area of the Council as is specified 
in the said notice provided that a owner shall not be required to present 
the same Hackney Carriage for inspection and testing on more than 
three separate occasions during any one period of 12 months. 

14. The owner of a Hackney Carriage shall on receipt of a notice from the 
Council’s Democratic Services Manager provide in writing the address 
of every place where the vehicle is kept when not in use, and if 
required by the Council, shall make the vehicle to be inspected and 
tested at those addresses. 

15. Upon request, the owner or driver of a Hackney Carriage shall, upon 
request by a hirer, issue a receipt in respect of fares charged, and a 
notice informing hirers of this facility shall be displayed in the interior of 
the Hackney Carriage in such position and manner that shall be clearly 
legible to persons being conveyed. 

16. The owner of a Hackney Carriage shall not cause or suffer or permit to 
be conveyed in the vehicle a greater number of persons exclusive of 
the driver than the number of persons specified in the licence provided. 

17. The owner of a Hackney Carriage shall cause provide certain the 
vehicle a fire extinguisher of type approved by the manufacturers and 
British Standards Institute as suitable for use in motor vehicles, such 
fire extinguisher to be fixed in or about the vehicle in such manner and 
in such a position as to be readily available for use the fire extinguisher 
to be maintained in good and efficient working order at all times.  In 
addition a first-aid kit containing such first-aid dressings and appliances 
as are specified by the Council and such equipment to be carried in 
such a position in the vehicle as to be readily visible and available for 
immediate use. 

Page 107



Classification: NULBC   

Classification: NULBC   

18. The owner of a Hackney Carriage shall cause the current “table of 
fares” fixed by the Council to be exhibited inside the Hackney Carriage 
by clearly distinguishable letters and figures in such position that it can 
be conveniently seen by persons being conveyed in the Hackney 
Carriage. 

19. The owner shall produce this licence upon request to any Officer 
authorised in that behalf by the Democratic Services Manager of the 
Council or any Police Constable for inspection. 

20. If the owner permits or employs any other person to drive the vehicle 
as a hackney carriage he shall before that person commences to drive 
the vehicle cause the driver to deliver to him his hackney carriage 
drivers’ licence for retention until such time as the driver ceases to be 
permitted or employed to drive the vehicle or any other vehicle of his. 

NOTE: 

It is an offence for a person to drive a hackney carriage whether or not 
it is plying for hire unless the driver has been granted a hackney 
carriage drivers licence. 

21. The owner of a hackney carriage shall use his/her best endeavours to 
secure that the vehicle shall only be used as a hackney carriage to 
stand and ply for hire within the district and for no other purpose. 

22. All vehicles licensed as a hackney carriage, with the exception of any 
statutory exemptions, shall have rear seat belts fitted.  Under the Road 
Traffic Act 1988, any child under the age of 14 years in the rear of such 
a vehicle must wear a seat belt and it is an offence under the Act for a 
person without reasonable excuse to drive the vehicle on a road unless 
the child is wearing a seat belt in conformity with the regulations. 

23. The Borough Council may at any time vary, add to, or delete any of the 
conditions attached to a Hackney Carriage Licence. 

 

Page 108



Classification: NULBC   

Classification: NULBC   

BOROUGH OF NEWCASTLE-UNDER-LYME 

 

STANDARD CONDITIONS ATTACHED TO A PRIVATE 
HIRE VEHICLE LICENCE 

 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT (MISCELLANEOUS 
PROVISIONS) ACT, 1976 

 
LICENCE COMMENCES: «uwdate2» 
 
LICENCE EXPIRES: «uwdate3» 
 
LICENSEE: «appname» 

 

 

1. MAINTENANCE OF VEHICLE 
 
The vehicle and all its fittings and equipment shall at all times when the 
vehicle is in use or available for hire be kept in an efficient, safe, tidy 
and clean condition and all relevant statutory requirements (including in 
particular those contained in Motor Vehicles (Construction and Use) 
Regulations) shall be fully complied with. 
 

2. ALTERATION OF VEHICLE 
 
No material alteration or change in the specification, design, condition 
or appearance of the vehicle shall be made without the approval of the 
Council at any time while the licence is in force. 
 

3. IDENTIFICATION PLATE 
 
(1)  The plate identifying the vehicle as a private hire vehicle and 
bearing the number corresponding with the number of the licence 
issued under Section 48 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous 
Provisions) Act, 1976 authorising the vehicle to be used as a private 
hire vehicle within the district shall be fixed and displayed outside and 
on the rear of the vehicle either immediately above or below the 
bumper in such a position as not to obscure the vehicle's registration 
mark, with the particulars thereon facing outwards and in such manner 
and place that the plate is clearly visible by daylight from the road at 
the rear of the vehicle and is easily removable by an authorised officer 
of the Council or a Police Constable. 
 
(2)  The licence plate shall remain the property of the Council.  If the 
proprietor transfers his interest in the vehicle to a person other than the 
proprietor whose name is specified in the licence or if the proprietor 
ceases to hold the licence he shall within seven days of the transfer, or 
of ceasing to hold the licence return the plate to the Council at its 

Page 109



Classification: NULBC   

Classification: NULBC   

principal office.  This is in addition to such requirement being exercised 
by the Council if the licence should be revoked or suspended. 
 

4. INTERIOR MARKINGS 
 
The proprietor shall cause to be clearly displayed and maintained 
inside the vehicle in such a position as to be visible at all times to 
persons conveyed therein the number of this licence and the number of 
passengers prescribed in this licence. 
 

5. SAFETY EQUIPMENT 
 
There shall be provided and maintained in the vehicle by the proprietor 
at all times when the vehicle is in use or available for hire a fire 
extinguisher of a make and type approved by the Council such fire 
extinguisher to be maintained in good working order at all times, and 
also a first aid kit containing such first aid dressings and appliances as 
are specified by the Council such equipment to be carried in such a 
position in the vehicle as to be readily visible and available for 
immediate use. 
 

6. SIGNS, NOTICES ETC. 
 
(a) There shall be attached to the vehicle adhesive signs provided 

by the Council with the words Private Hire – Pre Booked 
Journeys Only. 

 
(b) There may be displayed on the vehicle, at the option of the 

proprietor, the proprietors name or trade name and business 
telephone number and if so again on the two front doors. 
 
The lettering for such signs should not exceed 2" high with 
appropriate spacing, the style and colour of such lettering to be 
first approved by the Council's Licensing Department. 

 
(c) Subject to the provision of (a) and (b) above and to the 

requirement to display the identification plate referred to in 
condition 3 thereof, there shall not be displayed on, or from the 
vehicle, any signs, notices, advertisements, plates, marks, 
numbers, letters, figures, symbols, emblems or devices 
whatsoever. 
 

7. CHANGE OF ADDRESS 
 
The proprietor, or if there is more than one, each of them, shall 
disclose to the Council in writing any change of his or their address 
during the period of the licence within seven days of such change 
taking place; if the proprietor is a limited company its address for the 
purposes of this condition shall be that of its registered office and if 
different also that of its principal place of business. 

Page 110



Classification: NULBC   

Classification: NULBC   

 
8. CONVICTIONS 

 
The proprietor shall within seven days disclose to the Council in writing 
details of any conviction imposed on him (or, if the proprietor is a 
company or partnership, on any of the directors, secretary or partners) 
during the period of the licence. 
 

9. DEPOSIT OF DRIVERS' LICENCES 
 
If the proprietor permits or employs any other person to drive the 
vehicle as a private hire vehicle, he shall before that person 
commences to drive the vehicle cause the driver to deliver to him his 
private hire driver's licence for retention until such time as the driver 
ceases to be permitted or employed to drive the vehicle or any other 
vehicle of his. 
 
NOTE:- 
 
It is an offence for a person to employ a person to drive a private hire 
vehicle unless the driver holds a current private hire drivers licence and 
for a person to drive a private hire vehicle unless he holds a private 
hire drivers licence. 
 

10. RECEIPTS 
 
If requested by a hirer, the proprietor shall issue to the hirer a receipt in 
respect of the fare charged for the hiring. 
 

11. INSURANCE 
 
Before the vehicle is used as a private hire vehicle such insurances or 
securities as are required under Part VI of the Road Traffic Act, 1988 
shall be obtained in respect of the vehicle and, the proprietor of the 
vehicle shall at all times during the currency of the licence keep in 
force, in relation to the user of the vehicle, such insurances or 
securities and the certificate in respect of the policy of insurance or 
security shall be produced to the Council's Licensing Section for 
inspection when requested by him. 
 

12. ACCIDENTS 
 
The proprietor shall report to the Council's Licensing Section as soon 
as reasonably practicable, and in any case within 72 hours, of the 
occurrence of any accident involving the vehicle which causes damage 
materially affecting the safety, performance or appearance of the 
vehicle or the comfort or convenience of persons carried therein. 

 

Page 111



Classification: NULBC   

Classification: NULBC   

13. TRANSFER OF OWNERSHIP 
 
If the proprietor of a private hire vehicle, in respect of which a vehicle 
licence has been granted by the Council, transfers his interest, in that 
private hire vehicle to a person other than the proprietor whose name is 
specified in the licence he shall within seven days after such transfer 
give notice in writing thereof to the Licensing Department of the 
Borough Council specifying the name and address of the person to 
whom the Private Hire Vehicle has been transferred, together with the 
appropriate fee. 
 

14. VEHICLE INSPECTION 
 
On receipt of a notice by the Licensing Department of the Council, a 
proprietor shall present the Private Hire vehicle for inspection and 
testing on behalf of the Council within such period and at such place 
within the area of the Council as is specified in the said notice provided 
that a proprietor shall not be required to present the same private hire 
vehicle for inspection and testing on more than three separate 
occasions during any one period of 12 months. 
 

15. LOCATION OF VEHICLE 
 
The proprietor of a private hire vehicle shall, within such period as the 
Council may by notice from the Licensing Section reasonably require, 
state, in writing, the address of every place where such vehicle is kept 
when not in use and shall, if the Council so require, afford to them such 
facilities as may be reasonably necessary to enable them to cause 
such vehicle to be inspected and tested there. 
 

16. CONVEYANCE OF PERSONS 
 
The proprietor of a private hire vehicle shall not cause or suffer or 
permit to be conveyed in the vehicle a greater number of persons 
exclusive of the driver than the number of persons specified in the 
licence provided. 
 

17. REAR SEAT BELTS 
 
All vehicles licensed as a private hire vehicle, with the exception of any 
statutory exemptions, shall have rear seat belts fitted.  Under the Road 
Traffic Act, 1988, any child under the age of 14 years in the rear of 
such a vehicle must wear a seat belt and it is an offence under the Act 
for a person without reasonable excuse to drive the vehicle on a road 
unless the child is wearing a seat belt in conformity with the 
regulations. 

 
18. The Council may vary all or any of the conditions herein contained at 

any time. 
 

Page 112



Classification: NULBC   

Classification: NULBC   

 

 

STANDARD CONDITIONS ATTACHED FOR A PRIVATE HIRE 

OPERATORS LICENCE 
 

LICENCE NUMBER: «udfield1» 
 
 

BOROUGH OF NEWCASTLE-UNDER-LYME 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT (MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS) ACT 1976 
TOWN POLICE CLAUSES ACT 1847 

OPERATORS LICENCE 
 

Conditions Attached to Operator’s Licence 

 
1. An Operator shall not invite or accept a booking for a Private Hire Vehicle or control or arrange a 

journey to be undertaken by such vehicle, without first making available in writing, or giving orally, 
to the person making the booking information as to the basis of charge for the hire of the vehicle 
and any additional charges for example storage charge. 
 

2. Every Operator who accepts a booking for a Private Hire Vehicle for an appointed time and place 
shall allow sufficient time for the vehicle to punctually attend. 
 
Complaints 
 
The Operator shall immediately notify the Council in writing of any complaints concerning a 
contract for hire or purported contract for hire and of the action which the Operator has taken or 
proposes to take. 
 

3. Only Newcastle-under-Lyme Borough Council licensed vehicles and drivers may be booked for 
any journey. 
 

4. When an Operator is unable to fulfil a booking due to unforeseen circumstances, it can only be 
passed onto another Newcastle-under-Lyme Borough Council licensed Operator. 
 

5. An Operator’s Licence shall not permit any person who is drunk, or is behaving in a disorderly 
manner, to remain upon the premises in respect of which the licence is in force. 
 

6. If provision is made by the Operator or his or her premises for the reception of members of the 
public proposing to hire a vehicle, the Operator must ensure that the premises are in a clean and 
tidy condition at all times and that adequate arrangements are made for the seating of customers 
within the premises. 
 

7. If 6 above applies, the Operator must also have Public Liability Insurance, a copy of the certificate 
being lodged with the Licensing Team. 
 

8. Without prejudice to any other liability imposed under the Local Government (Miscellaneous 
Provisions) Act 1976, the Operator shall ensure that drivers and proprietors of vehicles owned, 
controlled or operated by them in association with the Operator’s licence shall observe and 
comply with the conditions of their Hire Vehicle Driver’s Licence and their Private Hire Vehicle 
Licence. 
 

9. The Operator shall keep a record and maintain at his/her premises particulars of all vehicles 
operated by him or her, which shall include the following:- 
 
o the licence plate number 
o the registration number 
o the name and address of proprietor 

Page 113



Classification: NULBC   

Classification: NULBC   

o the names and addresses of drivers of the above vehicles 
o the badge numbers of drivers 
o copies of licences for all vehicles and drivers; and 
o copies of insurance certificates for all vehicles 
 

10. The above records shall be produced immediately on request to any Authorised Officer of the 
Council or Police Officer. 
 

11. The Council must be informed within 7 days of any changes in the particulars detailed in condition 
9 above. 
 

12. Subject to 13 below, the Operator shall enter in a bound book, the pages of which are numbered 
consecutively, particularly of every private hire booking and the particulars shall be entered in the 
book at the time of the booking and shall include the following:- 
 
o the time and date of each booking 
o the name of the driver dispatched for each booking and identification of the vehicle used by 

said driver i.e. plate number or call sign, in the event of call signs being recorded, a full list of 
call signs and the information relating to them should be deposited with the Council’s 
enforcement section.  Notification of any material changes relating to call signs should be 
made to the Council within 24 hours 

o by what method the booking was received, i.e. telephone call or personal call 
o journey from ?????????? to ??????????.. 
o the name and contact telephone number of the hirer and, where the booking is received from 

another operator, the name of that operator 
 

13. An alternative method of record keeping may be used provided that the details at 12 above can 
be recorded and the method has been agreed by the Council in writing. 
 

14. The records shall be kept for a period of not less than 6 months, or such longer period as 
required by an Authorised Officer of the Council. 
 

15. A hard copy of the record must be produced immediately, on request, to any Authorised Officer of 
the Council or Police Officer. 
 

16. The Operator shall not, knowingly or without the prior written consent of the Council, engage in 
partnership with, or allow or suffer any involvement in the management of the Operator hereby 
licensed by: 
 
o any person who has been convicted of an offence under the Local Government 

(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 or any other legislation relating to private hire and 
hackney carriage licensing; and 

o any person who, for the purposes of Part II of the said Act, has been found by any 
Licensing Authority not to be a fit and proper person to hold a driver or Operator licence. 

 
17. On changing address, the Operator shall return the licence, for amendment, to the Licensing 

Team within 7 days of the change, together with the appropriate fee (see Schedule of fees). 
 

18. The Operator shall inform the Council in writing of any:- 
 
o change of home address 
o criminal convictions incurred, including driving offences, during the period of the licence 

within 7 days of the conviction 
o County Court judgments, bankruptcy proceedings, individual voluntary arrangements and 

composition agreements with creditors. 
 

19. The Operator shall be responsible for the actions of any managers, supervisor or any other 
person appointed to run the private hire business on their behalf. 
 

Page 114



Classification: NULBC   

Classification: NULBC   

20. A person who is found guilty of an offence against byelaws, or the Town Police Clauses Act 1847 
or the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 is liable to a fine.  In addition, the 
Council may suspend or revoke an existing licence or refuse to renew a licence. 

 
Your attention is drawn to the various provisions contained in the legislation referred to in these 
conditions, which you are advised to obtain and read carefully. 

 

Page 115



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 116



Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

 
 
 - 1 - www.newcastle-staffs.gov.uk 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

ENFORCEMENT POLICY 
 

2014-2017 
 
 
 

Page 117



Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

 
 
 - 2 - www.newcastle-staffs.gov.uk 
 

 
     
 

Document Control 

Prepared by: Environmental Health 

Title Enforcement Policy  

Status Draft 

Author Nesta Henshaw 

File Name  

Document Owner Nesta Henshaw 

Keywords Enforcement, policy, compliance, regulation, non-compliance 

Date of Review 20/03/2017 

 

Revision History 

 Version Date By Summary of Change 

1.0 18/02/2014 N Henshaw Creation 

1.1 19/03/2014 N Henshaw Comments from EH incorporated 

1.2 09/05/2014 N Henshaw Comments from Corporate enforcement working 
group 

    

    

    

    

 

Approval Signature 

Name: 
Nesta Henshaw 

Head of Environmental Health  Date 09/05/14  

Name: 
Mark Bailey 

Head of Business Improvement, 
Central Services and Partnerships 

Date 09/05/14  

    

Council Approved Date 04/06/14  

Page 118



Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

 
 
 - 3 - www.newcastle-staffs.gov.uk 
 

CONTENTS 
 

1.0   Introduction 4 
2.0   Aims 5 
 2.1  Focused enforcement 5 
 2.2  Fairness, consistency, accountability & transparency 6 
 2.3  Reduction of burden on business 7 
 2.4  Involvement of Business 7 
 2.5  Co-operative Council 7 
3.0   Enforcement for Compliance 8 
 3.1  Inspection & Intervention program 8 
 3.2  Sampling program 8 
 3.3  Primary Authority Principle 8 
 3.4  Statutory notifications 8 
 3.5  Enforcement visits 9 
 3.6  Enforcement in Local Authority Establishments 9 
4.0   Enforcement of non-compliance 10 
 4.1  Level of Enforcement Action 10 
  4.1.1 No Action 11 
  4.1.2 Informal Action & Advice 11 
  4.1.3 Fixed Penalty Notices 11 
  4.1.4 Penalty Charge Notices 12 
  4.1.5 Voluntary Closure,  prohibition, surrender or 

undertaking 
12 

  4.1.6 Formal/Statutory Notice 12 
  4.1.7 Works in default 12 
  4.1.8 Forfeiture proceedings 13 
  4.1.9 Seizure 13 
  4.1.10 Powers of Entry 13 
  4.1.11 Injunctive Action 14 
  4.1.12 Simple caution 14 
  4.1.13 Benefits Caution/Sanctions 15 
  4.1.13.1    Administrative Penalty  15 
  4.1.14 Refusal, Revocation or Suspension of a Licence 16 
  4.1.15 Prosecution 16 
  4.1.16 Proceeds of Crime Applications 16 
5.0   Determining whether a prosecution or simple 

caution is appropriate 
17 

 5.1  Introduction 17 
 5.2  The Public Interest Test 17 
  5.2.1 Public Interest factors in favour of prosecution 17 
  5.2.2 Public Interest Factors against Prosecution 18 
 5.3  Death at Work 18 
6.0   Application of Policy Statement 19 
7.0   Review 19 
     

Page 119



Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

 
 
 - 4 - www.newcastle-staffs.gov.uk 
 

 
1.0 Introduction 
 
Fair and effective enforcement is essential for the economic interest and protection 
of the public, business and the environment. 
 
This enforcement policy provides guidance to officers, businesses and the general 
public on the range of options that are available to achieve compliance with 
legislation enforced by Newcastle-under-Lyme Borough Council. The policy has 
been approved by Newcastle-under-Lyme Borough Council. 
 
The decisions of the Council and its officers about enforcement action, and in 
particular the decision to prosecute, have serious implications for all involved. The 
aim of this policy is to set out the principles that apply when the Council conducts 
its enforcement work and should be read in conjunction with the scheme of 
delegation. By applying the same principles, everyone involved in the decision 
making process is treated fairly and our business is conducted effectively. This 
Policy is adopted by Newcastle-under-Lyme Borough Council (hereafter referred to 
as ‘the Council’).  
 
This policy applies to all areas except Planning. Although specific guidance on the 
particular approach taken by certain areas may also be provided – any additional 
guidance will be in accordance with the approach taken by this policy.  
 
We believe that most businesses and individuals want to abide by the law and the 
Council will assist them where possible. We recognise that prevention is better 
than cure, but firm action will be taken against those who break the law or act 
irresponsibly. 
 
We believe that businesses and individuals should know the approach that will be 
taken by the Council where enforcement is warranted and should have confidence 
that officers will ensure that their approach is: 

• Focused 

• Fair 

• Accountable 

• Consistent 

• Proportionate and  

• Transparent. 
 
The Council seeks to follow the principles of good enforcement contained in the 
Regulators’ Code and the Enforcement Concordat. These principles help 
businesses and individuals to comply with regulations, and help enforcers to 

Page 120



Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

 
 
 - 5 - www.newcastle-staffs.gov.uk 
 

achieve higher levels of voluntary compliance. Our key approach is summarised as 
follows: 

• Focused enforcement - Our enforcement resources will be targeted 
primarily on activities giving rise to the most serious risks to the 
environment, health and safety or the public. 

• Any enforcement will be fair, accountable, consistent, proportionate and 
transparent. 

• The burden on business will be reduced through improved partnership 
working and more consistent working as a Council 

• The public and businesses will be involved in our enforcement approach 
and policies. 

• Improved communication. 
 
 
2.0 AIMS 
 
2.1 Focused Enforcement 
 
We will take account of both national priorities for local government enforcement 
together with local priorities based on evidence or emerging need. We will focus 
enforcement towards matters with the greatest risk to public health, safety, animal 
health, the economic or environmental well being of the community, those where 
we believe there is an expectation from our residents, businesses or elected 
members that action should be taken, or to the other stated priorities of the Council 
including those set out in the Council’s Plan. Focused enforcement means making 
sure that regulatory effort is directed primarily towards those whose activities give 
rise to the most serious risk or where the risks are less well controlled. Action will 
be primarily focused on those directly responsible for the risk and who are best 
placed to control it. 
 
The services prioritise regulatory effort. Factors include response to complaints 
from the public; the existence of statutory powers and the assessment of risk (e.g. 
the potential for a particular breach of regulations to cause environmental damage 
or damage persons’ health and safety).Management actions are important in the 
assessment of risk. Repeated incidents or breaches of regulatory requirements, 
which are related, may be an indication of an unwillingness to change behaviour, 
or an inability to achieve sufficient control. A relatively low hazard site or activity 
poorly managed has potential for greater risk than a higher hazard site or activity 
where proper control measures are in place. 
 
Where formal enforcement action is necessary the person responsible should be 
held to account. Where several persons share responsibility, the services will take 
action against those who can be regarded as primarily in breach. 

Page 121



Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

 
 
 - 6 - www.newcastle-staffs.gov.uk 
 

 
 
We will 

• aim to change the behaviour of the offender; 

• aim to eliminate any financial gain or benefit from non-compliance; 

• be responsive and consider what is appropriate for the particular offender 
and regulatory issue, which can include punishment and the public stigma 
that should be associated with a criminal conviction; 

• be proportionate to the nature of the offence and the harm caused; 

• aim to restore or redress the harm caused by regulatory non-compliance, 
where appropriate; and 

• aim to deter future non-compliance. 
 
 
2.2 Fairness/Consistency/Accountability/Transparency 
 
Fairness - Whilst responsibility for compliance with legislation falls to businesses 
or individuals, we will provide relevant advice and guidance. We will advise 
businesses and individuals of relevant requirements by publicity, use of the Council 
website, signage and information leaflets as necessary. Where direct contact is 
made officers will identify themselves by name, and a contact telephone number 
will be provided. We will take account of the circumstances of small regulated 
businesses or individuals, including any difficulties they may have in achieving 
compliance. 
 
We will provide appropriate advice or signposting, where we can, in response to 
requests. Officers will consider statutory codes of practice and other relevant 'good 
practice’ guidelines or standards as well as current legislation. Where appropriate, 
officers will highlight forthcoming legal developments. 
 
Consistency - The Council will maintain systems designed to ensure, so far as 
practicable, that enforcement activities are carried out to a consistent standard and 
will monitor compliance with our enforcement policy. Officers will continue to work 
with colleagues in other authorities to seek to ensure consistency and continuous 
learning. 
 
Transparency - Unless immediate action is required to prevent or respond to a 
serious breach, or where to do so is likely to defeat the purpose of the proposed 
enforcement action, when considering formal enforcement action, we will normally 
discuss the circumstances with those suspected of a breach and take into account 
their views when deciding on the best approach. 

Page 122



Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

 
 
 - 7 - www.newcastle-staffs.gov.uk 
 

Any applicable rights of appeal against enforcement decisions will be made known 
to affected persons or organisations at the time and in writing. Officers will clearly 
distinguish between requirements to comply with legal obligations and other 
recommendations. 
 
Accountability - The Council’s complaints, comments and compliments policy 
sets out how to complain, express dissatisfaction or compliment the services we 
provide. 
 
2.3 Reduction of Burden on Business 
 
We recognise that dealing with regulations has a cost to business. We also 
recognise that businesses wish there to be a level playing field. We will seek to 
ensure that interventions in businesses are kept to a minimum by: 
a) ensuring that we join up across the authority and with other agencies  
b) utilising national schemes such as primary authority and home authority 
c) focusing our enforcement as detailed in this policy 
 
2.4 Involvement of Businesses 
 
We welcome comments from businesses, residents and the public regarding the 
Councils approach to enforcement. We believe that they have valuable insight that 
we should take into account when deciding the approach we take. We therefore 
welcome feedback on the work that we do and comments on our enforcement 
policy and service standards. These can be made through the Council’s 
complaints, comments and compliments policy. 
 
We believe that part of our role is to help businesses comply with the law. We will 
therefore, where possible, provide training, information and advice. 
 
2.5 Co-operative Council. 
 
As part of the Council’s commitment to be a co-operative council, we continuously 
seek to understand the needs of those who live, work invest in or visit the Borough 
and respond to those needs appropriately in either a proactive or reactive way. We 
aim to be a Council you can trust, delivering good quality efficient services. 
 
We are committed to communicating with customers (that is businesses, residents 
and visitors to the Borough) in the most appropriate form. 
 
Where we reasonably can, we make provision for the particular needs, interests of 
consumers, business owners, employers and the public.  
 

Page 123



Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

 
 
 - 8 - www.newcastle-staffs.gov.uk 
 

3.0 ENFORCEMENT FOR COMPLIANCE 
 
3.1 Inspection and Intervention Programme 
 
Relevant business activities and/or premises are risk assessed to inform an 
inspection and/or intervention programme, and the level of risk is reviewed 
regularly. We will focus our greatest inspection effort on those regulated where risk 
assessment shows that both: 

• A compliance breach or breaches would pose a serious risk to a regulatory 
outcome or to health or the environment; 

• There is high likelihood of non-compliance by those regulated. Inspection 
and intervention frequency will generally be risk based, but may additionally 
be determined by set, or prescribed, intervals and additional interventions 
may take place as part of a local or national campaign. 

 
Visits are also made to businesses for other reasons, such as advice, as a result of 
an allegation or for a sample or test purchase and will probably be without prior 
notice. 
 
3.2 Sampling Programme 
 
The purpose of sampling is to protect public health and the environment and to 
verify standards. This enables officers to provide information and advice to improve 
business practices. 
 
A sampling programme sets out samples, test purchases (eg foodstuffs) the 
collection of materials (eg soil, air, water) taken in response to enquiries, as a part 
of a planned survey/exercise or as a result of officer or national initiatives. The 
programme sets out planned activities and targets for the year, concentrating 
efforts into risk-assessed areas of trade or products in order to ensure the most 
effective use of resources. 
 
3.3 Primary Authority Principle 
 
It is our policy/intention to act as Primary Authority for businesses which have their 
decision making base within the Borough, where they so desire. Where businesses 
have a Primary or Home Authority elsewhere, officers will contact other relevant 
local authorities at the earliest practicable time and at their conclusion. 
 
3.4 Statutory Notifications 
 
Where appropriate we will report incidents and enforcement actions to relevant 
bodies, such as the Department of Trade and Industry, Health and Safety 

Page 124



Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

 
 
 - 9 - www.newcastle-staffs.gov.uk 
 

Executive, Food Standards Agency, Environment Agency, DEFRA, DVLA, DWP, 
Trading Standards, Staffordshire County Council, Staffordshire Fire and Rescue, 
Office of Fair Trading and any other statutory bodies, and respond appropriately to 
notifications, such as Health and Safety alerts and alerts from the Food Standards 
Agency. Information will be shared with other regulators where it is appropriate to 
do so. 
 
Performance will also be reported where required and publicised in the relevant 
annual corporate plans. 
 
The authority will work alongside partner agencies in pursuit of the objectives of 
the Serious Organised Crime Strategy which aims to reduce the level of serious 
and organised crime under the umbrella of the following; 
Pursue – prosecute and disrupt people engaged in serious organised criminality 
Prevent – prevent people engaging in serious and organised crime 
Protect – increase protection against serious and organised crime 
Prepare – reduce the impact of this criminality where it takes place. 
 
3.5 Enforcement Visits 
 
When conducting enforcement visits, other than for test purchasing or covert 
purposes, officers will make their identity known and explain why they are there. 
Officers may make combined visits with other agencies where there is a shared 
and/or complimentary enforcement role. 
 
Officers will only carry out covert surveillance where such action is justified and 
endeavours to keep such surveillance to a minimum.  Any officer intending to 
acquire data covertly will only do so if the evidence or intelligence sought cannot 
be obtained by any overt other means. All covert surveillance will be undertaken in 
accordance with the Councils ‘Policy and Guidance on the use of RIPA’ 
(Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 as amended) 
 
3.6 Enforcement in Local Authority Establishments 
 
Officers will carry out enforcement within local authority owned, occupied or 
operated premises (eg crematorium for pollution, prevention and control and 
leisure centres, fly tipping on Borough Council land) in a manner consistent with 
any other business. Any serious breaches of law that may be detected in such 
establishments will be brought to the attention of the responsible Executive 
Director and Chief Executive without delay. 
 

Page 125



Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

 
 
 - 10 - www.newcastle-staffs.gov.uk 
 

Contract caterers that operate within Local Authority establishments will be 
assessed in accordance with the Food Law Code of Practice and be inspected 
accordingly. 
 
4.0 ENFORCEMENT OF NON-COMPLIANCE 
 
4.1 Levels of enforcement action: 
 
In assessing what enforcement action is necessary and proportionate, 
consideration will be given to the seriousness of compliance failure; the business’s 
or individual’s past performance and its current practice; the risks being controlled; 
legal, official or professional guidance; and the local priorities of the Council. 
Where the law has been contravened, there are a range of enforcement options 
available to seek compliance with the law. Under normal circumstances, a process 
of escalation will be used, where appropriate, starting with advice and guidance, 
until compliance is reached. Exceptions to this process of escalation would include: 

• public health, 

• safety, 

• community safety 

• the environment (such as fly tipping or air pollution), 

• risk to animal health or welfare, and 

• where the offences have been committed deliberately or negligently 
or  

• involve deception or where there is significant economic detriment 
or 

• continued non-compliance 

• Irreversibility (such as knocking down a building or cutting down trees). 
 
 
The sanctions or penalties that are used will:- 

• aim to change the behaviour of the offender; 

• aim to eliminate any financial gain or benefit from non-compliance; 

• be responsive and consider what is appropriate for the particular offender 
and the particular regulatory issue (this can include punishment and the 
public stigma that should be associated with a criminal conviction); 

• be proportionate to the nature of the offence and the harm caused; 

• aim to restore the harm caused by regulatory non-compliance, where 
appropriate; and 

• aim to improve non-compliance and deter future non-compliance 
 
 

Page 126



Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

 
 
 - 11 - www.newcastle-staffs.gov.uk 
 

There are a large number of potential enforcement options. The level of the action 
taken varies from no action through to proceedings in Court. 
 
In certain circumstances there may be specific guidance/instruction issued by 
central government which direct the Council to act in a specific way. 
 
Examples of enforcement actions include the following:- 
 
4.1.1 No Action 
 
In certain circumstances, contraventions of the law may not warrant any action. 
Consideration will be given to whether the resultant cost of action would outweigh 
the detrimental impact of the contravention (sometimes referred to as the public 
interest test). A decision of no action may also be taken where formal enforcement 
is inappropriate in the circumstances. In such cases we will advise the offender of 
the reasons for taking no action. 
 
4.1.2 Informal Action and Advice 
 
For minor breaches of the law we may give verbal or written advice. We will clearly 
identify any contraventions of the law and give advice on how to put them right, 
including a deadline by which this must be done. The time allowed will be 
reasonable, and take into account the seriousness of the contravention and the 
implications of the non-compliance. We will be clear about what are requirements 
and what are recommendations. Failure to comply could result in an escalation of 
enforcement action. 
 
4.1.3 Fixed Penalty Notices 
 
Certain offences may be dealt with by fixed penalty notices (FPN) where 
prescribed by legislation. They are recognised as a low-level enforcement tool and 
avoid a criminal record for the defendant. Where legislation permits an offence to 
be dealt with by way of a Fixed Penalty Notice we may chose to administer one on 
a first occasion, without issuing a warning. Such matters may include dog fouling, 
littering, waste disposal activities; however, this list is not exhaustive. 
 
The alleged offender’s choice to not cooperate with the officer (e.g. refuse to give a 
name and address), to dispute or not pay the FPN will result in the case being 
escalated to the Magistrates Court. 
 
We will only offer a FPN where we have robust evidence that an offence has been 
committed by the individual.  This may be evidence gathered directly by Council 

Page 127



Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

 
 
 - 12 - www.newcastle-staffs.gov.uk 
 

Officers, or that passed to officers by partners documented in a form admissible to 
the courts. 
 
4.1.4 Penalty Charge Notices 
 
Penalty Charge Notices (PCNs) (eg parking tickets) are prescribed by certain 
legislation as a method of enforcement by which the offender pays an amount of 
money to the enforcer in recognition of the breach. Failure to pay the PCN will 
result in the offender being pursued in the County Court for non-payment of the 
debt. A PCN does not create a criminal record and we may choose to issue a PCN 
without first issuing a warning. 
 
4.1.5 Voluntary Closure, prohibition, surrender or undertaking 
 
A  business or individual may in some circumstances, where there is an imminent 
risk, provide an offer to voluntarily close premises or cease to use any product, 
equipment, treatment, process or building associated with the imminent risk. In 
such circumstances the proprietor or individual would be requested to confirm their 
undertaking in writing. Failure to comply may entail further formal action. 
 
4.1.6 Formal/Statutory Notice 
 
Certain legislation allows notices to be served requiring offenders to take specific 
actions or cease certain activities. Notices may require activities to cease 
immediately. In other circumstances they must cease or change within a 
reasonable time, and take into account the seriousness of the contravention and 
the implications of the non-compliance. 
 
All Notices issued will include details of any applicable appeals procedures. 
 
4.1.7 Works in Default 
 
Following the service of a notice (section 4.1.6) certain types of notice allow works 
to be carried out in default. This means that if a notice is not complied with [a 
breach of the notice] we may carry out any necessary works to satisfy the 
requirements of the notice ourselves. Works in default may be carried out where:- 

• There is no reasonable prospect of the person responsible carrying out the 
work, eg the person is absent or infirm 

• There is an imminent risk to public or the environment, eg ringing intruder 
alarm 

• Hazard to health, eg electrics 

• A prosecution is not appropriate 

Page 128



Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

 
 
 - 13 - www.newcastle-staffs.gov.uk 
 

• A prosecution has been brought and the works have still not been carried 
out. 

• It is appropriate to get the nuisance abated quickly. 
 
Where the law allows, we may then charge the person/business served with the 
notice for any cost we incur in carrying out the work, including administration. 
Failure to comply may entail further formal action. 
 
Where the authority is required to undertake works in default it will ensure that the 
works are appropriate and the costs incurred not unduly excessive. 
 
4.1.8 Forfeiture Proceedings 
 
This procedure, dealt with through an application in an appropriate court, may be 
used in conjunction with seizure and/or prosecution where there is a need to 
dispose of goods in order to prevent them re-entering the market place or being 
used to cause a further problem. 
 
4.1.9 Seizure 
 
Certain legislation enables officers to seize goods, equipment or documents, for 
example. unsafe food, sound equipment that is being used to cause a statutory 
noise nuisance, workplace articles and/or substances, unsafe products or any 
goods that may be required as evidence for possible future court proceedings. 
When we seize goods we will give a receipt to the person from whom the goods 
are taken.   
 
Where appropriate we will explain the procedure for their reclaim, and indicate any 
cost associated with storage, return or where applicable disposal of items. We will 
ensure that costs incurred are not unduly excessive. 
 
4.1.10 Powers of Entry 
 
In most circumstances the exercising of powers of entry is unnecessary because 
access is voluntarily given. If access is denied then officers may exercise powers 
of entry which may be immediate or may require the Council to provide at least 
24hours written notices of its intention to enter a premises. 
 
Where appropriate we will seek to obtain a warrant from the magistrates court to 
enter premises where legislation provides for this and the circumstances justify the 
action. 
 
 

Page 129



Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

 
 
 - 14 - www.newcastle-staffs.gov.uk 
 

4.1.11 Injunctive Actions 
 
In certain circumstances, for example where offenders are repeatedly found guilty 
of similar offences or where it is considered that injunctive action is the most 
appropriate course of enforcement, then injunctive actions may be used to deal 
with repeat offenders or significant potential or actual environmental or customer 
detriment. Injunctive action includes agreements and formal undertakings to 
improve compliance which, if breached, may lead to the obtaining of an injunction 
in the civil law courts. 
 
In situations where the non-compliance under investigation amounts to anti-social 
behaviour, such as persistent targeting of an individual or a group of individuals in 
a particular area, then Anti Social Behaviour Orders as appropriate or Criminal 
Behaviour Orders may be sought to stop the activity. 
 
4.1.12 Simple Caution 
 
A Simple Caution is an admission of guilt, but is not a form of sentence, nor is it a 
criminal conviction. For a Simple Caution to be issued there:- 

• must be sufficient evidence available to prove the case, 

• the offender must admit the offence, 

• it must be in the public interest to use a Simple Caution and 

• the offender must be 18 years or over. 
 
The offender should not have received a simple caution for a similar offence within 
the last 2 years except in the case of Tree Preservation Contraventions when a 
second or repeat caution will not be offered until a period of 10 years from the first 
caution has elapsed unless there are exceptional circumstances.  
The Council has opted to follow the guidance issued by the Government in relation 
to the issuing of Simple Cautions for details on the Ministry of Justice Guidance 
visit here   
 
A record of the Caution will be kept on file for 2 years. If the offender commits a 
further offence, the Caution may influence our decision to take a prosecution – 
except as stated above in the case of Tree Preservation Contraventions when the 
Caution will remain on file for a period of ten years. If during the time the Caution is 
in force the offender pleads guilty to, or is found guilty of, committing another 
offence anywhere in England and Wales, the Caution may be cited in court, and 
this may influence the severity of the sentence that the court imposes. 
 
Simple Cautions are an alternative to prosecutions in appropriate cases. Simple 
Cautions can only be issued if the defendant admits the offence, and the 

Page 130



Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

 
 
 - 15 - www.newcastle-staffs.gov.uk 
 

circumstances are such the interests of the public and justice would be better 
served without recourse to legal proceedings in the first instance. 
If the caution is not administered, because the suspect refuses to accept it, the 
facts of the case will be reviewed again, without the option of a Simple Caution, 
and a prosecution may result. 
 
4.1.13 Benefits Cautions/Sanctions 
 
The benefits legislation provides for additional sanctions, beyond those applicable 
to other areas of our work. These include administrative penalties. These are also 
used as an alternative to prosecution. In such cases the Administrative Penalty 
and any linked caution will be retained on file for five years. 
 
These are issued if the circumstances are such that the interests of the public and 
justice would be better served without recourse to legal proceedings in the first 
instance. 
 

4.1.13.1 Administrative Penalty  

Under the Social Security Administration Act 1992 an Administrative Penalty may 
be issued as an alternative to a prosecution in matters relating to Housing and 
Council Tax Benefit. A minimum penalty of £350 or 50% of the overpayment, 
whichever is greater (up to a maximum penalty of £2,000) may be offered for 
offences committed wholly on or after 08/05/12. For offences that are committed 
prior to, or span, 08/05/12 the Administrative Penalty is calculated at 30% of the 
determined overpayment.  
 
In determining whether to offer an Administrative Penalty there must be sufficient 
evidence in which to consider commencing criminal proceedings. The offer of an 
Administrative penalty is more likely in cases where dishonesty does not form part 
of the offence, it is the first time the customer had caused a fraudulent 
overpayment or there was a clear lack of intent on the part of the customer.  
 
An Administrative Penalty cannot be imposed and there is no obligation on the part 
of any person to accept it. If accepted that person has 14 days to withdraw their 
agreement to pay the penalty (‘cooling off period’). If the penalty is not paid then 
civil recovery of the debt will be initiated in the County Court.  
 
Where an Administrative Penalty has not been accepted or a person has 
withdrawn their agreement to pay, then alternative enforcement action will be 
considered in respect of the original breach. Administrative Penalties are not 
recorded as a criminal offence.  

Page 131



Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

 
 
 - 16 - www.newcastle-staffs.gov.uk 
 

 
4.1.14 Refusal, Revocation or Suspension of a Licence 
 
Certain types of businesses, premises and individuals require licenses to operate 
legally. A refusal, revocation or suspension of a licence will normally ensue when 
one or more of the following criteria are met: 

• Deliberately or persistently breached legal obligations which likely to cause 
material loss or harm to others. 

• Deliberately or persistently ignored written warnings or formal notices 

• Endangered the health, safety or well being of people, animals or the 
environment 

• Obstructed an officer 

• Non-payment of relevant fee 

• Providing false or incomplete information 

• Fit and proper person. 
 
4.1.15 Prosecution 
 
A prosecution will normally ensue where the individual or organisation meets one 
or more of the following criteria: 

• Deliberately, negligently or persistently breached legal obligations, 

• Used an element of deception, theft or fraud 

• Made significant gain or caused significant loss 

• Deliberately or persistently ignored written advice or formal notices; 

• Endangered, to a significant degree, the health, safety or well being of 
people, animals or the environment; 

• Assaulted or obstructed an Officer in the course of their duties. 
 
 
4.1.16 Proceeds of Crime Applications 
 
Applications may be made under the Proceeds of Crime Act for the confiscation of 
assets in serious cases. Their purpose is to recover the financial benefit that the 
offender has obtained from his criminal conduct. 
 
Proceedings are conducted according to the civil standard of proof. 
 
Applications are made after a conviction has been secured. Any proceeds received 
from the proceeds of crime act action will be used in line with relevant guidelines. 
 
 
 

Page 132



Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

 
 
 - 17 - www.newcastle-staffs.gov.uk 
 

5.0 DETERMINING WHETHER A PROSECUTION OR CAUTION IS 
APPROPRIATE 
 
5.1 Introduction 
 
We will attempt to administer the requirements of legislation through advice and 
assistance wherever possible. Occasionally, however, it will be necessary to 
consider instituting legal proceedings. Each case is unique and must be 
considered on its own facts and merits. However, we apply the same general 
principles to every case. When deciding whether to prosecute we will have regard 
to the evidential test in the Code for Crown Prosecutors on Prosecution Policy. A 
prosecution will not be started or continued unless there is sufficient admissible 
and reliable evidence that an offence has been committed by an identifiable 
person, and unless there is a realistic prospect of a conviction. We will also 
consider any lines of defence which are plainly open to or indicated by the accused 
and to the public interest. 
 
5.2 The Public Interest Test 
 
Factors for and against prosecution will be balanced carefully and fairly. Deciding 
on the public interest is not simply a matter of adding up the factors on each side 
but a consideration of how important each factor is in the circumstances of each 
case and an overall assessment made. The following considerations are taken 
from the Code and adapted for public protection offences. Factors which are less 
relevant to public protection offences are not repeated here, but would still be 
considered if they were to be relevant. 
 
5.2.1 Public Interest Factors in Favour of Prosecution 
A prosecution is more likely when: 

• A conviction is likely to result in a significant sentence or to result in a 
confiscation or any other order; 

• a weapon was used or violence threatened 

• There is evidence that the offence was premeditated; 

• The offence although not serious in itself is widespread in the area where it 
was committed  

• There is evidence that the offence was carried out by two or more people 
acting together; 

• The victim of the offence was vulnerable or has been left frightened; 

• The offence was motivated by any form of discrimination against the victim’s 
ethnic or national origin, disability, sex, religious beliefs, political views or 
sexual orientation, or the suspect demonstrated hostility towards the victim 
based on any of those characteristics; 

Page 133



Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

 
 
 - 18 - www.newcastle-staffs.gov.uk 
 

• The risk or nuisance presented to individuals, the public, the trade (including 
unfair competition between traders), the farming community, animal health 
& welfare, or the environment is significant or widespread. 

• The ‘defendant’ has acted fraudulently/dishonestly, wilfully or negligently or 
insufficient steps have been taken to prevent the offence. 

• The ‘defendant’ was in a position of authority or trust or the offence was 
committed in the presence of, or near to, a child. 

• The ‘defendant's’ previous convictions or cautions are relevant to the 
present offence. 

• There are grounds for believing that the alleged offence is likely to be 
continued or repeated. 

• The outcome of the prosecution may serve an important, informative 
purpose or might establish an important legal precedent or might act as a 
warning to others or would have a significant positive impact on maintaining 
community confidence. 

• The defendant committed the offence while under an order of the court; 
 
5.2.2 Public Interest Factors Against Prosecution 
 
A prosecution is less likely to be needed if: 

• The offence was committed due to a genuine mistake/misunderstanding 
(this must be balanced against the seriousness of the offence). 

• The loss or harm can be described as minor and was the result of a single 
incident, particularly if it was caused by a misjudgement. 

• The ‘defendant’ has put right the loss or harm that was caused within a 
reasonable period of time (but ‘defendants’ cannot avoid prosecution simply 
because they have offered compensation). 

• The defendant has already been made the subject of a sentence and any 
further conviction would be unlikely to result in the imposition of an 
additional sentence or order. 

• The defendant is, or was at the time of the offence, suffering from significant 
mental or physical ill health and medical evidence has been supplied, 
unless the offence is serious or there is real possibility that it may be 
repeated,  

 
5.3 Deaths at Work 
 
Where there has been a breach of the law leading to a work-related death, where 
we have health & safety enforcement jurisdiction, we will consider whether the 
circumstances of the case might justify a charge of manslaughter. We will liaise 
with the Police, Coroners and the Crown Prosecution Service (CPS) and if they 
find evidence suggesting manslaughter, pass it on to the Police or where 

Page 134



Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

 
 
 - 19 - www.newcastle-staffs.gov.uk 
 

appropriate the CPS. If the Police or the CPS decide not to pursue a manslaughter 
case, we will bring a health and safety prosecution if that is appropriate. We will 
take account of "Work Related Deaths: A Protocol for Liaison” 
 
6.0 APPLICATION OF OUR POLICY STATEMENT 
 
This policy statement applies to officers when making enforcement decisions. The 
Council is committed to ensuring that all officers are made aware of on this policy 
and other relevant aspects of enforcement. 
 
Any departure from this policy must be exceptional, capable of justification and be 
fully considered by the appropriate manager before a final decision is taken. The 
reason for departure must be recorded. This proviso shall not apply where a risk of 
injury or to health is likely to occur due to a delay in any decision being made. 
 
In cases of emergency or where exceptional conditions prevail, the Chief Executive 
or an Executive Director may suspend all or part of this policy, but only when 
necessary to achieve effective running of the service and/or where there is a risk of 
injury or to health of employees or members of the public.  At the soonest 
appropriate time they should record their actions, the information they acted on, 
and their resultant decisions.  
 
7.0 REVIEW 
 
The enforcement policy will be reviewed at not more than three yearly intervals and 
amendments will be made, as appropriate. Amendments to the policy may also be 
made at other times as a result of identified improvements which contribute to the 
main aim of the Service, or where legislative or government policy make changes 
more expedient. 
 
Comments on the policy may be made at any time. 
 
Review of the enforcement policy will take account of any responses received from 
affected persons and any other relevant comments. Compliance with this policy will 
be monitored on an ongoing basis. 

Page 135



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 136



Page 137



Page 138



Page 139



Page 140



Page 141



Page 142



Page 143



Page 144



Page 145



Page 146



Page 147



Page 148



Page 149



Page 150



Page 151



Page 152



Page 153



Page 154



Page 155



Page 156



Page 157



Page 158



Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

NEWCASTLE – UNDER – LYME  BOROUGH COUNCIL 

OPERATIONAL SERVICES TRANSPORT WORKSHOP 

 
     RECEIPT NO: _____________ HACKNEY CARRIAGE / PRIVATE HIRE__________ 

 
DEPARTMENT OR OWNER REG NO DATE 

MAKE & MODEL YEAR CHASSIS NO 

RECORDED MILEAGE ENGINE CAPACITY SEATING CAPACITY 

 

 PASS FAIL REMARKS 

LIGHTING EQUIPMENT 

1. Oblige. Front Lamp 
   

2. Oblige. Rear Lamp    

3. Oblige. Head Lamps    

4. Headlamp Aim & adjustment     

5. Stop Lamps    

6. Rear Reflectors    

7. Direction Indicators    

8. Speedometer operation    

9. Hazard waning device    

    

STEERING & SUSPENTION    

10. Steering Controls    

11. Steering Mechanism    

12. Power Steering    

13. Stub Axle Assemblies    

14. Wheel Bearings    

15. Suspension    

16. Shock Absorbers    

    

BRAKING SYSTEM    

17. Service Brake Condition    

18. Parking Brake Condition    

19. Service Brake Efficiency    

20. Parking Brake Efficiency    

21. ABS system    

22. CRS system    

    

TYRES & WHEELS    

23. Tyre Type    

24. Tyre Condition    

25. Road Wheels & Spare    

    

SEAT BELTS    

26. Security of Belts    

27. Condition of Belts    

28. Operation of Belts    

Page 159



Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

GENERAL ITEMS PASS FAIL REMARKS 

29. Transmission / Universal Joints    

30. Engine / oil leaks / mounts    

31. Exhaust System    

32. Effectiveness of Silencer    

33. Dynamo / Alternator    

34. Battery    

35. Security of wiring & equipment    

36. Starter    

37. Windscreen Side & Rear Glass    

38. Windscreen Wipers (& rear if fitted)    

39. Windscreen Washers (& rear if 

fitted) 

   

40. Driver’s view of road    

41. Mirrors (incl. rear view)    

42. Horn    

43. Bonnet Release    

44. Driving Controls    

45. Door Locks, Catches & Hinges    

46  Fuel Tank & System    

47. VIN or chassis number    

48. Condition of Vehicle Structure &  

      Bodywork        

   

49. Registration plate    

50. Signage (doors)    

51. Advertising (approved)    

52. Licence plate and holder    

53. Taxi Meter (if applicable)    

54. Fire Extinguisher    

55. Luggage Carrier    

56. Seating  & Upholstery    

57. First Aid Box    

58. Child Safety Locks    

59.  Smoke Emission    

60. Wheelchair facility    

61. Authorised illuminated sign (if 

applicable) 

   

62. Security of auxiliary equipment    

 

 

 

 

 
Pass / Fail:   ___________________ 
 
 
 
Signed: ________________________                           Printed: __________________ 

                      Mechanic 
 
 
 
Date:       _____________________ 

Page 160



Page 161



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 162



 

 

Hi Julia 

 

Comments on the draft policy on behalf of Brighter Futures,  

 

Taxi drivers & DBS  

 

This is great news that there will be a requirement for a DBS check to be completed.  

 

Can the policy also include a requirement for taxi drivers to complete both Adult and 

Child Protection training,  

 

there is e-learning safeguarding level 1 course available for Staffordshire through the 

Staffordshire safeguarding Board,  e-learning child protection.  Looking at the website 

there may be a charge of £30.00, but would be worth checking, 

 

Adult protection training is also available through the Safeguarding board. 

 

Regards 

Susan 

 

 

Susan Preston 

Senior Manager, Health 

m:   07879 423 930 

   

brighter futures 

creative support, housing and employment 

  

5 Whittle Court, Town Road, Stoke on Trent, ST1 2QE 

t:   01782 406000 

w:  www.brighter-futures.org.uk 

Page 163



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 164



 

 

Response from Newcastle under Lyme Borough Council Partnership’s 
Manager 
 
Most importantly though from my perspective, I think that we need to use the 
opportunity of reviewing the Policy to ensure that we are taking into account 
some of the issues raised elsewhere around Child Sexual Exploitation and 
Safeguarding and ensuring that we have procedures in place to mitigate risks 
where possible.  I know a couple of the Members have mentioned CSE and 
taxis over the last few weeks and colleagues from the County and Police may 
also make other suggestions here too. 
 
If you need any further information please let me know. 

Page 165



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 166



 

 

Steve/Sarah, 

 

I have discussed with Sgt John Hughes and DCI Jav Oomer.  My comments/suggestions 

would be that there is nothing around safeguarding and see an opportunity to raise 

awareness and share information. 

 

Could we look at emphasising some responsibility around reporting any 

concerns/risks/vulnerabilities that drivers my see and how they can report these.  There is 

nothing else across the county in policy for taxi's but we could look at incorporating some 

training as part of their induction.  I am not sure how we could mandate this? 

 

The scouts for example have written their own policy and safeguarding training (not the 

same I know but Jav is happy to discuss with the safeguarding board around support for 

this).  We could ask that drivers take part in the level 1 safeguarding training? 

 

We are definitely seeing an increase in risk around CSE and intelligence linking taxi's.  We are 

about to launch some awareness campaigns "Stop the traffick campaign" around 

exploitation which will go out to taxi bases. 

Again this could be something to consider around taking part in local initiatives. 

 

I am more than happy to discuss further. 

 

I will update you with anything from the Safeguarding board. 

 

Kind regards 

 

Clare 

 

 

Chief Inspector 0874 Clare Riley 

LPT Commander 

Newcastle Local Policing Team 

Ext 3575 

clare.riley@staffordshire.pnn.police.uk 

 

 

 

 

Page 167



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 168



Enforcement Team response to the Draft Taxi Licensing Policy for Newcastle under Lyme 

 

Thank you for the opportunity to comment on the emerging draft taxi Licensing Policy dated 1st 

November 2014. 

The Enforcement  section carries out work which involves  the Boroughs Private Hire and Hackney 

Carriage Fleet of just under 1,000 vehicles. The enforcement team is often involved with 

neighbouring  local authorities and police authorities, and quite often this work will involve the 

necessary identification of cars and drivers. Please find  below a concern regarding the councils 

policy. 

We would concur that the policy is a thorough and comprehensive document however it may be 

prudent  to consider the  following observation : 

With regard to paragraph six of Standard conditions attached to a Hackney Carriage Vehicle and 

section 3 Paragraph (1) of Standard conditions attached to a Private Hire Vehicle 

 1 . It can be difficult to identify vehicle plate numbers when trying to investigate complaints . These 

complaints may range over a number of incidents, the most serious of which can involve assault and 

rape. Identification is becoming more difficult with longer plate numbers and firms that change 

names. At present  the only signage a licensed vehicle is required to display comprises of a plate that 

is attached the rear of the vehicle, a plate attached to the front bumper and an internal number that 

is displayed in the front of the window screen. It may help to address this identification problem if in 

addition  to the above plates, vehicles were to show their plate number as a large number on the 

doors of the vehicle. The plate number would remain constant and can be seen easily by members 

of the public and Police officers. 

 

Page 169



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 170



Page 171



Page 172



Page 173



Page 174



Page 175



Page 176



Page 177



Page 178



Page 179



Page 180



Page 181



Page 182



Page 183



Page 184



Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  
- 1 - 

NEWCASTLE-UNDER-LYME BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT TEAM REPORT TO THE PUBLIC PROTECTION 
COMMITTEE 

 
30TH JANUARY 2015 

 
 
REPORT TITLE: The Staffordshire Act 1983: The Acre Allotments, Silverdale (former 

Silverdale Trust Land)   
 
Submitted by: Head of Operations – Roger Tait 
 
Portfolio: Environment and Recycling  
 
Ward(s) affected: Directly – Knutton/Silverdale and Silverdale/Park Site 
 
 

 
Purpose of the Briefing Paper 
 
(a) To inform the Public Protection Committee of the decisions of Cabinet in respect of 

the Acre Allotments (former Silverdale Trust Land) in the Parish of Silverdale. 
 
Recommendations 
 
. 
(a) That the Public Protection Committee note and endorse the decisions of Cabinet in 

respect of The Acre Allotments in the Parish of Silverdale. 
(b) That the Public Protection Committee endorse the lease of part of The Acre and the 

termination of the allotment tenancy agreements as resolved by Cabinet.  
  

Reasons 
 
(a) To regularise the legal position in respect of the provision of allotments in the Parish of 

Silverdale. 
 

 
1. Background 

 
1.1 The function of exercising the Council’s powers under the Staffordshire Act 

1983 in relation to the former Silverdale Trust Land, which is now known as 
The Acre Allotments, is delegated to the Public Protection Committee in the 
Council’s Scheme of Delegation. 
 

1.2 At the meeting of 11th December 2013, the Cabinet considered a report on 
allotment provision in the Parish of Silverdale regarding the urgent need to 
regularise the Council’s position in respect of ceasing to provide allotments in 
a parished area, and resolved the following in relation to The Acre Allotments: 

 
(a) That Silverdale Parish Council is asked to confirm whether or not it 

wishes to lease The Acre site (either in whole or in part) for the purpose 
of meeting its statutory duty to provide allotment land within the parish. 

Page 185

Agenda Item 8



Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  
- 2 - 

 
(b) Subject to a positive response to (d) that The Acre is leased (either in 

whole or in part) to Silverdale Parish Council (the precise area to be 
agreed by negotiation in conjunction with the relevant portfolio holder). 

 
(c) That tenancy agreements, with current plot holders on the agreed 

section of the site, are transferred to Silverdale Parish Council and any 
outstanding rent due to the Borough Council is collected. Following this, 
new tenancy agreements are offered by Silverdale Parish Council and 
plot holders are relocated within the agreed section as part of a 
consolidation plan for the site. 

 
(d) That alternative plots in the agreed section of the site are offered to plot 

holders affected by (e) for allotment gardening purposes only. 
 

(e) That any remaining section of the site is retained by the Borough Council. 
 
 (f) That if a negative response to (d) is received, the Borough Council 

concludes all tenancy agreements with existing plot holders on The 
Acre with 12 months’ notice and any outstanding rent is collected. 

 
 (g) That the Borough Council offers alternative plots to plot holders who are 

not residents of Silverdale Parish, at other allotment sites in the 
Borough where capacity exists to do so. 

 
 (h) That if insufficient capacity exists to accommodate plot holders from 

The Acre, a further report on the implications be brought to Members for 
consideration. 

 
(i) That the decision to temporarily suspend the letting of vacant plots at 

both Park Road and The Acre, pending transfer of the responsibility of 
allotment provision in Silverdale to the Parish Council, is noted. 

 
 (j) That the tenancy agreements with any plot holders on The Acre who 

are currently not using the plots for allotment gardening purposes and 
may therefore be in breach of the tenancy agreements are concluded 
with immediate effect, if it is found that a breach has occurred. 

 
1.3 Since this time, officers and the Portfolio Holder for Environment and 

Recycling have been progressing negotiations in relation to the proposed 
leasing of The Acre Allotments, either in whole or in part, to Silverdale Parish 
Council, to enable the legal position to be regularised as urgently as possible. 
The negotiations are progressing well and it is hoped that a lease for part of 
the site will be completed in spring 2015.  
 
To assist in the urgent regularisation process, Notices to Quit have also been 
served on plot holders who are not using the plots for allotment gardening 
purposes, and these plots must be vacated by 31st March 2016. 

Page 186



Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  
- 3 - 

 
2. Issues 
 

2.1 Sections 43 and 44 of the Staffordshire Act 1983 provide for the vesting and 
regulation of the former Silverdale Trust Land in the Council. The Act 
specifically provides for the letting of part of the land (not immediately required 
for housing or other purposes) for use as allotment gardens. 
  

2.2 As the function of exercising the Council’s powers in this respect is delegated 
to the Public Protection Committee, it is considered appropriate to inform the 
Public Protection Committee of the decisions of Cabinet, and the subsequent 
actions taken. 
 

2.3 This report therefore provides the Public Protection Committee with this 
information and seeks the endorsement of the Cabinet’s decisions, including 
the proposed lease of part of the site to Silverdale Parish Council and also the 
termination of the appropriate tenancy agreements. 

 
2.4 Full details and background to this matter can be found in the report to Cabinet 

of 11th December 2013, which is attached to this report at Appendix 1.  
 

3. Options Considered  
 
3.1 The options are as described in the report to Cabinet of 11th December 2013.  

 
4. Proposal 

 
4.1 It is proposed that the Public Protection Committee acknowledges and 

endorses the decisions of Cabinet in relation to The Acre Allotments in the 
Parish of Silverdale. 

 
5. Reasons for Preferred Solution 

 
5.1 To regularise the legal position in respect of the provision of allotments in the 

Parish of Silverdale. 
 

6. Outcomes Linked to Sustainable Community Strategy and 
Corporate Priorities  
 
6.1 Creating a cleaner, safer and sustainable Borough. 

 
6.2 Creating a healthy and active community. 

 
6.3 Becoming a co-operative Council.  
 

7. Legal and Statutory Implications  
 
7.1 The legal and statutory implications are detailed in the report to Cabinet of 

11th December 2013. 
  

8. Equality Impact Assessment 
 
8.1 No issues.  

Page 187



Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  
- 4 - 

 
9. Financial and Resource Implications  

 
9.1 None arising directly from this report.  

 
 

10. Major Risks  
 
10.1 None arising directly from this report.  

11. Key Decision Information 
 
11.1 None.  

 
12. List of Appendices 
 

12.1 Appendix 1 – Cabinet report of 11th December 2013. 
 
 
 
RJT/JT/02.02.15 
Z:\Heads of Service\Roger Tait\Briefing Paper\Allotment Provision in the Parish of Silverdale.doc 

 
 

Page 188



Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  
- 1 - 

REPORT TITLE: Allotment Provision in the Parish of Silverdale   
 
Submitted by: Head of Operations – Roger Tait 
 
Portfolio: Environment and Recycling/Planning, Regeneration and Town 
Centres Development  
 
Ward(s) affected: Directly – Knutton/Silverdale and Silverdale/Park Site 
 
 

 
Purpose of the Briefing Paper 
 
(a) To inform the Cabinet of the legal position in respect of the provision of allotments in 

the Parish of Silverdale. 
(b) To seek authority to progress action to regularise the position. 
 
 
Recommendations 
 
(a)      That the report be received. 
(b)   That the legal position in respect of the provision of allotments in the Parish of 

Silverdale be acknowledged. 
(c) That Officers are authorised to progress actions to regularise the position as 

follows:- 
 

(i) That the Park Road site is leased to Silverdale Parish Council for the purpose of 
meeting it’s statutory duty to provide allotment land within the parish. 

 
(ii) That tenancy agreements with current plot holders on the Park Road site are 

transferred to Silverdale Parish Council and any outstanding rent due to the 
borough council is collected. Following this, new tenancy agreements are 
offered by Silverdale Parish Council at the appropriate time. 

 
(iii) That actions (i) and (ii) are completed by early in the new year 2014. 
 
(iv) That Silverdale Parish Council is asked to confirm whether or not it wishes to 

lease the The Acre site (either in whole or in part) for the purpose of meeting it’s 
statutory duty to provide allotment land within the parish. 

 
(v) Subject to a positive response to (iv) that the The Acre is leased (either in whole 

or in part) to Silverdale Parish Council (the precise area to be agreed by 
negotiation in conjunction with the relevant portfolio holder). 

 
(vi) That tenancy agreements with current plot holders on the agreed section of the 

site are transferred to Silverdale Parish Council and any outstanding rent due to 
the borough council is collected. Following this, new tenancy agreements are 
offered by Silverdale Parish Council and plotholders are relocated within the 
agreed section as part of a consolidation plan for the site. 

 
(vii) That alternative plots in the agreed section of the site are offered to plot holders 

affected by (v) for allotment gardening purposes only. 
 

Page 189



Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  
- 2 - 

(viii) That any remaining section of the site is retained by the Borough Council. 
 
(ix) That if a negative response to (iv) is received, the Borough Council concludes 

all tenancy agreements with existing plot holders on The Acre with 12 months 
notice and any outstanding rent is collected. 

 
(x) That the Borough Council offers alternative plots to plot holders who are not 

residents of Silverdale Parish, at other allotment sites in the Borough where 
capacity exists to do so. 

 
(xi) That if insufficient capacity exists to accommodate plot holders from The Acre, a 

further report on the implications be brought to Members for consideration. 
 

(xii) That the decision to temporarily suspend the letting of vacant plots at both Park 
Road and The Acre, pending transfer of the responsibility of allotment provision 
in Silverdale to the Parish Council, is noted. 

 
(xiii) That the tenancy agreements with any plotholders on the Acre who are currently 

not using the plots for allotment gardening purposes and may therefore be in 
breach of the tenancy agreements are concluded with immediate effect, if it is 
found that a breach has occurred. 

 
(d) That regular reports on progress with these actions are submitted at appropriate 

times to keep Members informed. 
 

Reasons 
 
(a) To regularise the legal position in respect of the provision of allotments in the 

Parish of Silverdale. 
.     

 
 
1. Background 

 
1.1 The Cabinet resolved to carry out a review of the allotments service at the 

meeting of the 30 November 2011.  Subsequently, at the meeting of the 14 
November 2012, the Cabinet resolved that further consultation and scrutiny be 
undertaken on the preferred options for the review. 

 
This scrutiny work is being undertaken by a Task and Finish Group of 
members of the Active and Cohesive Communities Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee, supported by Officers and is due for completion in January 2014.  

 
1.2 Officers are progressing a number of work streams to inform and support the 

review and information is being reported regularly to the Allotments Review 
Task and Finish Group.  

 
2. Issues 
 

2.1 The Council operates seven allotment sites across the Borough, including two 
sites within the Parish of Silverdale.  There are a number of other allotment 
sites in the Borough, operated by Parish Councils and charitable or voluntary 
organisations. 

Page 190



Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  
- 3 - 

 
2.2 As part of a work stream reviewing the legal framework of allotment services, 

information was found in the Local Government Act 1972 (Schedule 29, Part II, 
paragraph 9(i) which stipulated that:- 

 
 “As respects a parish in England those functions under the Allotments Acts 

1908 to 1950 which, apart from this paragraph, would be exercisable both by 
the District Council and the Parish Council or parish meeting shall not be 
exercisable by the District Council.” 

 
 Legal advice has been provided on this matter which states that it appears that 

where there is a parish, only a Parish Council can provide allotments in the 
Parish and must let these only to residents of the Parish.  Therefore, in 
Silverdale, only Silverdale Parish Council can provide allotments.  The 
Borough Council cannot provide allotments in Silverdale or in any other area 
where there is a Parish Council. 

 
 This appears to be consistent with other parished areas in the Borough 

(Kidsgrove, Madeley, Audley, Loggerheads etc) where the Parish or Town 
Council provides allotments for the use of its respective parishioners. 

 
2.3 In effect, this means that the Borough Council has no powers to provide 

allotments in the Parish of Silverdale and must, therefore, cease to do so as 
soon as is practical. 

 
However, it is recognised that it would be unfair on plot holders and the Parish 
Council to simply cease providing this service with immediate effect. 
 
Therefore, actions have been implemented to seek to commence a phased 
withdrawal of the service by the Borough Council and to support the Parish 
Council in assuming the role of service provider for allotments in Silverdale. 
 
A summary of actions undertaken by Officers to date is as follows:- 
 

• Clarification and confirmation of the legal position. 

• Briefing of Portfolio Holders for Culture and Leisure and Environment and 
Recycling. 

• Briefing of Ward Councillors. 

• Briefing of Chair of Active and Cohesive Communities Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee. 

• Meetings with the Chair of Silverdale Parish Council to agree the legal 
position and begin to plan transition. 

• Analysis of the two Borough Council operated allotment sites in Silverdale 
(The Acre and Park Road). 

• Provision of information in relation to both sites to Silverdale Parish Council 
(copy attached at Appendix 1). 

• Briefing of plot holder associations at The Acre and Park Road.  
 

2.4 Discussions with Silverdale Parish Council have been progressing on how 
to implement the transition of the allotment service in the Parish. 

 

Page 191



Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  
- 4 - 

Silverdale Parish Council accepts that it has a duty to provide the service in 
the Parish and has appointed a member to be the lead representative in 
taking this work forward. 

 
The Parish Council has informally indicated that it is willing to take on 
responsibility for the Park Road site in it’s entirety and has informally 
indicated that it is willing to consider the principle of taking on responsibility 
for The Acre, either in whole or in part, dependent on a consolidation plan 
being implemented by the borough council. 

 
2.5 It is, therefore, considered necessary at this stage to seek formal authority 

from the Borough Council to continue with this work and to negotiate an 
appropriate agreement with Silverdale Parish Council. 

 
2.6 In relation to the Park Road site, it appears relatively straight forward to 

achieve the handover to Silverdale Parish Council. 
 

The Borough Council holds freehold title to the land and can, therefore, 
choose to dispose of it by way of sale or lease to Silverdale Parish Council.  
The Borough Council is under no obligation to dispose of the land to the 
Parish Council to enable the continuation of an allotment service at this 
site.  The duty to provide land for allotments rests with the Parish Council.  
However, it is considered appropriate to assist the Parish Council and 
avoid potential inconveniences to allotment plot holders by offering a lease 
of this site. 
 

 Advice has been received from colleagues in the Council’s Property 
Section as to the most appropriate method of disposal to achieve “best 
consideration”, and it is considered appropriate to offer a lease for the 
purposes of allotment provision only. The lease would be conditional on the 
land reverting to the borough council should the use of the land for 
allotment purposes cease. It is therefore proposed to agree a date with the 
Parish Council at which point it will become the operator of the allotment 
service at Park Road and to then give plot holders formal notice of the 
change in landlord. A target date of early in the new year 2014 has been 
informally agreed. 

 
 Existing tenancy agreements with the Borough Council would transfer to 

the parish council with an appropriate period of notice and plot holders 
would subsequently be issued with new tenancy agreements from the 
Parish Council. 

 
Any outstanding rent due to the Borough Council would be requested from 
plot holders and then the Parish Council would set its rent for the period of 
the new tenancies.  Other details, such as transfer of the water bill for the 
site to the Parish Council would also be dealt with at this stage. 
 

2.7 Dealing with matters at The Acre is considered to be more complex. 
 
 The Borough Council must withdraw from providing an allotment service at 

this site as soon as possible.  It holds freehold title to the land.  At present, 
Silverdale Parish Council has indicated that it would consider the principle 
of taking on responsibility for this site, either in whole or in part by way of a 

Page 192



Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  
- 5 - 

lease, subject to agreement of detailed terms including a consolidation plan 
for the site to be implemented by the borough council. 

 
 Therefore, the options for the Borough Council appear to be as follows:- 
 
 Option 1 
 
 Cease to provide an allotment service at The Acre and withdraw from the 

site. 
 
 This would involve terminating all tenancy agreements with current plot 

holders by giving 12 months notice. 
 
 Current plot holders who reside within the Parish of Silverdale would have 

to approach the Parish Council to seek alternative provision, whilst those 
who reside outside the Parish would be entitled to seek alternative 
provision from the Borough Council. 

 
 The Borough Council may therefore be required to provide a new site 

elsewhere in the Borough (preferably in a location near to the site to be 
vacated) if there is insufficient capacity on other Borough Council-owned 
allotment sites to accommodate all non-parishioner plot holders from The 
Acre. 

 
 The Borough Council has a duty, in non-parished areas, to provide land for 

allotments if the demand can be demonstrated. 
 
 Option 2 
 
 Phase 1 - Rationalise the current use of the site by condensing it into an 

agreed portion and lease this area to Silverdale Parish Council for the 
purpose of continuing to provide allotments. 

               Phase 2 - Consider either retaining the remaining vacated section of the 
site or leasing it to the parish council if further demand exists for allotment 
use within the parish. 

 
 This would require relocation of some current plot holders within the site by 

effectively transferring current tenancy agreements with the Borough 
Council to Silverdale Parish Council and offering alternative plots on the  
site. 

 
 Any outstanding rent due to the Borough Council would be requested from 

plot holders and then the Parish Council would set its rent for the period of 
the new tenancies. 

 
 Other details, such as transfer of the water bill for the site to the Parish 

Council would also be dealt with at this stage. 
 
2.8 In view of the above options, it has been considered to be prudent to 

temporarily suspend any future lettings of vacant plots (at both The Acre 
and Park Road sites) until the transfer of the responsibility for providing 
allotments to Silverdale Parish Council has been completed. This course of 

Page 193



Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  
- 6 - 

action has been taken in conjunction with the Portfolio Holder for 
Environment and Recycling. 

 
2.9      There are currently some plots on the Acre where tenants are not using the 

plots for allotment gardening purposes and may therefore be in breach of 
the tenancy agreement with the Borough Council. It is therefore proposed 
to conclude these tenancy agreements as soon as possible, if it is found 
that a breach has occurred. 

 
3. Options Considered  

 
3.1  The options are as described in Section 2 of this report.  

   
4. Proposal 

 
4.1 It is proposed that the Borough Council ceases to provide an allotment 

service in the Parish of Silverdale for the reasons described in Section 2 of 
this report and that the following actions are progressed to regularise the 
position:- 

 
(i) That the Park Road site is leased to Silverdale Parish Council for the 

purpose of meeting it’s statutory duty to provide allotment land within 
the parish. 

 
(ii) That tenancy agreements with current plot holders on the Park Road 

site are transferred to Silverdale Parish Council and any outstanding 
rent due to the borough council is collected. Following this, new tenancy 
agreements are offered by Silverdale Parish Council at the appropriate 
time. 

 
(iii) That actions (i) and (ii) are completed by early in the new year 2014. 
 
(iv) That Silverdale Parish Council is asked to confirm whether or not it 

wishes to lease the The Acre site (either in whole or in part) for the 
purpose of meeting it’s statutory duty to provide allotment land within 
the parish. 

 
(v) Subject to a positive response to (iv) that the agreed section of The 

Acre is leased to Silverdale Parish Council (the precise area to be 
agreed by negotiation in conjunction with the relevant portfolio holder). 

 
(vi) That tenancy agreements with current plot holders on the agreed 

section of the site are transferred to Silverdale Parish Council and any 
outstanding rent due to the borough council is collected. Following this, 
new tenancy agreements are offered by Silverdale Parish Council and 
plotholders are relocated within the agreed section as part of a 
consolidation plan for the site. 

 
(vii) That alternative plots in the agreed section of the site are offered to plot 

holders affected by (v) for allotment gardening purposes only. 
 
(viii) That any remaining section of the site is retained by the Borough 

Council. 

Page 194



Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  
- 7 - 

 
(ix) That if a negative response to (iv) is received, the Borough Council 

concludes all tenancy agreements with existing plot holders on The 
Acre with 12 months notice and any outstanding rent is collected. 

 
(x) That the Borough Council offers alternative plots to plot holders who are 

not residents of Silverdale Parish, at other allotment sites in the 
Borough where capacity exists to do so. 

 
(xi) That if insufficient capacity exists to accommodate plot holders from 

The Acre, a further report on the implications is brought to Members. 
 
(xii) That the decision to temporarily suspend the letting of vacant plots at 

both Park Road and The Acre, pending transfer of the responsibility of 
allotment provision in Silverdale to the Parish Council, is noted. 

 
(xiii) That the tenancy agreements with any plotholders on the Acre who are 

currently not using the plots for allotment gardening purposes and may 
therefore be in breach of the tenancy agreements are concluded with 
immediate effect, if it is found that a breach has occurred. 

 
5. Reasons for Preferred Solution 

 
5.1 To regularise the legal position in respect of the provision of allotments in the 

Parish of Silverdale. 
 

6. Outcomes Linked to Sustainable Community Strategy and 
Corporate Priorities  
 
6.1 Creating a cleaner, safer and sustainable Borough. 

 
6.2 Creating a healthy and active community. 

 
6.3 Becoming a co-operative Council.  
 

7. Legal and Statutory Implications  
 
7.1 The legal and statutory implications are detailed in Section 2 of this report. It 

should also be noted that if plot holders do not vacate plots on expiry of a 
notice to quit, the borough council would have to apply to the court for an 
order for possession of the plots and ultimately a warrant. 

 
8. Equality Impact Assessment 

 
8.1 No issues.  
 

9. Financial and Resource Implications  
 
9.1 When the Borough Council ceases to provide an allotment service at Park 

Road and The Acre, there will be a modest saving to the General Fund 
Revenue Programme in relation to utility costs, waste removal and other 
maintenance and repair costs.  At current budget provision levels, it is 
estimated that this will equate to approximately £6000 per annum. 

Page 195



Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  
- 8 - 

There will be a corresponding loss of income of approximately £4100 per 
annum. 
There will also be a cost for the consolidation of the Acre site, including 
relocating current tenants, preparation of alternative plots, site clearance and 
securing of the remaining land. An estimate of the costs will be prepared for 
consideration by Members. 

 
9.2 There will be a significant requirement of staff resources to manage the 

transition of the service from the Borough Council to the Parish Council.  This 
will predominantly affect the Community Team in the Operations Service, 
where responsibility for managing allotments sits, but there will also be a 
requirement for support from colleagues in the Property and Legal teams. 
Legal costs may also be incurred in the process for taking possession of 
plots where tenants do not vacate on expiry of a notice to quit. 

 
9.3 If the Borough Council is required to provide a new allotment site to 

accommodate plot holders who are vacated from The Acre, there will be a 
requirement for a capital sum (as yet unknown) to lay out a new site and a 
modest annual revenue provision for it’s management. 

 
9.4 A fully costed plan will be prepared subject to the outcome of consideration 

of this report by Members. 
 

10. Major Risks  
 
10.1 A full risk assessment will be prepared subject to the outcome of 

consideration of this report by Members. 
 
10.2 However, initial risks are as follows:- 
 

• Failure to reach an appropriate agreement with Silverdale Parish Council. 

• Negative reaction from current plot holders. 

• Adverse publicity. 

• Legal challenge and costs. 

• Failure to secure a new site for alternative provision. 
 

11. Key Decision Information 
 
11.1 The decision may result in significant initial expenditure for the Council. The 

decision impacts directly on one Ward (Knutton/Silverdale) and indirectly on 
other Wards. 

 
11.2 It will be included in the Forward Plan. 

 
12. List of Appendices 
 

12.1 Appendix 1 – Provision of information relating to both sites to Silverdale 
Parish Council. 

 
13. Background Papers 

 
13.1 Site Plans 

Page 196



Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Newcastle-under-Lyme Borough Council 
 
Briefing Paper to Chair of Silverdale Parish Council 
 
Allotment Provision in the Parish of Silverdale 
 
Draft Initial Response to Questions Raised by Silverdale Parish Council 
17th September 2013 
 
NB – this is a working document which will be updated as work progresses on 
completing responses to the questions raised. The information provided is for 
guidance only at this stage and may be subject to change and clarification as 
work progresses. 
 

Question The Acre Park Road Comment 

Do you have the historical 
records relating to the land? 

NuLBC holds 
freehold title 
to the land 
and a copy of 
the 
agreement 
between the 
Trustees of 
the Silverdale 
Trust Lands 
and the Mayor 
Aldermen and 
Burgesses of 
the Borough 
of Newcastle-
under-Lyme 

NuLBC holds 
freehold title 
to the land 

No further 
relevant 
documents  
revealed as 
part of this 
process  

Are the sites statutory or 
temporary as defined under 
the Allotments Act? 

Legal advice 
suggests site 
will be defined 
as statutory 
due to length 
of time it has 
been used for 
provision of 
allotments 

Legal advice 
suggests site 
will be 
defined as 
statutory due 
to length of 
time it has 
been used 
for provision 
of allotments 

 

Are there any maps or 
quality survey or similar 
assessment of the 
state/value/liabilities of these 
land assets including any 
utility services running 
nearby, watercourses or any 
environmental/habitat 
assessment? 

Draft plans 
prepared. 
Public rights 
of way exist 
on the west 
and south 
tracks. Water 
supply with 9 
recorded 

Draft plans 
prepared. No 
public rights 
of way. 
Water supply 
with 5 
recorded 
standpipes  

No further 
relevant 
information to 
be added 

Page 197



Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

standpipes. 

What are the conditions of 
tenancy for plotholders – in 
particular, the tenancy at the 
Acre that include livestock? 

Copy of 
current 
tenancy 
agreement 
provided 

Copy of 
current 
tenancy 
agreement 
provided 

 

What is the current annual 
expenditure on these sites – 
including staff and other 
resources? 

2012/13 
Water = 
£2400 
Repairs = 
£1950 
Removal of 
waste (skip 
hire – 
discretionary) 
= £750 
 
Total = £5100 
 
Other work 
carried out by 
Streetscene 
(tree/hedge 
pruning, 
weedkilling 
etc) – approx. 
110 hours 

2012/13 
Water = £150 
Repairs = 
£750 
 
Total = £900 
 
Other work 
carried out by 
Streetscene 
(tree/hedge 
pruning, 
weedkilling 
etc) – 
approx. 40 
hours 

Staff costs not 
included as 
this will not be 
incurred by 
parish council 
However an 
estimate of 
hours spent  
provided. 
It is assumed 
that the parish 
council could 
source a local 
provider for 
grounds 
maintenance 
work at a 
lower cost 
than NuLBC – 
see schedule 
below table 

What is the current annual 
income generated from the 
individual allotment sites? 

£2761 in 
2012/13 

£1410 in 
2012/13 

 

What commitments have 
been made to tenants/site 
associations in terms of 
expenditure, rent levels, 
investment and 
administration/management? 

New gate 
ordered for 
south east of 
site. Potential 
community 
garden to be 
funded by 
group on plot 
beside car 
park. No other 
commitments 

Remedial 
work in 
progress to 
tidy up tip 
area. 
Number 
system for 
plots being 
considered. 
No other 
commitments 

 

Is there a current listing of 
rules and regulations (terms 
and conditions of tenancy)? 

Copy of 
current 
tenancy 
agreement 
provided 

Copy of 
current 
tenancy 
agreement 
provided 

 

*At the Acre – has there 
been any inspection of the 
livestock and associated 
issues? (animal welfare/bio-

See response 
from 
Environmental 
Health team 

N/A  

Page 198



Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

security/disposal of fallen 
livestock/animal passport or 
movement licences) 

below table 

Are there any 
encumbrances, wayleaves, 
restrictive covenants or other 
restrictions/obligations 
associated with the sites or 
allotment obligations? 

No restrictions 
other than 
those in title 
documents 
and tenancy 
agreements 

No 
restrictions 
other than 
those in title 
documents 
and tenancy 
agreements 

No further 
information  
revealed 
during 
process 

Number of plots on each 
site? 

69 41  

Number of plots let? 58 
 

35 
  

11 plots not 
let on the 
Acre, 6 not let 
on Park Road 

Number of plots where non-
cultivation/notice to quit 
served? 

10 10  

Number of people on waiting 
list? 

41 30  

Number of parishioners who 
hold a plot? 

18 21  

Number of non-parishioners 
who hold a plot? 

40 19  

Number of parishioners on 
waiting list? 

6 7  

Number of allotments 
required to serve parish? 

  Dependent on 
good practice 
guidance 

Existing demand (number of 
parishioners who hold a plot 
or are on the waiting list)? 

24 28 54 plots 
required to 
service 
current 
demand in 
parish (2 
parishioners 
hold plots on 
other NuLBC 
sites, no 
parishioners 
on the waiting 
lists) 

What would Newcastle 
Borough Council charge to 
maintain the allotments? 

Quotation can 
be supplied if 
required but 
likely to be 
more 
expensive 
than local 

Quotation 
can be 
supplied if 
required but 
likely to be 
more 
expensive 

 

Page 199



Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

provider than local 
provider 

 
*At the Acre – has there been any inspection of the livestock and associated 
issues? (animal welfare/bio-security/disposal of fallen livestock/animal 
passport or movement licences) 
 
Whilst Environmental Health may periodically need to become involved with 
nuisance issues (flies, odour, noise etc) from animals, the welfare of 'stock' is 
generally a matter for Staffs County Council Animal Health Team, who 
administer registration & licensing requirements. 
  
NuLBC has undertaken pest control treatments (rats) which may be indirectly 
linked to livestock on site, but are not aware of welfare complaints, or 
suggestions that the animals posed a statutory nuisance. 
  
Through joint projects with Staffs County NuLBC offer general advice for 
those considering or operating smallholdings on our website at: 
http://www.newcastle-staffs.gov.uk/environment_content.asp?id=SX7896-
A7813282&cat=1512 .  You may want to offer the relevant information sheets 
to the plot holders 
  
To follow this up with Animal Health contact:   01785 277875  or email  
animal.health@staffordshire.gov.uk 
 
Schedule of Works undertaken by Streetscene 
Grass cutting 
Hedge trimming 
Tree pruning 
Plot strimming/cultivation 
Weed killing 
Waste/fly tipping removal 
Path repairs 
 
The Acre – approx. 110 man hours per annum 
Park Road – approx. 40 man hours per annum 
 
(Approx 4 weeks work in total per annum) 
 

Page 200



Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Public Protection Committee 

Work Plan – As at 3 November, 2014 

 

  

Date of Meeting Item Reason for Undertaking 
 

22 December, 2014 
 
 
 
 
 

   
 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 

  
 

 
 

 
 

26 January, 2014 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 P
age 201

A
genda Item

 9



Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

Classification: NULBC UNCLASSIFIED  

 

Date of Meeting Item Reason for Undertaking 
 

17 March, 2015 
 
 
 
 
 

   
 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 

  
 

 
 

 
 

29 June, 2014 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 

P
age 202


	Agenda
	1 Guidance Notes (for information)
	GUIDANCENOTES(Human Rights)
	convictionguidelines2

	3 Minutes of a previous meeting
	Minutes

	5 Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act - 1976
	Arslan Ahmed Application form DBS and Drivers Licence

	7 Taxi Policy following consultation
	Draft Taxi Policy FINAL VERSION FOR CONSULTATION
	PH Driver Conditions
	HC Driver Conditions
	convictionguidelines2
	HC Vehicle Conditions
	PH Vehicle Conditions
	Operator Conditions
	NBC Enforcement policy 2014 v1-2
	AA Check List
	RAC Check list
	New car test DRAFT SG Oct14
	Tariff Sheet
	Response from Bright Futures
	Response from Newcastle under Lyme Borough Council Partnership
	Response From the Police
	Response Consultation reply enforcement
	rseponse g Johnson
	HC Association Response

	8 Allotment Provision in the Parish of Silverdale
	CabinetReportAllotmentProvisionintheParishofSilverdalev6281113
	allotmentProvisionresponsetoquestionsAPPA

	9 Work Plan

